
 
  

 

 

  
 

 
  

 

      
     

     
   

    
   

    
     

   
 

     
    

   
    

     
      

       
 

    
  

    
  

  
      

   

    
  

  
 

  
 

  
  

  
 

Long-Term Stock Exchange, Inc.
Date of filing: April 3, 2019 
Date as of which the information is accurate: April 3, 2019 

Exhibit C 

For each subsidiary or affiliate of the applicant, and for any entity with whom the 
applicant has a contractual or other agreement relating to the operation of an 
electronic trading system to be used to effect transactions on the exchange 
(“System”), provide the following information: 

Restructuring of LTSE Ownership Structure 

At the time that the Long-Term Stock Exchange, Inc. (“LTSE” or the “Exchange”) initially 
filed its Form 1 on November 9, 2018 (the “Initial Form 1”), LTSE was wholly owned by 
LTSE Holdings, Inc. (“LTSEH”). In addition to owning LTSE, LTSEH engages, or plans 
to engage, in other business activities that do not involve the ownership or operation of a 
national securities exchange. For example, LTSEH provides software tools and expects 
to provide other services in the future to companies, unrelated to and whether or not 
such company is listed on LTSE. Since filing the Initial Form 1, LTSEH has determined 
that it would be more appropriate for these non-exchange activities to be performed by 
an entity outside of the chain of ownership of a national securities exchange. As a 
result, LTSE and its affiliates have developed a plan and begun implementing a series of 
steps to restructure the ownership of LTSE to separate its ownership from the non-
exchange activities performed by LTSEH. 

Specifically, since the filing of the Initial Form 1, LTSEH has created a new wholly owned 
subsidiary, LTSE Group, Inc. (“LTSEG”), which is now an intermediate holding company 
that wholly owns LTSE. On or before the date of SEC approval of LTSE as a national 
securities exchange, LTSEH expects to dividend to its stockholders, pro rata, 100% of 
the common stock of LTSEG. As a result, these stockholders would directly own (i) 
LTSEH, which contains the non-exchange business activities, and (ii) LTSEG, which will 
be the ultimate parent company of LTSE.  Further, LTSEH will file an amendment to its 
certificate of incorporation to change its name to LTSE Services, Inc. (“LTSE Services”), 
reflecting that it is no longer the holding company for the LTSE, but a separate services 
business. 

Attached as Addendum C-1 are ownership structure charts that illustrate the ownership 
of LTSE as of the Initial Form 1, as of the filing of this amendment to LTSE’s Form 1 and 
on or before the date of SEC approval of LTSE as a national securities exchange. 

LTSE notes that the limitations on concentrations of ownership and voting typically 
contained in the governing documents of the ultimate parent company of a national 
securities exchange (the “Ownership and Voting Limitations”), which were previously 
proposed to be included in the certificate of incorporation of LTSEH, will no longer be 
included in governing documents of LTSE Services (formerly known as LTSEH), 
because this entity would not be the ultimate parent company of a national securities 
exchange. Instead the Ownership and Voting Limitations are proposed to be contained 
in the certificate of incorporation of LTSE Group (see Exhibit C-2 below), as this entity 
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will be the ultimate parent of LTSE following this restructuring. Specifically, 
subparagraph (A) of Article IX(A)(2)(b)(i) provides that no investor in LTSEG may own, 
directly or indirectly, more than 40% of any class of securities of LTSEG, subparagraph 
(B) provides that no Exchange member may own, directly or indirectly, more than 20% of 
any class of securities of LTSEG and subparagraph (C) provides that no one is 
permitted to vote, directly or indirectly, more than 20% of the voting power of the then 
issued and outstanding capital stock of LTSEG. 

LTSE Group, Inc. (LTSEG)
1. Name and address of organization. 

• LTSEG is located at 300 Montgomery Street, Suite 790, San Francisco, CA 
94109 

2. Form of organization (e.g., association, corporation, partnership, etc.). 
• LTSEG is a corporation 

3. Name of state and statute citation under which organized. Date of incorporation in 
present form. 

• LTSEG is formed under the laws of Delaware, under Section 102 of the 
Delaware General Corporate Law. LTSEG was incorporated on February 1, 
2019. 

4. Brief description of nature and extent of affiliation. 
• LTSEG is the parent company of LTSE and owns 100% of its common stock. 

5. Brief description of business or functions. Description should include responsibilities 
with respect to operation of the System and/or execution, reporting, clearance, or 
settlement of transactions in connection with operation of the System. 

• LTSEG is a holding company which owns 100% of the equity of the Exchange. 
LTSEG is the entity through which the ultimate owners of the Exchange will hold 
their ownership interest in the Exchange. LTSEG is the primary employer of all 
LTSE personnel. Although LTSEG will not itself carry out regulatory functions, its 
activities with respect to the operation of the Exchange must be consistent with, 
and not interfere with, the Exchange’s self-regulatory obligations. The proposed 
LTSEG corporate governance documents include provisions that are designed to 
maintain the independence of the Exchange’s self-regulatory function from 
LTSEG, enable the Exchange to operate in a manner that complies with federal 
securities laws, including the objectives of Sections 6(b) and 19(g) of the Act, and 
facilitate the ability of the SEC to fulfill its regulatory and oversight obligations 
under the Act. For example, under the proposed corporate governance 
documents, LTSEG submits to the SEC’s jurisdiction with respect to activities 
relating to the Exchange, and agrees to provide to the SEC and the Exchange 
access to its books and records that are related to the operation or administration 
of the Exchange. In addition, to the extent they are related to the operation or 
administration of the Exchange, the books, records, premises, officers, directors, 
agents, and employees of LTSEG shall be deemed to be the books, records, 
premises, officers, directors, agents and employees of the Exchange for the 
purposes of, and subject to oversight pursuant to, the Act. LTSEG also agrees to 
keep confidential non-public information relating to the self-regulatory function of 
the Exchange and not to use such information for any non-regulatory purpose. In 
addition, the board of directors of LTSEG, as well as its officers, employees, and 
agents, are required to give due regard to the preservation of the independence 
of the Exchange’s self-regulatory function. Further, the proposed LTSEG 
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws require that any 
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changes to such documents be submitted to the Board of Directors of the 
Exchange, and if such amendment is required to be filed with the SEC pursuant 
to Section 19(b) of the Act, such change shall not be effective until filed with, or 
filed with and approved by, the SEC. The proposed LTSEG Amended and 
Restated Certificate of Incorporation includes restrictions on the ability to own 
and vote shares of LTSEG. These limitations are designed to prevent any 
shareholder from exercising undue control over the operation of the Exchange 
and to assure that the Exchange and the SEC are able to carry out their 
regulatory obligations under the Act. 

6. A copy of the constitution. 
• This is inapplicable 

7. A copy of the articles of incorporation or association including all amendments. 
• Attached as Addendum C-1 is the proposed Amended and Restated Certificate 

of Incorporation of LTSEG, which will be effective on or before the date of SEC 
approval of LTSE as a national securities exchange. 

8. A copy of existing by-laws or corresponding rules or instruments. 
• Attached as Addendum C-2 are the proposed Bylaws of LTSEG, which will be 

effective on or before the date of SEC approval of LTSE as a national securities 
exchange. 

9. The name and title of the present officers, governors, members of all standing 
committees, or persons performing similar functions. 

Name Corporate Title Functional Title 
Eric Ries Officer / Board Member President and Secretary 
John Bautista Board Member N/A 
Brian Singerman Board Member N/A 

10. An indication of whether such business or organization ceased to be associated with 
the applicant during the previous year, and a brief statement of the reasons for 
termination of the association. 

• Association with the Exchange has not ceased during the previous year. 

LTSE Holdings, Inc. (LTSE Services)
1. Name and address of organization. 

• LTSE Services is located at 300 Montgomery Street, Suite 790, San Francisco, 
CA 94109. On or before the date of SEC approval of LTSE as a national 
securities exchange, LTSE Services will file an amendment to its certificate of 
incorporation to change its name to LTSE Services, Inc. 

2. Form of organization (e.g., association, corporation, partnership, etc.). 
• LTSE Services is a corporation. 

3. Name of state and statute citation under which organized. Date of incorporation in 
present form. 

• LTSE Services is formed under the laws of Delaware, under Section 102 of the 
Delaware General Corporate Law. LTSE Services was incorporated on August 
30, 2012. 

4. Brief description of nature and extent of affiliation. 
• LTSE Services is currently the parent company of LTSEG, but will dividend out 

the common stock in LTSEG to its stockholders on or before the date of SEC 
approval of LTSE as a national securities exchange. 
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5. Brief description of business or functions. Description should include responsibilities 
with respect to operation of the System and/or execution, reporting, clearance, or 
settlement of transactions in connection with operation of the System. 

• LTSE Services is a software business providing tools to companies and investors 
designed to help founders and their employees through all stages of a company's 
life cycle. Currently, LTSE Services focuses on creating user-friendly software 
products for its clients that drive financial and other solutions that can be 
specialized or scaled for broad commercial application. LTSE Services currently 
has approximately 20,000 users, mostly early stage companies. LTSE Services 
continues to develop new products that provide value to companies in different 
stages of their lifecycles. It is contemplated that the Exchange will become one 
of LTSE Services’ customers and license exchange software from LTSE 
Services. The Exchange will operate any software licensed from LTSE Services, 
while leveraging LTSE Services’ technological expertise to support the 
Exchange’s software needs. The Exchange will have controls in place to 
maintain confidentiality of any regulatory information belonging to the Exchange, 
and any LTSE Services employees that may also perform activities on behalf of 
the Exchange, such as additional software development or technical support, will 
be subject to strict informational barriers and non-disclosure agreements 
intended to safeguard any Exchange-related information that comes into their 
possession. 

6. A copy of the constitution. 
• This is inapplicable. 

7. A copy of the articles of incorporation or association including all amendments. 
• Attached as Addendum C-3 is the Amended and Restated Certificate of 

Incorporation of LTSE Services, which will be effective on or before the date of 
SEC approval of LTSE as a national securities exchange. 

8. A copy of existing by-laws or corresponding rules or instruments. 
• Attached as Addendum C-4 are the Bylaws of LTSE Services, which will be 

effective on or before the date of SEC approval of LTSE as a national securities 
exchange. 

9. The name and title of the present officers, governors, members of all standing 
committees, or persons performing similar functions. 

Name Corporate Title Functional Title 
Eric Ries Officer / Board President, Chief Executive Officer and 

Member Treasurer 
John Bautista Officer / Board Secretary 

Member 
Michelle Officer Chief Policy Officer 
Greene 
Holly Grant Officer VP Operations 
Martin Alvarez Officer Chief Commercial Officer and Global Head of 

Listings 
Brian Board Member N/A 
Singerman 

10. An indication of whether such business or organization ceased to be associated with 
the applicant during the previous year, and a brief statement of the reasons for 
termination of the association. 
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 • Association with the Exchange has not ceased during the previous year. 

LTSE Listings, Inc. (LTSEL) 
LTSE Services also owned 100% of the equity of LTSE Listings, Inc. (“LTSEL”). LTSEL 
was created in order to form an arrangement with the Investors’ Exchange LLC (“IEX”) in 
connection with the establishment by IEX of an optional listing category on IEX using 
listing standards initially developed by LTSEL and its affiliates. See SR-IEX-2018-
06. This arrangement will no longer move forward. As a result, LTSEL has been 
dissolved. 
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LTSE Ownership Structure as of the date of 
LTSE’s Initial Form 1 

Investors 
(Separately, not through a 

collective vehicle) 

LTSE Holdings, Inc. 

100% 

Long-Term Stock 
Exchange, Inc. 
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________________ 

LTSE Ownership Structure as of the date of 
Amendment 1 to LTSE’s Initial Form 1(1) 

Investors 
(Separately, not through a 

collective vehicle) 

LTSE Holdings, Inc. 

100% 

LTSE Group, Inc. 

100% 

Long-Term Stock 
Exchange, Inc. 

(1) As an interim step in the reorganization, LTSEH formed a new subsidiary, LTSE Group, Inc., 
and then contributed its ownship of LTSE to LTSE Group, Inc., such that LTSE is wholly 
owned by LTSE Group, Inc. 
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Proposed LTSE Ownership Structure on or before 
the date of SEC approval of LTSE’s Form 1(1) 

Existing 
Investors 
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________________ 

LTSE Group, Inc. 
(LTSE Group) 

Long-Term Stock 
Exchange, Inc. 

100% 

(Separately, not through a 
collective vehicle) 

LTSE Services, Inc.(3) 

(formerly known as LTSE Holdings, Inc.) 
(Non-Exchange Activity) 

Each < 40% equity 
Each < 20% voting(2) 

(1) As the final steps in the reorganization, LTSE Holdings, Inc. will (i) dividend its ownership of 
LTSE Group to its existing investors, and (ii) will changes its name to LTSE Services, Inc. 

(2) The LTSE Group charter provides that there are two authorized classes of securities, 
common stock and preferred stock (although LTSE expects that only common stock will be 
issued at the time of the SEC’s approval of LTSE’s Form 1). Both classes of stock have one 
vote per share. No investor in LTSE Group will own, directly or indirectly, more than 40% of 
either class of securities. Only one investor, Eric Ries, will own more than 20% of LTSE 
Group’s common stock; however, the LTSE Group charter will provide that so long as LTSE 
Group controls a national securities exchange, among other things, no one, including Mr. 
Ries, is permitted to vote more than 20% of the capital stock of LTSE Group. In addition, the 
LTSE Group charter will not contain any provisions granting any directors voting rights that 
exceed those of any other director (i.e., there will be no super-voting directors). As a result of 
the foregoing, LTSE believes that the ownership and voting structure of LTSE Group will be 
consistent with the ownership and voting limitations typically contained in the governance 
documents of ultimate holding companies of national securities exchanges, and that will be 
included in the LTSE Group charter. 

(3) Upon completion of the restructuring of LTSE’s ownership, the ownership and voting 
structure for LTSE Services, Inc. (formerly named LTSE Holdings, Inc.) will continue to have 
the existing ownership and voting structure of LTSE Holdings, Inc.  As such, the certificate of 
incorporation of LTSE Services, Inc. will not contain any ownership or voting limitations. 499



 

 

Addendum C-2 

LTSE Group, Inc. Certificate 

of Incorporation 
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AMENDED AND RESTATED 
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION 

OF 

LTSE GROUP, INC. 

The undersigned, Eric Ries, hereby certifies that: 

1. The undersigned is the duly elected and acting President of LTSE Group, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation. 

2. The Certificate of Incorporation of this corporation was originally filed with the Secretary 
of State of Delaware on February 1, 2019. 

3. The Certificate of Incorporation of this corporation shall be amended and restated to read 
in full as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

“The name of this corporation is LTSE Group, Inc. (the “Corporation”). 

ARTICLE II 

The address of the Corporation’s registered office in the state of Delaware is 1209 Orange 
Street, in the city of Wilmington, county of New Castle, Zip Code 19810.  The name of its 
registered agent at such address is The Corporation Trust Company. 

ARTICLE III 

The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which 
corporations may be organized under the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

ARTICLE IV 

(A) Classes of Stock.  The Corporation is authorized to issue two classes of stock to be 
designated, respectively, “Common Stock” and “Series A Preferred Stock.”  The total number of 
shares which the Corporation is authorized to issue by Amended and Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation (the “Restated Certificate”) is 125,000,000 shares, each with a par value of 
$0.00001 per share. 100,000,000 shares shall be Common Stock and 25,000,000 shares shall be 
Preferred Stock. 

(B) Powers, Preferences, Special Rights and Restrictions of Preferred Stock. The 
Preferred Stock authorized by this Restated Certificate shall be divided into series as provided 
herein.  25,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock shall be designated “Series A Preferred Stock”. 
The powers, preferences, special rights and restrictions granted to and imposed on the Series A 
Preferred Stock are as set forth below in this Article IV(B). 
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1. Definitions.  

(a) “Original Issue Price” shall mean the original price per share paid 
to the Corporation by cash, check, wire transfer, cancellation of indebtedness or any combination 
of the foregoing for each share of Series A Preferred Stock in accordance with a written 
agreement with the Corporation setting forth the purchase price per share of such share of Series 
A Preferred Stock (subject to adjustment from time to time for recapitalizations as set forth 
elsewhere herein). 

2. Liquidation. 

(a) Preference. In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding 
up of the Corporation, either voluntary or involuntary, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock 
shall be entitled to receive, prior and in preference to any distribution of any of the assets of the 
Corporation to the holders of Common Stock, by reason of their ownership thereof, an amount 
per share equal to the Original Issue Price (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, 
reclassification and the like) for each outstanding share of Series A Preferred Stock, then held by 
them, plus any declared but unpaid dividends on such shares.  If, upon the occurrence of such 
event, the assets and funds thus distributed among the holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall 
be insufficient to permit the payment to such holders of the full aforesaid preferential amounts, 
then the entire assets and funds of the Corporation legally available for distribution shall be 
distributed ratably among the holders of Series A Preferred Stock in proportion to the 
preferential amount each such holder is otherwise entitled to receive under this Section 2(a). 

(b) Remaining Assets.  Upon the completion of the distribution 
required by Article IV(B)2(a) above, the remaining assets of the Corporation available for 
distribution to stockholders shall be distributed among the holders of the Common Stock pro rata 
based on the number of shares of Common Stock held by each. 

(c) Deemed Conversion.  Notwithstanding the above, for purposes of 
determining the amount each holder of shares of Series A Preferred Stock is entitled to receive 
with respect to a Liquidation Transaction, as defined below, each such holder of shares of Series 
A Preferred Stock shall be deemed to have converted (regardless of whether such holder actually 
converted) such holder’s shares of such series into shares of Common Stock immediately prior to 
the Liquidation Transaction if, as a result of an actual conversion, such holder would receive, in 
the aggregate, an amount greater than the amount that would be distributed to such holder if such 
holder did not convert such series of Series A Preferred Stock into shares of Common Stock.  If 
any such holder shall be deemed to have converted shares of Series A Preferred Stock into 
Common Stock pursuant to this paragraph, then such holder shall not be entitled to receive any 
distribution that would otherwise be made to holders of Series A Preferred Stock that have not 
converted (or have not been deemed to have converted) into shares of Common Stock. 

(d) Certain Acquisitions. 

(i) Deemed Liquidation.  For purposes of this Article 
IV(B)(2), a “Liquidation Transaction” shall be deemed to occur if the Corporation shall (I) sell, 
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convey, exclusively license or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets, property 
or business, (II) merge with or into or consolidate with any other corporation, limited liability 
company or other entity (other than a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation), or 
(III) effect a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation pursuant to the applicable 
provisions of Section 275 of the Delaware General Corporation Law; provided, however that 
none of the following shall be considered a Liquidation Transaction: (A) a merger effected 
exclusively for the purpose of changing the domicile of the Corporation, (B) a bona fide equity 
financing in which the Corporation is the surviving corporation or (C) a transaction in which the 
stockholders of the Corporation immediately prior to the transaction have sufficient rights (by 
law or contract) to elect or designate 50% or more of the directors of the surviving or acquiring 
entity following the transaction (as appropriately adjusted for any disparate director voting 
rights).  In the event of a Liquidation Transaction pursuant to the provisions of subsection (II) 
above, all references in this Article IV(B)1 to “assets of the Corporation” shall be deemed 
instead to refer to the aggregate consideration to be paid to the holders of the Corporation’s 
capital stock in such merger or consolidation.  Nothing in this subsection (i) shall require the 
distribution to stockholders of anything other than proceeds of such transaction in the event of a 
merger or consolidation of the Corporation.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the treatment of any 
transaction as a Liquidation Transaction may be waived by the vote or written consent of the 
holders of at least a majority of the Corporation’s outstanding Series A Preferred Stock, voting 
together as a single class on an as-converted basis. 

(ii) Valuation of Consideration. In the event of a Liquidation 
Transaction, if the consideration received by the Corporation is other than cash, its value will be 
deemed its fair market value.  Any securities or property shall be valued as determined in good 
faith by the Board of Directors.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the methods for valuing non-
cash consideration to be distributed in connection with a Liquidation Transaction shall, with the 
appropriate approval by the stockholders under the Delaware General Corporation Law of the 
definitive agreements governing such Liquidation Transaction be superseded by the 
determination of such value set forth in the definitive agreements governing such Liquidation 
Transaction. 

3. Redemption. Except as set forth in Article IX, the Series A Preferred 
Stock is not mandatorily redeemable. 

4. Conversion.  The holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall be 
entitled to conversion rights as follows: 

(a) Right to Convert.  Subject to Article IV(B)4(c) below, each share 
of Series A Preferred Stock shall be convertible, at the option of the holder thereof, at any time 
after the date of issuance of such share, at the office of the Corporation or any transfer agent for 
such stock, into such number of fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock as is 
determined by dividing the Original Issue Price (as adjusted for any stock splits, stock dividends, 
combinations, subdivisions, recapitalizations or the like with respect to the Series A Preferred 
Stock) in the case of the Series A Preferred Stock, by the Conversion Price applicable to such 
shares (such quotient is referred to herein as the “Conversion Rate”), determined as hereafter 
provided, in effect on (i) the date the certificate is surrendered for conversion or (ii) in the case of 
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uncertificated securities, the date the notice of conversion is received by the Corporation.  The 
initial Conversion Price per share shall be the Original Issue Price in the case of the Series A 
Preferred Stock.  Such initial Conversion Prices shall be subject to adjustment as set forth in 
Article IV(B)4(d) below. 

(b) Automatic Conversion. Each share of Series A Preferred Stock 
shall automatically be converted into such number of shares of Common Stock equal to the 
Conversion Rate then in effect for such share immediately upon the earlier of (i) except as 
provided below in Article IV(B)4(c) below, the Corporation’s sale of its Common Stock in a 
firm commitment underwritten public offering pursuant to a registration statement under the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) or (ii) the date, or upon the occurrence 
of an event, specified by vote or written consent of the holders of a majority of the then 
outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class on an as-
converted basis. 

(c) Mechanics of Conversion.  Before any holder of Series A 
Preferred Stock shall be entitled to convert such Series A Preferred Stock into shares of Common 
Stock pursuant to Article IV(B)(4)(a), the holder shall give written notice to the Corporation at 
its principal corporate office, of the election to convert the same and shall state therein the name 
or names in which the shares of Common Stock are to be issued and, in the case of Series A 
Preferred Stock represented by a certificate, the holder shall surrender the certificate or 
certificates therefor, duly endorsed, at the office of the Corporation or of any transfer agent for 
such series of Series A Preferred Stock.  The Corporation shall, as soon as practicable thereafter, 
issue and deliver at such office to such holder of Series A Preferred Stock, or to the nominee or 
nominees of such holder, a certificate or certificates or, upon request in the case of uncertificated 
securities, a notice of issuance, for the number of shares of Common Stock to which such holder 
shall be entitled as aforesaid.  Such conversion shall be deemed to have been made immediately 
prior to the close of business on the date of such surrender of certificates, or in the case of 
uncertificated securities, on the date such notice of conversion is received by the Corporation, 
and the person or persons entitled to receive the shares of Common Stock issuable upon such 
conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the record holder or holders of such shares of 
Common Stock as of such date.  If the conversion is in connection with a firm commitment 
underwritten public offering of securities, the conversion may be conditioned upon the closing of 
the sale of securities pursuant to such offering, in which event any persons entitled to receive 
Common Stock upon conversion of such Series A Preferred Stock shall not be deemed to have 
converted such Series A Preferred Stock until immediately prior to the closing of such sale of 
securities. 

(d) Conversion Price Adjustments of Series A Preferred Stock for 
Splits and Combinations.  The Conversion Price of the Series A Preferred Stock shall be 
subject to adjustment from time to time as follows: 

(i) Stock Splits and Combinations. In the event the 
Corporation should at any time after the filing date of this Certificate fix a record date for the 
effectuation of a split or subdivision of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, then, as of such 
record date (or the date of such split or subdivision if no record date is fixed), the Conversion 
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Price of each series of Series A Preferred Stock that is convertible into Common Stock shall be 
appropriately proportionately decreased so that the number of shares of Common Stock issuable 
on conversion of each share of such series shall be increased in proportion to such increase in the 
aggregate number of shares of Common Stock outstanding.  If the number of shares of Common 
Stock outstanding at any time after the filing date of this Certificate is decreased by a 
combination of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, then, following the record date of such 
combination (or the date of such combination if no record date is fixed), the Conversion Price for 
each series of Series A Preferred Stock that is convertible into Common Stock shall be 
appropriately proportionally increased so that the number of shares of Common Stock issuable 
on conversion of each share of such series shall be decreased in proportion to such decrease in 
the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock outstanding. 

(ii) Dividends. In the event the Corporation should at any time 
after the filing date of this Certificate fix a record date for the determination of holders of 
Common Stock entitled to receive a dividend or other distribution payable in additional shares of 
Common Stock without payment of any consideration by such holder for the additional shares of 
Common Stock, then, as of such record date (or the date of such dividend distribution if no 
record date is fixed), the Conversion Price of each series of Series A Preferred Stock that is 
convertible into Common Stock shall be appropriately proportionally decreased by multiplying 
the Conversion Price then in effect by a fraction: 

(A) the numerator of which shall be the total number of shares 
of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the time of such issuance or the 
close of business on such record date, and 

(B) the denominator of which shall be the total number of 
shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the time of such issuance 
or the close of business on such record date plus the number of shares of Common Stock issuable 
in payment of such dividend or distribution. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) if such record date shall have been fixed and such dividend is 
not fully paid or if such distribution is not fully made on the date fixed therefor, the Conversion 
Price of each series of Series A Preferred Stock that is convertible into Common Stock shall be 
recomputed accordingly as of the close of business on such record date and thereafter the 
Conversion Price of each series of Series A Preferred Stock that is convertible into Common 
Stock shall be adjusted pursuant to this subsection as of the time of actual payment of such 
dividends or distributions; and (b) that no such adjustment shall be made if the holders of a series 
of Series A Preferred Stock simultaneously receive a dividend or other distribution of shares of 
Common Stock in a number equal to the number of shares of Common Stock as they would have 
received if all outstanding shares of such series of Series A Preferred Stock had been converted 
into Common Stock on the date of such event. 

(e) Other Distributions. In the event the Corporation shall declare a 
distribution payable in securities of other persons, evidences of indebtedness issued by the 
Corporation or other persons, assets (excluding cash dividends) or options or rights not referred 
to in Article IV(B)4(d)(i) above, then, in each such case for the purpose of Article IV(B)4(d)(ii), 
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the holders of each series of Series A Preferred Stock that is convertible into Common Stock 
shall be entitled to a proportionate share of any such distribution as though they were the holders 
of the number of shares of Common Stock of the Corporation into which their shares of Series A 
Preferred Stock are convertible as of the record date fixed for the determination of the holders of 
Common Stock of the Corporation entitled to receive such distribution (or the date of such 
distribution if no record date is fixed). 

(f) Recapitalizations. If at any time or from time to time there shall 
be a recapitalization of the Common Stock (other than a subdivision, combination or merger or 
sale of assets transaction provided for elsewhere in Article IV(B)2 above or this Article IV(B)(4) 
provision shall be made so that the holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall thereafter be entitled 
to receive upon conversion of such Series A Preferred Stock the number of shares of stock or 
other securities or property of the Corporation or otherwise, to which a holder of Common Stock 
deliverable upon conversion would have been entitled on such recapitalization.  In any such case, 
appropriate adjustment shall be made in the application of the provisions of this Article IV(B)4 
with respect to the rights of the holders of such Series A Preferred Stock after the recapitalization 
to the end that the provisions of this Article IV(B)4 (including adjustment of the Conversion 
Price then in effect and the number of shares issuable upon conversion of such Series A 
Preferred Stock) shall be applicable after that event and be as nearly equivalent as practicable. 

(g) No Fractional Shares and Notice as to Adjustments. 

(i) No fractional shares shall be issued upon the conversion of 
any share or shares of Series A Preferred Stock, and the number of shares of Common Stock to 
be issued to a particular stockholder shall be rounded down to the nearest whole share.  The 
number of shares issuable upon such conversion shall be determined on the basis of the total 
number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock the holder is at the time converting into Common 
Stock and the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon such aggregate conversion.  If 
the conversion would result in any fractional share, the Corporation shall, in lieu of issuing any 
such fractional share, pay the holder thereof an amount in cash equal to the fair market value of 
such fractional share on the date of conversion, as determined in good faith by the Board of 
Directors. 

(ii) Upon the occurrence of each adjustment or readjustment of 
the Conversion Price of Series A Preferred Stock pursuant to this Article IV(B)4, the 
Corporation, at its expense, shall promptly compute such adjustment or readjustment in 
accordance with the terms hereof and prepare and furnish to each holder of such Series A 
Preferred Stock a notice setting forth such adjustment or readjustment and showing in detail the 
facts upon which such adjustment or readjustment is based.  The Corporation shall, upon the 
written request at any time of any holder of such Series A Preferred Stock, furnish or cause to be 
furnished to such holder a notice setting forth (A) such adjustment and readjustment, (B) the 
Conversion Price for such series of Series A Preferred Stock at the time in effect and (C) the 
number of shares of Common Stock and the amount, if any, of other property which at the time 
would be received upon the conversion of a share of such series of Series A Preferred Stock. 
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(h) Notices of Record Date. In the event of any taking by the 
Corporation of a record of the holders of any class of securities for the purpose of determining 
the holders thereof who are entitled to receive any dividend (other than a cash dividend) or other 
distribution, any right to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire any shares of stock of any 
class or any other securities or property, or to receive any other right, the Corporation shall mail 
to each holder of Series A Preferred Stock, at least 10 days prior to the date specified therein, a 
notice specifying the date on which any such record is to be taken for the purpose of such 
dividend, distribution or right, and the amount and character of such dividend, distribution or 
right. 

(i) Reservation of Stock Issuable Upon Conversion. The 
Corporation shall at all times reserve and keep available out of its authorized but unissued shares 
of Common Stock, solely for the purpose of effecting the conversion of the shares of each series 
of Series A Preferred Stock that is convertible into Common Stock, such number of its shares of 
Common Stock as shall from time to time be sufficient to effect the conversion of all outstanding 
shares of such series of Series A Preferred Stock; and if at any time the number of authorized but 
unissued shares of Common Stock shall not be sufficient to effect the conversion of all then 
outstanding shares of such series of Series A Preferred Stock, in addition to such other remedies 
as shall be available to the holder of such Series A Preferred Stock, the Corporation will take 
such corporate action as may, in the opinion of its counsel, be necessary to increase its 
authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock to such number of shares as shall be sufficient 
for such purposes, including, without limitation, engaging in best efforts to obtain the requisite 
stockholder approval of any necessary amendment to this Certificate. 

(j) Notices.  Any notice required by the provisions of this 
Article IV(B)4 to be given to the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock shall be deemed 
given if deposited in the U.S. mail, postage prepaid, and addressed to each holder of record at his 
address appearing on the books of the Corporation or delivered by electronic transmission in 
accordance with Section 232 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware to the 
holder of Series A Preferred Stock using the contact information previously provided by such 
holder to the Corporation.. 

5. Dividend Rights.  Subject to the prior rights of holders of all classes of 
stock at the time outstanding having prior rights as to dividends, the holders of the Series A 
Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors, 
out of any assets of the Corporation legally available therefor, such dividends as may be declared 
from time to time by the Board of Directors, pro rata among the holders of Series A Preferred 
Stock and Common Stock based on the number of shares of Common Stock then held by each 
holder (assuming conversion of all such Preferred Stock into Common Stock), calculated on the 
record date for determination of holders entitled to such dividend. 

6. Voting Rights and Powers.  Except as expressly provided by this 
Certificate or as provided by law, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall be entitled to the 
same voting rights as the holders of the Common Stock and to notice of any stockholders’ 
meeting in accordance with the Bylaws of the Corporation, and the holders of Common Stock 
and the holders of Series A Preferred Stock shall vote together as a single class on all matters. 
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Except as provided in Article IX(A)2 below, each holder of Series A Preferred Stock shall be 
entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of Common Stock into which such 
shares of Series A Preferred Stock could be converted.  Fractional votes shall not, however, be 
permitted and any fractional voting rights available on an as-converted basis (after aggregating 
all shares into which shares of Series A Preferred Stock held by each holder could be converted) 
shall be rounded down to the nearest whole number. 

7. Status of Converted Stock. In the event any shares of Series A Preferred 
Stock shall be converted pursuant to Article IV(B)4 above hereof, the shares so converted shall 
be cancelled and shall not be issuable by the Corporation.  The Corporation shall take all such 
actions as are necessary to cause this Certificate to be appropriately amended to effect the 
corresponding reduction in the Corporation’s authorized capital stock and the authorized shares 
of Series A Preferred Stock. 

8. Waiver of Rights.  Except as otherwise set forth in this Certificate, any of 
the rights, powers, preferences and other terms of a particular series of Series A Preferred Stock 
set forth herein may be waived (either prospectively or retrospectively) on behalf of all holders 
of such series of Series A Preferred Stock and with respect to all shares of such series of Series A 
Preferred Stock by the approval (by vote or written consent, as provided by law) of the holders of 
a majority of the shares of such series of Series A Preferred Stock then outstanding. 

(C) Common Stock. 

1. Dividend Rights.  Subject to the prior rights of holders of all classes of 
stock at the time outstanding having prior rights as to dividends, the holders of the Common 
Stock shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors, out of any 
assets of the Corporation legally available therefor, such dividends as may be declared from time 
to time by the Board of Directors. 

2. Liquidation Rights.  Upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of 
the Corporation, or the occurrence of a Liquidation Transaction, the assets of the Corporation 
shall be distributed as provided in Article IV(B)2 above. 

3. Redemption. Except as set forth in Article IX, the Common Stock is not 
redeemable. 

4. Voting Rights and Powers.  Except as provided in Article IX(A)2 below, 
each holder of Common Stock shall be entitled to the right to one vote per share of Common 
Stock, to notice of any stockholders’ meeting in accordance with the Bylaws of the Corporation 
and shall be entitled to vote upon such matters and in such manner as may be provided by law.  
The number of authorized shares of Common Stock may be increased or decreased (but not 
below the number of shares thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of 
shares of stock of the Corporation representing a majority of the votes represented by all 
outstanding shares of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote, irrespective of the provisions of 
Section 242(b)(2) of the Delaware General Corporation Law.  
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ARTICLE V 

Except as otherwise set forth herein, the Board of Directors of the Corporation is 
expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal Bylaws of the Corporation. 

ARTICLE VI 

Elections of directors need not be by written ballot unless otherwise provided in the 
Bylaws of the Corporation. 

ARTICLE VII 

(A)To the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, as the 
same exists or as may hereafter be amended, a director of the Corporation shall not be personally 
liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as 
a director. 

(B) The Corporation shall indemnify to the fullest extent permitted by law any person 
made or threatened to be made a party to an action or proceeding, whether criminal, civil, 
administrative or investigative, by reason of the fact that he, his testator or intestate is or was a 
director or officer of the Corporation or any predecessor of the Corporation, or serves or served 
at any other enterprise as a director or officer at the request of the Corporation or any 
predecessor to the Corporation. 

(C) Neither any amendment nor repeal of this Article VII, nor the adoption of any 
provision of the Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article VII, 
shall eliminate or reduce the effect of this Article VII in respect of any matter occurring, or any 
action or proceeding accruing or arising or that, but for this Article VII, would accrue or arise, 
prior to such amendment, repeal or adoption of an inconsistent provision.  

ARTICLE VIII 

Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the 
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for (A) any 
derivative action or proceeding asserting a claim on behalf of the Corporation, (B) any action or 
proceeding asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former 
director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation to the Corporation or the Corporation’s 
stockholders, (C) any action or proceeding asserting a claim against the Corporation arising 
pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law or the Corporation’s 
Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws, (D) any action or proceeding asserting a claim as to 
which the Delaware General Corporation Law confers jurisdiction upon the Court of Chancery 
of the State of Delaware, or (E) any action or proceeding asserting a claim governed by the 
internal affairs doctrine, in each case subject to said Court of Chancery having personal 
jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants therein. 
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ARTICLE IX 

(A) Exchange Provisions. 

1. Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation.  For so long as the 
Corporation shall control, directly or indirectly, any national securities exchange registered under 
Section 6 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) that is a direct or indirect subsidiary 
of the Corporation (hereinafter, any such national securities exchange shall be referred to 
generally as an “Exchange”), before any amendment to or repeal of any provision of this 
Restated Certificate shall be effective, those changes shall be submitted to the board of directors 
of such Exchange and if the same must be filed with or filed with and approved by the 
Commission before the changes may be effective, under Section 19 of the Exchange Act and the 
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder by the Commission or otherwise, then the 
proposed changes to this Restated Certificate shall not be effective until filed with or filed with 
and approved by the Commission, as the case may be. 

2. Limitations on Transfer, Ownership and Voting. For so long as the 
Corporation shall control, directly or indirectly, any Exchange, in addition to any limitations on 
the transfer of shares of the Corporation’s capital stock set forth herein or in the Bylaws, the 
following shall apply to the fullest extent permitted by law: 

(a) Definitions. As used in this Article IX: 

(i) The term “Person” shall mean a natural person, partnership, 
corporation, limited liability company, entity, government, or political subdivision, agency or 
instrumentality of a government; 

(ii) The term “Related Persons” shall mean with respect to any 
Person: (A) any “affiliate” of such Person (as such term is defined in Rule 12b-2 under the 
Exchange Act; (B) any other Person with which such first Person has any agreement, 
arrangement or understanding (whether or not in writing) to act together for the purpose of 
acquiring, voting, holding or disposing of shares of the capital stock of the Corporation; (C) in 
the case of a Person that is a company, corporation or similar entity, any executive officer (as 
defined under Rule 3b-7 under the Exchange Act) or director of such Person and, in the case of a 
Person that is a partnership or limited liability company, any general partner, managing member 
or manager of such Person, as applicable; (D) in the case of any Person that is a registered broker 
or dealer that has been admitted to membership in any Exchange (hereinafter, any such Person, 
an “Exchange Member”), any Person that is associated with the Exchange Member (as 
determined using the definition of “person associated with a member” as defined under Section 
3(a)(21) of the Exchange Act); (E) in the case of a Person that is a natural person and Exchange 
Member, any broker or dealer that is also an Exchange Member with which such Person is 
associated; (F) in the case of a Person that is a natural person, any relative or spouse of such 
Person, or any relative of such spouse who has the same home as such Person or who is a 
director or officer of the Corporation or any of its parents or subsidiaries; (G) in the case of a 
Person that is an executive officer (as defined under Rule 3b-7 under the Exchange Act) or a 
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director of a company, corporation or similar entity, such company, corporation or entity, as 
applicable; and (H) in the case of a Person that is a general partner, managing member or 
manager of a partnership or limited liability company, such partnership or limited liability 
company, as applicable; and 

(iii) The term “beneficially own”, “own beneficially” or any 
derivative thereof shall have the meaning set forth in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act. 

(b) Limitations. 

(i) For so long as the Corporation shall control, directly or 
indirectly, an Exchange except as provided in clause (ii) below: 

(A) no Person, either alone or together with its Related Persons, 
may own, directly or indirectly, of record or beneficially, shares constituting more than forty 
percent (40%) of any class of capital stock of the Corporation; 

(B) no Exchange Member, either alone or together with its 
Related Persons, may own, directly or indirectly, of record or beneficially, shares constituting 
more than twenty percent (20%) of any class of capital stock of the Corporation; and 

(C) (1) no Person, either alone or together with its Related 
Persons, at any time shall be entitled to vote or cause the voting of shares of the capital stock of 
the Corporation, in person or by proxy or through any voting agreement or other arrangement, to 
the extent that such shares represent in the aggregate more than twenty percent (20%) of the 
voting power of the then issued and outstanding capital stock of the Corporation (such threshold 
being hereinafter referred to as the “Voting Limitation”) and the Corporation shall disregard any 
such votes purported to be cast in excess of the Voting Limitation, and (2) if any Person, either 
alone or together with its Related Persons, is a party to any agreement, plan or other arrangement 
relating to shares of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote in any matter with any other Person, 
either alone or together with its Related Persons, under circumstances that would result in the 
shares of capital stock of the Corporation that are subject to such agreement, plan or other 
arrangement not being voted on any matter or matters or any proxy relating thereto being 
withheld, where the effect of such agreement, plan or other arrangement would be to enable any 
Person, but for this Section 2 of Article IX, either alone or together with its Related Persons, to 
vote, possess the right to vote or cause the voting of shares of the capital stock of the Corporation 
that would represent more than twenty percent (20%) of said voting power (assuming that all 
shares of stock of the Corporation that are subject to such agreement, plan or other arrangement 
are not treated as having voting power) (the “Recalculated Voting Limitation”), then the Person, 
either alone or together with its Related Persons, shall not be entitled to vote or cause the voting 
of shares of stock of the Corporation, in person or by proxy or through any voting agreement or 
other arrangement, to the extent that such shares represent in the aggregate more than the 
Recalculated Voting Limitation, and the Corporation shall disregard any such votes purported to 
be cast in excess of the Recalculated Voting Limitation. 
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(D) This Section 2 of Article IX shall not apply to (x) any 
solicitation of any revocable proxy from any stockholder of the Corporation by or on behalf of 
the Corporation or by any officer or director of the Corporation acting on behalf of the 
Corporation or (y) any solicitation of any revocable proxy from any stockholder of the 
Corporation by any other stockholder that is conducted pursuant to, and in accordance with, 
Regulation 14A promulgated pursuant to the Exchange Act (other than a solicitation pursuant to 
Rule 14a-2(b)(2) promulgated under the Exchange Act, with respect to which Section 2 of 
Article IX shall apply). 

(E) For purposes of this Section 2 of Article IX, no Person shall 
be deemed to have any agreement, arrangement or understanding to act together with respect to 
voting shares of stock of the Corporation solely because such Person or any of such Person’s 
Related Persons has or shares the power to vote or direct the voting of such shares of stock as a 
result of (x) any solicitation of any revocable proxy from any stockholder of the Corporation by 
or on behalf of the Corporation or by any officer or director of the Corporation acting on behalf 
of the Corporation or (y) any solicitation of any revocable proxy from any stockholder of the 
Corporation by any other stockholder that is conducted pursuant to, and in accordance with, 
Regulation 14A promulgated pursuant to the Exchange Act (other than a solicitation pursuant to 
Rule 14a-2(b)(2) promulgated under the Exchange Act, with respect to which Section 2 of 
Article IX shall apply), except if such power (or the arrangements relating thereto) is then 
reportable under Item 6 of Schedule 13D under the Exchange Act (or any similar provisions of a 
comparable or successor report).  

(ii) Subject to clauses (iii) and (iv) below: 

(A) The limitations in clauses (i)(A) and (i)(C) above shall not 
apply in the case of any class of stock that does not have the right by its terms to vote in the 
election of members of the Board of Directors or on other matters that may require the approval 
of the holders of voting shares of the Corporation (other than matters affecting the rights, 
preferences or privileges of said class of stock). 

(B) The limitations in clauses (i)(A) and (i)(C) above (except 
with respect to Exchange Members and their Related Persons) may be waived by the Board of 
Directors pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board of Directors, if, in connection with 
taking such action, the Board of Directors adopts a resolution stating that it is the determination 
of such Board that such action will not impair the ability of an Exchange to carry out its 
functions and responsibilities as an “exchange” under the Exchange Act and the rules and 
regulations promulgated thereunder, that it is otherwise in the best interests of the Corporation, 
its stockholders and the Exchange, and that it will not impair the ability of the Commission to 
enforce the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and such 
resolution shall not be effective until it is filed with and approved by the Commission. In making 
the determinations referred to in the immediately preceding sentence, the Board of Directors may 
impose on the Person in question and its Related Persons such conditions and restrictions that it 
may in its sole discretion deem necessary, appropriate or desirable in furtherance of the 
objectives of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and the 
governance of the applicable Exchange. 
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(iii) Notwithstanding clauses (ii)(A) and (ii)(B) above, in any 
case where a Person, either alone or together with its Related Persons, would own or vote more 
than any of the above percentage limitations upon consummation of any proposed sale, 
assignment or transfer of the Corporation’s capital stock, such sale, assignment or transfer shall 
not become effective until the Board of Directors of the Corporation shall have determined, by 
resolution, that such Person and its Related Persons are not subject to any of the actions or events 
described in Section 3(a)(39)(A)–(F) of the Exchange Act. 

(iv) Notwithstanding clauses (ii)(A) and (ii)(B) above, and 
without giving effect to same, any Person that, either alone or together with its Related Persons, 
proposes to own, directly or indirectly, of record or beneficially, shares of the capital stock of the 
Corporation constituting more than forty percent (40%) of the outstanding shares of any class of 
capital stock of the Corporation, or to vote or cause the voting of shares of the capital stock of 
the Corporation in person or by proxy or through any voting agreement or other arrangement in 
excess of the Voting Limitation or the Recalculated Voting Limitation, as applicable, shall have 
delivered to the Board of Directors of the Corporation a notice in writing, not less than forty-five 
(45) days (or any shorter period to which said Board of Directors shall expressly consent), before 
the proposed ownership of such shares, or the proposal to vote or cause the voting of such shares 
in person or by proxy or through any voting agreement or other arrangement, of its intention to 
do so. 

(c) Required Notices. 

(i) Any Person that, either alone or together with its Related 
Persons, owns, directly or indirectly (whether by acquisition or by a change in the number of 
shares outstanding), of record or beneficially, five percent (5%) or more of the then outstanding 
shares of capital stock of the Corporation (excluding shares of any class of stock that does not 
have the right by its terms to vote generally in the election of members of the Board of Directors) 
shall, immediately upon acquiring knowledge of its ownership of five percent (5%) or more of 
the then outstanding shares of such stock, give the Board of Directors written notice of such 
ownership, which notice shall state: (A) such Person’s full legal name; (B) such Person’s title or 
status and the date on which such title or status was acquired; (C) such Person’s (and its Related 
Person’s) approximate ownership interest of the Corporation; and (D) whether such Person has 
the power, directly or indirectly, to direct the management or policies of the Corporation, 
whether through ownership of securities, by contract or otherwise. 

(ii) Each Person required to provide written notice pursuant to 
subparagraph (c)(i) of this Article IX shall update such notice promptly after any change in the 
contents of that notice; provided that no such updated notice shall be required to be provided to 
the Board of Directors: (A) in the event of an increase or decrease in the ownership percentage 
so reported of less than one percent (1%) of the then outstanding shares of any class of capital 
stock (such increase or decrease to be measured cumulatively from the amount shown on the last 
such notice), unless any increase or decrease of less than one percent (1%) results in such Person 
owning more than twenty percent (20%) or more than forty percent (40%) of the shares of any 
class of capital stock then outstanding (at a time when such Person previously owned less than 
such percentages) or such Person owning less than twenty percent (20%) or less than forty 
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percent (40%) of the shares of any class of capital stock then outstanding (at a time when such 
Person previously owned more than such percentages); or (B) in the event the Corporation issues 
additional shares of capital stock (or securities convertible into capital stock) or takes any other 
action that dilutes the ownership of such Person, or acquires or redeems shares of outstanding 
capital stock or takes any other action that increases the ownership of such Person, in each case 
without any change in the number of shares held by such Person. 

(iii) The Board of Directors shall have the right to require any 
Person reasonably believed to be subject to and in violation of this Article IX to provide the 
Corporation complete information as to all shares of stock of the Corporation owned, directly or 
indirectly, of record or beneficially, by such Person and its Related Persons and as to any other 
factual matter relating to the applicability or effect of this Article IX as may reasonably be 
requested of such Person. 

(d) Effect of Purported Transfers and Voting in Violation of this 
Article IX. If any stockholder purports to sell, transfer, assign or pledge to any Person, other 
than the Corporation, any shares of the Corporation that would violate the provisions of this 
Article IX, then the Corporation shall record on the books of the Corporation the transfer of only 
that number of shares that would not violate the provisions of this Article IX and shall treat the 
remaining shares as owned by the purported transferor, for all purposes, including without 
limitation, voting, payment of dividends and distributions with respect to such shares, whether 
upon liquidation or otherwise. If any stockholder purports to vote or cause the voting of shares, 
in person or by proxy, that would violate the provisions of this Article IX, then the Corporation 
shall disregard such vote to the extent that such provisions would be violated. 

(e) Right to Redeem Shares Purportedly Transferred in Violation 
of this Article IX. If any stockholder purports to sell, transfer, assign, pledge, or own any shares 
of the Corporation in violation of the provisions of this Article IX, then the Corporation shall 
have the right to, and shall promptly after confirming such violation and to the extent funds are 
legally available, redeem the shares sold, transferred, assigned, pledged, or owned in violation of 
the provisions of this Article IX for a price per share equal to the par value of those shares. The 
number of shares to be redeemed by the Corporation pursuant to the foregoing provision shall be 
calculated by the Corporation after taking into account that such redeemed shares shall become 
treasury shares and shall no longer be deemed to be outstanding. Written notice shall be given by 
the Secretary of the Corporation to the holder or holders of record with respect to the redeemable 
shares at the address of the holder or holders of record appearing on the books of the 
Corporation, which notice shall specify a date for redemption of the shares that shall be not less 
than ten (10) days nor more than thirty (30) days from the date of such notice. Any shares that 
have been so called for redemption shall not be deemed outstanding shares for the purpose of 
voting or determining the total number of shares entitled to vote on any matter on and after the 
date on which written notice of redemption has been given to the holder or holders of those 
shares if a sum sufficient to redeem such shares shall have been irrevocably deposited or set 
aside to pay the redemption price to the holder or holders of the shares upon surrender of 
certificates for those shares. From and after the redemption date (unless the Corporation shall 
default in providing funds for the payment of the redemption price) the shares of redeemed stock 
which have been redeemed by the Corporation as aforesaid shall become treasury shares and 

514



 
  

   
   

 
    
  

  
  

   
  

shall no longer be deemed to be outstanding, and all rights of the holder of such redeemed stock 
as a stockholder of the Corporation (except the right to receive from the Corporation the 
redemption price against delivery to the Corporation of evidence of ownership of such shares) 
shall cease. Written notice shall be given by the Secretary of the Corporation to all holders of 
record appearing on the books of the Corporation of any redemption by the Corporation 
(including, without limitation, a redemption pursuant to this clause (e)) (in each case, a 
“Redemption”) not more than ten (10) days after consummation of the Redemption, which notice 
shall specify the number of shares outstanding after the Redemption of each class of the 
Corporation’s capital stock. In the event that any redemption has resulted in any additional 
stockholder owning such number of shares of the Corporation that is in violation of the 
provisions of this clause (e), the Corporation shall have the right to and shall promptly after 
confirming such violation, redeem such shares pursuant to the provisions of this clause (e).” 

*  *  * 
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The foregoing Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation has been duly adopted 
by this corporation’s Board of Directors and stockholders in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 228, 242 and 245 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

Executed at Menlo Park, California on _________ __, 201_. 

Eric Ries, President 
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BYLAWS 

OF 

LTSE GROUP, INC. 

ARTICLE I 

CORPORATE OFFICES 

1.1 Offices 

In addition to the corporation’s registered office set forth in the certificate of 
incorporation, the Board of Directors may at any time establish other offices at any place or 
places where the corporation is qualified to do business.   

ARTICLE II 

MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS 

2.1 Place Of Meetings 

Meetings of stockholders shall be held at any place, within or outside the state of 
Delaware, designated by the Board of Directors.  The Board of Directors may, in its sole 
discretion, determine that a meeting of stockholders shall not be held at any place, but may 
instead be held solely by means of remote communication as authorized by Section 211(a)(2) of 
the Delaware General Corporation Law. In the absence of any such designation or 
determination, stockholders’ meetings shall be held at principal place of business of the 
corporation. 

2.2 Annual Meeting 

The annual meeting of stockholders shall be held on such date, time and place, 
either within or without the state of Delaware, as may be designated by resolution of the Board 
of Directors each year. At the meeting, directors shall be elected and any other proper business 
may be transacted. 

2.3 Special Meeting 

A special meeting of the stockholders may be called at any time by the Board of 
Directors, the chairperson of the board, the chief executive officer, the president or shall be 
called by the President upon the written request of one or more stockholders holding shares in 
the aggregate entitled to cast not less than 10% of the votes at that meeting. 
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If a special meeting is called by any person or persons other than the Board of 
Directors, the chairperson of the board, the chief executive officer or the president, the request 
shall be in writing, specifying the time of such meeting and the general nature of the business 
proposed to be transacted, and shall be delivered personally or sent by registered mail or by 
email, fax, telegraphic or other facsimile or electronic transmission to the chairperson of the 
board, the chief executive officer, the president or the secretary of the corporation.  No business 
may be transacted at such special meeting otherwise than specified in such notice.  The officer 
receiving the request shall cause notice to be promptly given to the stockholders entitled to vote, 
in accordance with the provisions of Sections 2.4 and 2.5 of this Article II, that a meeting will be 
held at the time requested by the person or persons calling the meeting, not less than 35 nor more 
than 60 days after the receipt of the request.  If the notice is not given within 20 days after the 
receipt of the request, the person or persons requesting the meeting may give the notice.  Nothing 
contained in this paragraph of this Section 2.3 shall be construed as limiting, fixing, or affecting 
the time when a meeting of stockholders called by action of the Board of Directors may be held. 

2.4 Notice Of Stockholders’ Meetings 

Unless otherwise provided by law, all notices of meetings with stockholders shall 
be in writing and shall be sent or otherwise given in accordance with Section 2.5 of these bylaws 
not less than 10 nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled 
to vote at such meeting, as of the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to notice 
of the meeting.  The notice shall specify the place (if any), date and hour of the meeting, and in 
the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. 

2.5 Manner Of Giving Notice; Affidavit Of Notice 

Written notice of any meeting of stockholders, if mailed, is given when deposited 
in the United States mail, postage prepaid, directed to the stockholder at his address as it appears 
on the records of the corporation.  Without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may 
be given effectively to stockholders, any notice to stockholders may be given by electronic mail 
or other electronic transmission, in the manner provided in Section 232 of the Delaware General 
Corporation Law.  An affidavit of the secretary or an assistant secretary or of the transfer agent 
of the corporation that the notice has been given shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie 
evidence of the facts stated therein. 

2.6 Quorum 

The holders of a majority of the shares of stock issued and outstanding and 
entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at all 
meetings of the stockholders for the transaction of business except as otherwise provided by 
statute or by the certificate of incorporation.  If, however, such quorum is not present or 
represented at any meeting of the stockholders, then either (a) the chairperson of the meeting or 
(b) holders of a majority of the shares of stock entitled to vote who are present, in person or by 
proxy, shall have power to adjourn the meeting to another place (if any), date or time. 
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2.7 Adjourned Meeting; Notice 

When a meeting is adjourned to another place (if any), date or time, unless these 
bylaws otherwise require, notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting if the time and 
place (if any), thereof and the means of remote communications (if any) by which stockholders 
and proxyholders may be deemed to be present and vote at such adjourned meeting, are 
announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken.  At the adjourned meeting the 
corporation may transact any business that might have been transacted at the original meeting. If 
the adjournment is for more than 30 days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed 
for the adjourned meeting, notice of the place (if any), date and time of the adjourned meeting 
and the means of remote communications (if any) by which stockholders and proxy holders may 
be deemed to be present in person and vote at such adjourned meeting shall be given to each 
stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting. 

2.8 Organization; Conduct of Business 

Such person as the Board of Directors may have designated or, in the absence of 
such a person, the chief executive officer, or in his or her absence, the president or, in his or her 
absence, such person as may be chosen by the holders of a majority of the shares entitled to vote 
who are present, in person or by proxy, shall call to order any meeting of the stockholders and 
act as chairperson of the meeting. In the absence of the secretary of the corporation, the 
secretary of the meeting shall be such person as the chairperson of the meeting appoints. 

The chairperson of any meeting of stockholders shall determine the order of 
business and the procedure at the meeting, including the manner of voting and the conduct of 
business.  The date and time of opening and closing of the polls for each matter upon which the 
stockholders will vote at the meeting shall be announced at the meeting. 

2.9 Voting 

The stockholders entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders shall be 
determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.12 of these bylaws, subject to the 
provisions of Sections 217 and 218 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (relating to voting 
rights of fiduciaries, pledgors and joint owners of stock and to voting trusts and other voting 
agreements). 

Except as may be otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation, each 
stockholder shall be entitled to one vote for each share of capital stock held by such stockholder. 
All elections shall be determined by a plurality of the votes cast, and except as otherwise 
required by law, all other matters shall be determined by a majority of the votes cast 
affirmatively or negatively.  At any time that, pursuant to the then-effective certificate of 
incorporation, any shares of stock have more or less than one (1) vote per share on any matter, 
every reference in these bylaws to a majority or other proportion of the shares shall refer to a 
majority or other proportion of the votes of the shares.   
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2.10 Waiver Of Notice 

Whenever notice is required to be given under any provision of the Delaware 
General Corporation Law or of the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, a written waiver 
thereof, signed by the person entitled to notice, or waiver by electronic mail or other electronic 
transmission by such person, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed 
equivalent to notice.  Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of 
such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at 
the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not 
lawfully called or convened.  Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any 
regular or special meeting of the stockholders need be specified in any written waiver of notice, 
or any waiver of notice by electronic transmission, unless so required by the certificate of 
incorporation or these bylaws. 

2.11 Stockholder Action By Written Consent Without A Meeting 

Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation, any action required 
to be taken at any annual or special meeting of stockholders of the corporation, or any action that 
may be taken at any annual or special meeting of such stockholders, may be taken without a 
meeting, without prior notice, and without a vote if a consent in writing, setting forth the action 
so taken, is (a) signed by the holders of outstanding stock having not less than the minimum 
number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which 
all shares entitled to vote thereon were present and voted, and (b) delivered to the corporation in 
accordance with Section 228(a) of the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

No written consent shall be effective to take the corporate action referred to 
therein unless, within 60 days of the first date a written consent is delivered to the corporation, a 
written consent or consents signed by a sufficient number of holders to take action are delivered 
to the corporation in the manner prescribed in this Section.  A telegram, cablegram, electronic 
mail or other electronic transmission consenting to an action to be taken and transmitted by a 
stockholder or proxyholder, or by a person or persons authorized to act for a stockholder or 
proxyholder, shall be deemed to be written and signed for purposes of this Section to the extent 
permitted by law.  Any such consent shall be delivered in accordance with Section 228 of the 
Delaware General Corporation Law. 

Any copy, facsimile or other reliable reproduction of a consent in writing may be 
substituted or used in lieu of the original writing for any and all purposes for which the original 
writing could be used, provided that such copy, facsimile or other reproduction shall be a 
complete reproduction of the entire original writing. 

Prompt notice of the taking of the corporate action without a meeting by less than 
unanimous written consent shall be given to those stockholders who have not consented in 
writing (including by electronic mail or other electronic transmission as permitted by law). If the 
action which is consented to is such as would have required the filing of a certificate under any 
section of the Delaware General Corporation Law if such action had been voted on by 
stockholders at a meeting thereof, then the certificate filed under such section shall state, in lieu 
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of any statement required by such section concerning any vote of stockholders, that written 
consent has been given as provided in Section 228 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

2.12 Record Date For Stockholder Notice; Voting; Giving Consents 

(a) In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to 
notice of any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, or to express consent to 
corporate action in writing without a meeting, or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or 
other distribution or allotment of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any 
change, conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of any other lawful action, the Board 
of Directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the 
resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board of Directors, and which record date: (1) 
in the case of determination of stockholders entitled to notice of any meeting of stockholders or 
any adjournment thereof, shall, unless otherwise required by law, not be more than 60 nor less 
than 10 days before the date of such meeting and, unless the Board of Directors determines, at 
the time it fixes such record date, that a later date on or before the date of the meeting shall be 
the date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at such meeting, the record date for 
determining the stockholders entitled to notice of such meeting shall also be the record date for 
determining the stockholders entitled to vote at such meeting; (2) in the case of determination of 
stockholders entitled to express consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, shall 
not be more than 10 days from the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is 
adopted by the Board of Directors; and (3) in the case of any other action, shall not be more than 
60 days prior to such other action. 

(b) If the Board of Directors does not so fix a record date:  (1) the record date 
for determining stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall 
be at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given, or, if 
notice is waived, at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting 
is held; (2) the record date for determining stockholders entitled to express consent to corporate 
action in writing without a meeting, when no prior action of the Board of Directors is required by 
law, shall be the first date on which a signed written consent setting forth the action taken or 
proposed to be taken is delivered to the corporation in accordance with applicable law, or, if 
prior action by the Board of Directors is required by law, shall be at the close of business on the 
day on which the Board of Directors adopts the resolution taking such prior action; and (3) the 
record date for determining stockholders for any other purpose shall be at the close of business 
on the day on which the Board of Directors adopts the resolution relating thereto. 

(c) A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at 
a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that 
the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to 
vote at the adjourned meeting, and in such case shall also fix as the record date for the 
stockholders entitled to notice of such adjourned meeting the same or an earlier date as that fixed 
for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote in accordance with the foregoing provisions 
of this Section 2.12 at the adjourned meeting. 
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2.13 Proxies 

Each stockholder entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders or to express 
consent or dissent to corporate action in writing without a meeting may authorize another person 
or persons to act for such stockholder by an instrument in writing or by an electronic 
transmission permitted by law filed with the secretary of the corporation, but no such proxy shall 
be voted or acted upon after three years from its date, unless the proxy provides for a longer 
period.  A proxy shall be deemed signed if the stockholder’s name is placed on the proxy 
(whether by manual signature, typewriting, facsimile, electronic or telegraphic transmission or 
otherwise) by the stockholder or the stockholder’s attorney-in-fact.  The revocability of a proxy 
that states on its face that it is irrevocable shall be governed by the provisions of Section 212(e) 
of the Delaware General Corporation Law.   

ARTICLE III 

DIRECTORS 

3.1 Powers 

Subject to the provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law and any 
limitations in the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws relating to action required to be 
approved by the stockholders, the business and affairs of the corporation shall be managed and 
all corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the direction of the Board of Directors.  At 
any time that, pursuant to the then-effective certificate of incorporation, any director or directors 
have more or less than one (1) vote per director on any matter, every reference in these bylaws to 
a majority or other proportion of the directors shall refer to a majority or other proportion of the 
votes of the directors. 

3.2 Number Of Directors 

The number of directors constituting the entire Board of Directors is 3.  This 
number may be changed by a resolution of the Board of Directors or of the stockholders, subject 
to Section 3.4 of these bylaws.  No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the 
effect of removing any director before such director’s term of office expires. 

3.3 Election, Qualification And Term Of Office Of Directors 

Except as provided in Section 3.4 of these bylaws, and unless otherwise provided 
in the certificate of incorporation, directors shall be elected at each annual meeting of 
stockholders to hold office until the next annual meeting.  Directors need not be stockholders 
unless so required by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, wherein other 
qualifications for directors may be prescribed.  Each director, including a director elected to fill a 
vacancy, shall hold office until his or her successor is elected and qualified or until his or her 
earlier resignation or removal.  No person that is subject to any statutory disqualification, as 
defined in Section 3(a)(39) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “1934 
Act”), may be a director of the corporation. 
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Unless otherwise specified in the certificate of incorporation, elections of 
directors need not be by written ballot. 

3.4 Resignation And Vacancies 

Any director may resign at any time upon written notice to the attention of the 
Secretary of the corporation.  Any vacancy or newly created directorship may be filled by a 
majority of the directors then in office (including any directors that have tendered a resignation 
effective at a future date), though less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director, and the 
directors so chosen shall hold office until the next annual election and until their successors are 
duly elected and shall qualify, unless sooner displaced. 

If at any time, by reason of death or resignation or other cause, the corporation 
should have no directors in office, then any officer or any stockholder or an executor, 
administrator, trustee or guardian of a stockholder, or other fiduciary entrusted with like 
responsibility for the person or estate of a stockholder, may call a special meeting of 
stockholders in accordance with the provisions of the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, 
or may apply to the Court of Chancery for a decree summarily ordering an election as provided 
in Section 211 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

If, at the time of filling any vacancy or any newly created directorship, the 
directors then in office constitute less than a majority of the whole board (as constituted 
immediately prior to any such increase), then the Court of Chancery may, upon application of 
any stockholder or stockholders holding at least 10% of the total number of the shares at the time 
outstanding having the right to vote for such directors, summarily order an election to be held to 
fill any such vacancies or newly created directorships, or to replace the directors chosen by the 
directors then in office as aforesaid, which election shall be governed by the provisions of 
Section 211 of the Delaware General Corporation Law as far as applicable. 

3.5 Place Of Meetings; Meetings By Telephone 

The Board of Directors of the corporation may hold meetings, both regular and 
special, either within or outside the state of Delaware. 

Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, 
members of the Board of Directors, or any committee designated by the Board of Directors, may 
participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors, or any committee, by means of conference 
telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the 
meeting can hear each other, and such participation in a meeting shall constitute presence in 
person at the meeting. 

3.6 Regular Meetings 

Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held without notice at such 
time and at such place as shall from time to time be determined by the board. 
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3.7 Special Meetings; Notice 

Special meetings of the Board of Directors for any purpose or purposes may be 
called at any time by the chairperson of the board, the chief executive officer, the president, the 
secretary or any two directors. 

Notice of the time and place of special meetings shall be delivered personally or 
by telephone to each director or sent by first-class mail, facsimile, electronic transmission, or 
telegram, charges prepaid, addressed to each director at that director’s address as it is shown on 
the records of the corporation.  If the notice is mailed, it shall be deposited in the United States 
mail at least 4 days before the time of the holding of the meeting.  If the notice is delivered 
personally or by facsimile, electronic transmission, telephone or telegram, it shall be delivered at 
least 24 hours before the time of the holding of the meeting.  Any oral notice given personally or 
by telephone may be communicated either to the director or to a person at the office of the 
director who the person giving the notice has reason to believe will promptly communicate it to 
the director.  The notice need not specify the purpose of the meeting.  The notice need not 
specify the place of the meeting, if the meeting is to be held at the principal executive office of 
the corporation. Unless otherwise indicated in the notice thereof, any and all business may be 
transacted at a special meeting. 

3.8 Quorum 

At all meetings of the Board of Directors, a majority of the total number of duly 
elected directors then in office (but in no case less than 1/3 of the total number of authorized 
directors) shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business and the act of a majority of the 
directors present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the Board of 
Directors, except as may be otherwise specifically provided by statute or by the certificate of 
incorporation.  If a quorum is not present at any meeting of the Board of Directors, then the 
directors present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than 
announcement at the meeting, until a quorum is present. 

3.9 Waiver Of Notice 

Whenever notice is required to be given under any provision of the Delaware 
General Corporation Law or of the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, a written waiver 
thereof, signed by the person entitled to notice, or waiver by electronic mail or other electronic 
transmission by such person, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed 
equivalent to notice.  Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of 
such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at 
the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not 
lawfully called or convened.  Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any 
regular or special meeting of the directors, or members of a committee of directors, need be 
specified in any written waiver of notice unless so required by the certificate of incorporation or 
these bylaws. 
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3.10 Board Action By Written Consent Without A Meeting 

Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, any 
action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors, or of any 
committee thereof, may be taken without a meeting if all members of the board or committee, as 
the case may be, consent thereto in writing or by electronic transmission, and the writing or 
writings or electronic transmission or transmissions are filed with the minutes of proceedings of 
the board or committee.  Such filing shall be in paper form if the minutes are maintained in paper 
form and shall be in electronic form if the minutes are maintained in electronic form. 

Any copy, facsimile or other reliable reproduction of a consent in writing may be 
substituted or used in lieu of the original writing for any and all purposes for which the original 
writing could be used, provided that such copy, facsimile or other reproduction shall be a 
complete reproduction of the entire original writing. 

3.11 Fees And Compensation Of Directors 

Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, the 
Board of Directors shall have the authority to fix the compensation of directors.  No such 
compensation shall preclude any director from serving the corporation in any other capacity and 
receiving compensation therefor. 

3.12 Approval Of Loans To Officers 

The corporation may lend money to, or guarantee any obligation of, or otherwise 
assist any officer or other employee of the corporation or of its subsidiary, including any officer 
or employee who is a director of the corporation or its subsidiary, whenever, in the judgment of 
the directors, such loan, guaranty or assistance may reasonably be expected to benefit the 
corporation.  The loan, guaranty or other assistance may be with or without interest and may be 
unsecured, or secured in such manner as the Board of Directors shall approve, including, without 
limitation, a pledge of shares of stock of the corporation.  Nothing in this section shall be deemed 
to deny, limit or restrict the powers of guaranty or warranty of the corporation at common law or 
under any statute. 

3.13 Removal Of Directors 

Unless otherwise restricted by statute, by the certificate of incorporation or by 
these bylaws, any director or the entire Board of Directors may be removed, with or without 
cause, by, and only by, the affirmative vote of the holders of the shares of the class or series of 
stock entitled to elect such director or directors, given either at a special meeting of such 
stockholders duly called for that purpose or pursuant to a written consent of stockholders, and 
any vacancy thereby created may be filled by the holders of that class or series of stock 
represented at the meeting or pursuant to written consent; provided, however, that if the 
stockholders of the corporation are entitled to cumulative voting, if less than the entire Board of 
Directors is to be removed, no director may be removed without cause if the votes cast against 
his removal would be sufficient to elect him if then cumulatively voted at an election of the 
entire Board of Directors. 
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No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect of 
removing any director prior to the expiration of such director’s term of office. 

3.14 Chairperson Of The Board Of Directors 

The corporation may also have, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, a 
chairperson of the Board of Directors who shall not be considered an officer of the corporation. 

3.15 Provisions Regarding the Election of Directors of Subsidiaries 

Subject to this Section 3.15: (i) the Board of Directors may constitute any officer 
of the corporation as the corporation’s proxy, with power of substitution, to vote the equity of 
any subsidiary of the corporation and to exercise, on behalf of the corporation, any and all rights 
and powers incident to the ownership of that equity, including the authority to execute and 
deliver proxies, waivers and consents; (ii) in the absence of specific action by the Board of 
Directors, the chief executive officer shall have authority to represent the corporation and to 
vote, on behalf of the corporation, the equity of other entities, both domestic and foreign, held by 
the corporation; and (iii) the chief executive officer shall also have the authority to exercise any 
and all rights incident to the ownership of that equity, including the authority to execute and 
deliver proxies, waivers and consents. 

At any meeting of the stockholders of any national securities exchange registered 
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”) under Section 6 of 1934 
Act under the direct or indirect control of the corporation (an “Exchange”) held for the purpose 
of electing directors and members of the Member Nominating Committee of such Exchange (as 
set forth in the Bylaws of such Exchange, the “Exchange Member Nominating Committee”), or 
in the event written consents are solicited or otherwise sought from the stockholders of any 
Exchange with respect thereto, the corporation shall cause all outstanding shares of such 
Exchange owned by the corporation and entitled to vote at such election to be voted in favor of 
only those Exchange member representative directors and nominees for the Exchange Member 
Nominating Committee nominated in accordance with the Bylaws of such Exchange and, with 
respect to any such written consents, shall cause to be validly executed only such written 
consents electing only such directors and members of the Exchange Member Nominating 
Committee. 

ARTICLE IV 

COMMITTEES 

4.1 Committees Of Directors 

The Board of Directors may designate one or more committees, each committee 
to consist of one or more of the directors of the corporation.  The Board may designate 1 or more 
directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified 
member at any meeting of the committee. In the absence or disqualification of a member of a 
committee, the member or members present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting, 
whether or not such member or members constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another 
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member of the Board of Directors to act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or 
disqualified member.  Any such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board 
of Directors, or in these bylaws, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the 
Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the corporation, and may 
authorize the seal of the corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it; but no such 
committee shall have the power or authority in reference to the following matters:  (i) approving 
or adopting, or recommending to the stockholders, any action or matter expressly required by the 
General Corporate Law of Delaware to be submitted to stockholders for approval or 
(ii) adopting, amending or repealing any Bylaw of the corporation. 

4.2 Committee Minutes 

Each committee shall keep regular minutes of its meetings and report the same to 
the Board of Directors when required. 

4.3 Meetings And Action Of Committees 

Meetings and actions of committees shall be governed by, and held and taken in 
accordance with, the provisions of Section 3.5 (place of meetings and meetings by telephone), 
Section 3.6 (regular meetings), Section 3.7 (special meetings and notice), Section 3.8 (quorum), 
Section 3.9 (waiver of notice), and Section 3.10 (action without a meeting) of these bylaws, with 
such changes in the context of such provisions as are necessary to substitute the committee and 
its members for the Board of Directors and its members; provided, however, that the time of 
regular meetings of committees may be determined either by resolution of the Board of Directors 
or by resolution of the committee, that special meetings of committees may also be called by 
resolution of the Board of Directors and that notice of special meetings of committees shall also 
be given to all alternate members, who shall have the right to attend all meetings of the 
committee.  The Board of Directors may adopt rules for the government of any committee not 
inconsistent with the provisions of these bylaws. 

ARTICLE V 

OFFICERS 

5.1 Officers 

The officers of the corporation shall be a president and a secretary. The 
corporation may also have, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, a chief executive officer, a 
chief financial officer, a treasurer, one or more vice presidents, one or more assistant secretaries, 
one or more assistant treasurers, and any such other officers as may be appointed in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 5.3 of these bylaws.  Any number of offices may be held by the 
same person.  No person that is subject to any statutory disqualification (as defined in Section 
3(a)(39) of the 1934 Act) may be an officer of the corporation. 
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5.2 Appointment Of Officers 

The officers of the corporation, except such officers as may be appointed in 
accordance with the provisions of Sections 5.3 or 5.5 of these bylaws, shall be appointed by the 
Board of Directors, subject to the rights (if any) of an officer under any contract of employment. 

5.3 Subordinate Officers 

The Board of Directors may appoint, or empower the chief executive officer or 
the president to appoint, such other officers and agents as the business of the corporation may 
require, each of whom shall hold office for such period, have such authority, and perform such 
duties as are provided in these bylaws or as the Board of Directors may from time to time 
determine. 

5.4 Removal And Resignation Of Officers 

Subject to the rights (if any) of an officer under any contract of employment, any 
officer may be removed, either with or without cause, by an affirmative vote of the majority of 
the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting of the board or, except in the case of an 
officer chosen by the Board of Directors, by any officer upon whom the power of removal is 
conferred by the Board of Directors. 

Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the corporation 
(including written notice by email, fax, telegraphic or other facsimile or electronic transmission).  
Any resignation shall take effect at the date of the receipt of that notice or at any later time 
specified in that notice; and, unless otherwise specified in that notice, the acceptance of the 
resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.  Any resignation is without prejudice to 
the rights (if any) of the corporation under any contract to which the officer is a party. 

5.5 Vacancies In Offices 

Any vacancy occurring in any office of the corporation shall be filled by the 
Board of Directors. 

5.6 Chief Executive Officer 

Subject to such supervisory powers (if any) as may be given by the Board of 
Directors to the chairperson of the board (if any), the chief executive officer of the corporation 
(if such an officer is appointed) shall, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, have 
general supervision, direction, and control of the business and the officers of the corporation and 
shall have the general powers and duties of management usually vested in the office of chief 
executive officer of a corporation and shall have such other powers and duties as may be 
prescribed by the Board of Directors or these bylaws. 

The person serving as chief executive officer shall also be the acting president of 
the corporation whenever no other person is then serving in such capacity. 
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5.7 President 

Subject to such supervisory powers (if any) as may be given by the Board of 
Directors to the chairperson of the board (if any) or the chief executive officer, the president 
shall have general supervision, direction, and control of the business and other officers of the 
corporation.  He or she shall have the general powers and duties of management usually vested 
in the office of president of a corporation and such other powers and duties as may be prescribed 
by the Board of Directors or these bylaws. 

The person serving as president shall also be the acting chief executive officer, 
secretary or treasurer of the corporation, as applicable, whenever no other person is then serving 
in such capacity. 

5.8 Vice Presidents 

In the absence or disability of the chief executive officer and president, the vice 
presidents (if any) in order of their rank as fixed by the Board of Directors or, if not ranked, a 
vice president designated by the Board of Directors, shall perform all the duties of the president 
and when so acting shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions upon, the 
president.  The vice presidents shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as 
from time to time may be prescribed for them respectively by the Board of Directors, these 
bylaws, the president or the chairperson of the board. 

5.9 Secretary 

The secretary shall keep or cause to be kept, at the principal executive office of 
the corporation or such other place as the Board of Directors may direct, a book of minutes of all 
meetings and actions of directors, committees of directors, and stockholders.  The minutes shall 
show the time and place of each meeting, the names of those present at directors’ meetings or 
committee meetings, the number of shares present or represented at stockholders’ meetings, and 
the proceedings thereof. 

The secretary shall keep, or cause to be kept, at the principal executive office of 
the corporation or at the office of the corporation’s transfer agent or registrar, as determined by 
resolution of the Board of Directors, a share register, or a duplicate share register, showing the 
names of all stockholders and their addresses, the number and classes of shares held by each, the 
number and date of certificates (if any) evidencing such shares, and the number and date of 
cancellation of every certificate (if any) surrendered for cancellation. 

The secretary shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the 
stockholders and of the Board of Directors required to be given by law or by these bylaws.  He or 
she shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the 
Board of Directors or by these bylaws. 

5.10 Chief Financial Officer 

The chief financial officer (if such an officer is appointed) shall keep and 
maintain, or cause to be kept and maintained, adequate and correct books and records of 
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accounts of the properties and business transactions of the corporation, including accounts of its 
assets, liabilities, receipts, disbursements, gains, losses, capital, retained earnings and shares.  
The books of account shall at all reasonable times be open to inspection by any member of the 
Board of Directors. 

The chief financial officer shall render to the chief executive officer, the 
president, or the Board of Directors, upon request, an account of all his or her transactions as 
chief financial officer and of the financial condition of the corporation.  He or she shall have the 
general powers and duties usually vested in the office of chief financial officer of a corporation 
and shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the 
Board of Directors or these bylaws. 

The person serving as the chief financial officer shall also be the acting treasurer 
of the corporation whenever no other person is then serving in such capacity.  Subject to such 
supervisory powers (if any) as may be given by the Board of Directors to another officer of the 
corporation, the chief financial officer shall supervise and direct the responsibilities of the 
treasurer whenever someone other than the chief financial officer is serving as treasurer of the 
corporation. 

5.11 Treasurer 

The treasurer (if such an officer is appointed) shall keep and maintain, or cause to 
be kept and maintained, adequate and correct books and records with respect to all bank 
accounts, deposit accounts, cash management accounts and other investment accounts of the 
corporation.  The books of account shall at all reasonable times be open to inspection by any 
member of the Board of Directors. 

The treasurer shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, all moneys and other 
valuables in the name and to the credit of the corporation with such depositories as may be 
designated by the Board of Directors.  He or she shall disburse the funds of the corporation as 
may be ordered by the Board of Directors and shall render to the chief financial officer, the chief 
executive officer, the president or the Board of Directors, upon request, an account of all his or 
her transactions as treasurer.  He or she shall have the general powers and duties usually vested 
in the office of treasurer of a corporation and shall have such other powers and perform such 
other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or these bylaws. 

The person serving as the treasurer shall also be the acting chief financial officer 
of the corporation whenever no other person is then serving in such capacity. 

5.12 Authority And Duties Of Officers 

In addition to the foregoing authority and duties, all officers of the corporation 
shall respectively have such authority and perform such duties in the management of the business 
of the corporation as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors or the 
stockholders. 

ARTICLE VI 
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INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AND OTHER 
AGENTS 

6.1 Indemnification Of Directors And Officers 

The corporation shall, to the maximum extent and in the manner permitted by the 
Delaware General Corporation Law, indemnify each of its directors and officers against 
expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines, settlements and other amounts actually 
and reasonably incurred in connection with any proceeding, arising by reason of the fact that 
such person is or was an agent of the corporation.  For purposes of this Section 6.1, a “director” 
or “officer” of the corporation includes any person (a) who is or was a director or officer of the 
corporation, (b) who is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director or officer of 
another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, or (c) who was a director 
or officer of a corporation which was a predecessor corporation of the corporation or of another 
enterprise at the request of such predecessor corporation. 

6.2 Indemnification Of Others 

The corporation shall have the power, to the maximum extent and in the manner 
permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, to indemnify each of its employees and 
agents (other than directors and officers) against expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, 
fines, settlements and other amounts actually and reasonably incurred in connection with any 
proceeding, arising by reason of the fact that such person is or was an agent of the corporation.  
For purposes of this Section 6.2, an “employee” or “agent” of the corporation (other than a 
director or officer) includes any person (a) who is or was an employee or agent of the 
corporation, (b) who is or was serving at the request of the corporation as an employee or agent 
of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, or (c) who was an 
employee or agent of a corporation which was a predecessor corporation of the corporation or of 
another enterprise at the request of such predecessor corporation. 

6.3 Payment Of Expenses In Advance 

Expenses incurred in defending any action or proceeding for which 
indemnification is required pursuant to Section 6.1 or for which indemnification is permitted 
pursuant to Section 6.2 following authorization thereof by the Board of Directors shall be paid by 
the corporation in advance of the final disposition of such action or proceeding upon receipt of 
an undertaking by or on behalf of the indemnified party to repay such amount if it shall 
ultimately be determined by final judicial decision from which there is no further right to appeal 
that the indemnified party is not entitled to be indemnified as authorized in this Article VI. 

6.4 Indemnity Not Exclusive 

The indemnification provided by this Article VI shall not be deemed exclusive of 
any other rights to which those seeking indemnification may be entitled under any Bylaw, 
agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in an 
official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office, to the extent that 
such additional rights to indemnification are authorized in the certificate of incorporation. 
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6.5 Insurance 

The corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person 
who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the 
request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, 
partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against him or 
her and incurred by him or her in any such capacity, or arising out of his or her status as such, 
whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify him or her against such 
liability under the provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

6.6 Conflicts 

No indemnification or advance shall be made under this Article VI, except where 
such indemnification or advance is mandated by law or the order, judgment or decree of any 
court of competent jurisdiction, in any circumstance where it appears: 

(a) That it would be inconsistent with a provision of the certificate of 
incorporation, these bylaws, a resolution of the stockholders or an agreement in effect at the time 
of the accrual of the alleged cause of the action asserted in the proceeding in which the expenses 
were incurred or other amounts were paid, which prohibits or otherwise limits indemnification; 
or 

(b) That it would be inconsistent with any condition expressly imposed by a 
court in approving a settlement. 

ARTICLE VII 

RECORDS AND REPORTS 

7.1 Maintenance And Inspection Of Records 

The corporation shall, either at its principal executive offices or at such place or 
places as designated by the Board of Directors, keep a record of its stockholders listing their 
names and addresses and the number and class of shares held by each stockholder, a copy of 
these bylaws as amended to date, accounting books, and other records. 

A complete list of stockholders entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders, 
arranged in alphabetical order for each class of stock and showing the address of each such 
stockholder and the number of shares registered in each such stockholder’s name, shall be open 
to the examination of any such stockholder for a period of at least 10 days prior to the meeting in 
the manner provided by law.  The stock list shall also be open to the examination of any 
stockholder during the whole time of the meeting as provided by law.  This list shall 
presumptively determine the identity of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting and the 
number of shares held by each of them. 

If and so long as there are fewer than one hundred (100) holders of record of the 
corporation’s shares, any state law requirement of sending of an annual report to the stockholders 
of the corporation is hereby expressly waived, to the extent permitted. 
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7.2 Inspection By Directors 

Any director shall have the right to examine the corporation’s stock ledger, a list 
of its stockholders, and its other books and records for a purpose reasonably related to his or her 
position as a director.  The Court of Chancery is hereby vested with the exclusive jurisdiction to 
determine whether a director is entitled to the inspection sought.  The Court may summarily 
order the corporation to permit the director to inspect any and all books and records, the stock 
ledger, and the stock list and to make copies or extracts therefrom.  The Court may, in its 
discretion, prescribe any limitations or conditions with reference to the inspection, or award such 
other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

ARTICLE VIII 

GENERAL MATTERS 

8.1 Checks 

From time to time, the Board of Directors shall determine by resolution which 
person or persons may sign or endorse all checks, drafts, other orders for payment of money, 
notes or other evidences of indebtedness that are issued in the name of or payable to the 
corporation, and only the persons so authorized shall sign or endorse those instruments. 

8.2 Execution Of Corporate Contracts And Instruments 

The Board of Directors, except as otherwise provided in these bylaws, may 
authorize any officer or officers, or agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute any 
instrument in the name of and on behalf of the corporation; such authority may be general or 
confined to specific instances.  Unless so authorized or ratified by the Board of Directors or 
within the agency power of an officer, no officer, agent or employee shall have any power or 
authority to bind the corporation by any contract or engagement or to pledge its credit or to 
render it liable for any purpose or for any amount. 

8.3 Stock Certificates and Notices; Uncertificated Stock; Partly Paid Shares 

The shares of the corporation may be certificated or uncertificated, as provided 
under Delaware law, and shall be entered in the books of the corporation and recorded as they 
are issued.  Any duly appointed officer of the corporation is authorized to sign share certificates.  
Any or all of the signatures on any certificate may be a facsimile or electronic signature. In case 
any officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile or electronic signature 
has been placed upon a certificate has ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before 
such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the corporation with the same effect as if he or she 
were such officer, transfer agent or registrar at the date of issue. 

Within a reasonable time after the issuance or transfer of uncertificated stock and 
upon the request of a stockholder, the corporation shall send to the record owner thereof a 
written notice that shall set forth the name of the corporation, that the corporation is organized 
under the laws of Delaware, the name of the stockholder, the number and class (and the 
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designation of the series, if any) of the shares, and any restrictions on the transfer or registration 
of such shares of stock imposed by the corporation’s certificate of incorporation, these bylaws, 
any agreement among stockholders or any agreement between stockholders and the corporation. 

The corporation may issue the whole or any part of its shares as partly paid and 
subject to call for the remainder of the consideration to be paid therefor.  Upon the face or back 
of each stock certificate (if any) issued to represent any such partly paid shares, or upon the 
books and records of the corporation in the case of uncertificated partly paid shares, the total 
amount of the consideration to be paid therefor and the amount paid thereon shall be stated.  
Upon the declaration of any dividend on fully paid shares, the corporation shall declare a 
dividend upon partly paid shares of the same class, but only upon the basis of the percentage of 
the consideration actually paid thereon. 

8.4 Special Designation On Certificates and Notices of Issuance 

If the corporation is authorized to issue more than one class of stock or more than 
one series of any class, then the powers, the designations, the preferences, and the relative, 
participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the 
qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences and/or rights shall be set forth in full 
or summarized on the face or back of the certificate that the corporation shall issue to represent 
such class or series of stock or the notice of issuance to the record owner of uncertificated stock; 
provided, however, that, except as otherwise provided in Section 202 of the Delaware General 
Corporation Law, in lieu of the foregoing requirements there may be set forth on the face or back 
of the certificate that the corporation shall issue to represent such class or series of stock or the 
notice of issuance to the record owner of uncertificated stock, or the purchase agreement for such 
stock a statement that the corporation will furnish without charge to each stockholder who so 
requests the powers, the designations, the preferences, and the relative, participating, optional or 
other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or 
restrictions of such preferences and/or rights. 

8.5 Lost Certificates 

Except as provided in this Section 8.5, no new certificates for shares shall be 
issued to replace a previously issued certificate unless the latter is surrendered to the corporation 
and cancelled at the same time.  The corporation may issue a new certificate of stock or notice of 
uncertificated stock in the place of any certificate previously issued by it, alleged to have been 
lost, stolen or destroyed, and the corporation may require the owner of the lost, stolen or 
destroyed certificate, or the owner’s legal representative, to give the corporation a bond 
sufficient to indemnify it against any claim that may be made against it on account of the alleged 
loss, theft or destruction of any such certificate or the issuance of such new certificate or 
uncertificated shares. 

8.6 Construction; Definitions 

Unless the context requires otherwise, the general provisions, rules of 
construction, and definitions in the Delaware General Corporation Law shall govern the 
construction of these bylaws.  Without limiting the generality of this provision, the singular 
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number includes the plural, the plural number includes the singular, and the term “person” 
includes both a corporation and a natural person. 

8.7 Dividends 

The directors of the corporation, subject to any restrictions contained in (a) the 
Delaware General Corporation Law or (b) the certificate of incorporation, may declare and pay 
dividends upon the shares of its capital stock.  Dividends may be paid in cash, in property, or in 
shares of the corporation’s capital stock. 

The directors of the corporation may set apart out of any of the funds of the 
corporation available for dividends a reserve or reserves for any proper purpose and may abolish 
any such reserve.  Such purposes shall include but not be limited to equalizing dividends, 
repairing or maintaining any property of the corporation, and meeting contingencies. 

8.8 Fiscal Year 

The fiscal year of the corporation shall be fixed by resolution of the Board of 
Directors and may be changed by the Board of Directors. 

8.9 Transfer Of Stock 

Upon receipt by the corporation or the transfer agent of the corporation of proper 
transfer instructions from the record holder of uncertificated shares or upon surrender to the 
corporation or the transfer agent of the corporation of a certificate for shares duly endorsed or 
accompanied by proper evidence of succession, assignation or authority to transfer, it shall be the 
duty of the corporation to issue a new certificate or, in the case of uncertificated securities and 
upon request, a notice of issuance of shares, to the person entitled thereto, cancel the old 
certificate (if any) and record the transaction in its books. 

8.10 Stock Transfer Agreements 

The corporation shall have power to enter into and perform any agreement with 
any number of stockholders of any one or more classes of stock of the corporation to restrict the 
transfer of shares of stock of the corporation of any one or more classes owned by such 
stockholders in any manner not prohibited by the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

8.11 Stockholders of Record 

The corporation shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person 
recorded on its books as the owner of shares to receive dividends and to vote as such owner, 
shall be entitled to hold liable for calls and assessments the person recorded on its books as the 
owner of shares, and shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in 
such share or shares on the part of another person, whether or not it shall have express or other 
notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by the laws of Delaware. 
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8.12 Facsimile or Electronic Signature 

In addition to the provisions for use of facsimile or electronic signatures 
elsewhere specifically authorized in these bylaws, facsimile or electronic signatures of any 
stockholder, director or officer of the corporation may be used whenever and as authorized by 
the Board of Directors or a committee thereof. 

ARTICLE IX 

AMENDMENTS 

The Bylaws of the corporation may be adopted, amended or repealed by the 
stockholders entitled to vote; provided, however, that the corporation may, in its certificate of 
incorporation, confer the power to adopt, amend or repeal Bylaws upon the directors.  The fact 
that such power has been so conferred upon the directors shall not divest the stockholders of the 
power, nor limit their power to adopt, amend or repeal Bylaws.  For so long as the corporation 
shall, directly or indirectly, control any Exchange, before any amendment to or repeal of any 
provision of these Bylaws shall be effective, those changes shall be submitted to the board of 
directors of each Exchange and if the same must be filed with or filed with and approved 
by the Commission before the changes may be effective, under Section 19 of the 1934 Act 
and the rules promulgated under the 1934 Act by the Commission or otherwise, then the 
proposed changes to these Bylaws shall not be effective until filed with or filed with and 
approved by the Commission, as the case may be. 

ARTICLE X 
SRO FUNCTIONS OF EXCHANGES 

10.1 Non-Interference. 

For so long as the corporation shall, directly or indirectly, control an Exchange, 
the directors, officers, employees and agents of the corporation shall give due regard to the 
preservation of the independence of the self-regulatory function of the Exchange and to its 
obligations to investors and the general public and shall not take actions which would interfere 
with the effectuation of decisions by the Board of Directors of the Exchange relating to its 
regulatory functions (including disciplinary matters) or which would interfere with the 
Exchange’s ability to carry out its responsibilities under the 1934 Act.  No present or past 
stockholder, employee, beneficiary, agent, customer, creditor, regulatory authority (or member 
thereof) or other person or entity shall have any rights against the corporation or any director, 
officer, employee or agent of the corporation under this Section 10.01. 

10.2 Confidentiality. 

All books and records of the Exchange reflecting confidential information 
pertaining to the self-regulatory function of the Exchange (including but not limited to 
disciplinary matters, trading data, trading practices and audit information) that shall come into 
the possession of the corporation, and the information contained in those books and records shall 
not be made available to any persons (other than as provided in the next sentence) other than to 
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those officers, directors, employees and agents of the corporation that have a reasonable need to 
know the contents thereof, and shall be retained in confidence by the corporation and the 
members of the Board of Directors, officers, employees and agents of the corporation, and shall 
not be used for any non-regulatory purposes.  Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, nothing in 
these Bylaws shall be interpreted so as to limit or impede the rights of the Commission or the 
Exchange to access and examine such confidential information pursuant to the federal securities 
laws and the rules and regulations thereunder, or to limit or impede the ability of any officers, 
directors, employees or agents of the corporation to disclose such confidential information to the 
Commission or the Exchange. 

10.3 Books and Records, etc. 

All books and records of the corporation shall be maintained at a location within 
the United States. To the extent they are related to the operation or administration of the 
Exchange, the books, records, premises, officers, directors, agents, and employees of the 
corporation shall be deemed to be the books, records, premises, officers, directors, agents and 
employees of the Exchange for the purposes of, and subject to oversight pursuant to, the 1934 
Act.  For so long as the corporation shall control, directly or indirectly, the Exchange, the 
corporation’s books and records shall be subject at all times to inspection and copying by the 
Commission and the Exchange, provided that such books and records are related to the operation 
or administration of the Exchange. 

10.4 Compliance with Securities Laws; Cooperation with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission. 

The corporation shall comply with the federal securities laws and the rules and 
regulations promulgated thereunder and shall cooperate with the Commission and the Exchange 
pursuant to and to the extent of their respective regulatory authority.  The officers, directors, 
employees and agents of the corporation, by virtue of their acceptance of such position, shall 
comply with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder and 
shall be deemed to agree to cooperate with the Commission and the Exchange in respect of the 
Commission’s oversight responsibilities regarding the Exchange and the self-regulatory 
functions and responsibilities of the Exchange, and the corporation shall take reasonable steps 
necessary to cause its officers, directors, employees and agents to so cooperate.  No present or 
past stockholder, employee, beneficiary, agent, customer, creditor, regulatory authority (or 
member thereof) or other person or entity shall have any rights against the corporation or any 
director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation under this Section 10.4. 

10.5 Consent to Jurisdiction. 

The corporation and its officers, directors, employees and agents by virtue of their 
acceptance of such positions, shall be deemed to irrevocably submit to the jurisdiction of the 
United States federal courts, the Commission, and the Exchange, for the purposes of any suit, 
action or proceeding pursuant to the United States federal securities laws, and the rules or 
regulations thereunder, arising out of, or relating to, the activities of the Exchange, and by virtue 
of their acceptance of any such position, shall be deemed to waive, and agree not to assert by 
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way of motion, as a defense or otherwise in any such suit, action or proceeding, any claims that it 
or they are not personally subject to the jurisdiction of the United States federal courts, the 
Commission or the Exchange, that the suit, action or proceeding is an inconvenient forum or that 
the venue of the suit, action or proceeding is improper, or that the subject matter of that suit, 
action or proceeding may not be enforced in or by such courts or agency.  The corporation and 
its officers, directors, employees and agents, by virtue of their acceptance of such positions, also 
agree that they will maintain an agent, in the United States, for the service of process of a claim 
arising out of, or relating to, the activities of the Exchange. 

10.6 Consent to Application. 

The corporation shall take reasonable steps necessary to cause its officers, 
directors, employees and agents, prior to accepting a position as an officer, director, employee or 
agent, as applicable, of the corporation to consent in writing to the applicability to them of this 
Article X, as applicable, with respect to their activities related to the Exchange. 
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AMENDED AND RESTATED 
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION 

OF 

LTSE SERVICES, INC. 

The undersigned, Eric Ries, hereby certifies that: 

1. The undersigned is the duly elected and acting President of LTSE Services, Inc., a 
Delaware corporation. 

2. The Certificate of Incorporation of this corporation was originally filed with the Secretary 
of State of Delaware on August 30, 2012 under the name of Long-Term Stock Exchange, 
Inc. 

3. The Certificate of Incorporation of this corporation shall be amended and restated to read 
in full as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

“The name of this corporation is LTSE Services, Inc. (the “Corporation”). 

ARTICLE II 

The address of the Corporation’s registered office in the state of Delaware is 1209 Orange 
Street, in the city of Wilmington, county of New Castle, Zip Code 19810.  The name of its 
registered agent at such address is The Corporation Trust Company. 

ARTICLE III 

The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which 
corporations may be organized under the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

ARTICLE IV 

(A)Classes of Stock.  The Corporation is authorized to issue four classes of stock to be 
designated, respectively, “Class A Common Stock,” “Class B Common Stock,” “Founders 
Preferred Stock” and “Preferred Stock.”  The total number of shares which the Corporation is 
authorized to issue is 104,589,532 shares, each with a par value of $0.0001 per share.  14,937,500 
shares shall be Class A Common Stock, 55,697,529 shares shall be Class B Common Stock, 
3,600,000 shares shall be Founders Preferred Stock and 30,354,503 shares shall be Preferred 
Stock.  The Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock shall collectively be referred to 
herein as the “Common Stock.” 

(B) Powers, Preferences, Special Rights and Restrictions of Preferred Stock. The 
Preferred Stock authorized by this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the 
“Restated Certificate”) shall be divided into series as provided herein. 1,292,445 shares of 
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Preferred Stock shall be designated “Series A-1 Preferred Stock,” 1,317,564 shares of Preferred 
Stock shall be designated “Series A-2 Preferred Stock,” 3,003,032 shares of Preferred Stock shall 
be designated “Series A-3 Preferred Stock,” 575,902 shares of Preferred Stock shall be designated 
“Series A-4 Preferred Stock,” 273,666 shares of Preferred Stock shall be designated “Series A-5 
Preferred Stock,” 3,638,729 shares of Preferred Stock shall be designated “Series A-6 Preferred 
Stock” and 20,253,165 shares of Preferred Stock shall be designated “Series A-7 Preferred Stock.” 
The Series A-1 Preferred Stock, the Series A-2 Preferred Stock, the Series A-3 Preferred Stock, 
the Series A-4 Preferred Stock, the Series A-5 Preferred Stock, the Series A-6 Preferred Stock and 
the Series A-7 Preferred Stock shall be referred to collectively herein as the “Series A Preferred 
Stock.” The powers, preferences, special rights and restrictions granted to and imposed on the 
Series A Preferred Stock are as set forth below in this Article IV(B). 

1. Dividend Provisions.  The holders of shares of Preferred Stock shall be 
entitled to receive dividends, out of any assets legally available therefor, prior and in preference to 
any declaration or payment of any dividend (payable other than in Common Stock or other 
securities and rights convertible into or entitling the holder thereof to receive, directly or indirectly, 
additional shares of Common Stock of the Corporation) on the Founders Preferred Stock and 
Common Stock of the Corporation, at the rate of 8% of the applicable Original Issue Price (as 
defined below) per share per annum on each outstanding share of Series A-1 Preferred Stock, 
Series A-2 Preferred Stock, Series A-3 Preferred Stock, Series A-4 Preferred Stock, Series A-5 
Preferred Stock, Series A-6 Preferred Stock and Series A-7 Preferred Stock then held by them; 
payable when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors of the Corporation (the “Board of 
Directors”), calculated on the record date for determination of holders entitled to such dividend. 
Such dividends shall not be cumulative.  After payment of such dividends, any additional 
dividends shall be distributed among the holders of Preferred Stock, Founders Preferred Stock and 
Common Stock pro rata based on the number of shares of Common Stock then held by each holder 
(assuming conversion of all such Preferred Stock and Founders Preferred Stock into Common 
Stock), calculated on the record date for determination of holders entitled to such dividend. The 
“Original Issue Price” shall mean $0.1973 per share with respect to the Series A-1 Preferred Stock, 
$0.296 per share with respect to the Series A-2 Preferred Stock, $0.3946 per share with respect to 
the Series A-3 Preferred Stock, $0.4341 per share with respect to the Series A-4 Preferred Stock, 
$0.4933 per share with respect to the Series A-5 Preferred Stock, $0.5919 per share with respect 
to the Series A-6 Preferred Stock and $0.9875 per share with respect to the Series A-7 Preferred 
Stock, in each case as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reclassifications and the like. 

2. Liquidation. 

(a) Preference.  In the event of any Liquidation Transaction, the 
holders of Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive, prior and in preference to any distribution 
of any of the assets of the Corporation to the holders of Founders Preferred Stock and Common 
Stock, by reason of their ownership thereof, an amount per share equal to applicable Original Issue 
Price per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reclassification and the like) for each 
outstanding share of Series A-1 Preferred Stock, Series A-2 Preferred Stock, Series A-3 Preferred 
Stock, Series A-4 Preferred Stock, Series A-5 Preferred Stock, Series A-6 Preferred Stock and 
Series A-7 Preferred Stock then held by them, plus any declared but unpaid dividends on such 
shares.  If, upon the occurrence of such event, the assets and funds thus distributed among the 
holders of Preferred Stock shall be insufficient to permit the payment to such holders of the full 
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aforesaid preferential amounts, then the entire assets and funds of the Corporation legally available 
for distribution shall be distributed ratably among the holders of Preferred Stock in proportion to 
the preferential amount each such holder is otherwise entitled to receive under this Section 2(a). 

(b) Remaining Assets. Upon the completion of the distribution 
required by Article IV(B)2(a) above, the remaining assets of the Corporation available for 
distribution to stockholders shall be distributed among the holders of the Founders Preferred Stock 
and Common Stock pro rata based on the number of shares of Common Stock held by each 
(assuming conversion of all such Founders Preferred Stock into Common Stock). 

(c) Deemed Conversion. Notwithstanding the above, for purposes of 
determining the amount each holder of shares of Preferred Stock is entitled to receive with respect 
to a Liquidation Transaction, as defined below, each such holder of shares of Preferred Stock shall 
be deemed to have converted (regardless of whether such holder actually converted) such holder’s 
shares of such series into shares of Class B Common Stock immediately prior to the Liquidation 
Transaction if, as a result of an actual conversion, such holder would receive, in the aggregate, an 
amount greater than the amount that would be distributed to such holder if such holder did not 
convert such series of Preferred Stock into shares of Class B Common Stock.  If any such holder 
shall be deemed to have converted shares of Preferred Stock into Class B Common Stock pursuant 
to this paragraph, then such holder shall not be entitled to receive any distribution that would 
otherwise be made to holders of Preferred Stock that have not converted (or have not been deemed 
to have converted) into shares of Class B Common Stock. 

(d) Certain Acquisitions. 

(i) Deemed Liquidation.  For purposes of this Article IV(B)2, 
a “Liquidation Transaction” shall be deemed to occur if the Corporation shall (I) sell, convey, 
exclusively license or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets, property or business, 
(II) merge with or into or consolidate with any other corporation, limited liability company or other 
entity (other than a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation), or (III) effect a liquidation, 
dissolution or winding up of the Corporation pursuant to the applicable provisions of Section 275 
of the Delaware General Corporation Law; provided, however that none of the following shall be 
considered a Liquidation Transaction: (A) a merger effected exclusively for the purpose of 
changing the domicile of the Corporation, (B) a bona fide equity financing in which the 
Corporation is the surviving corporation or (C) a transaction in which the stockholders of the 
Corporation immediately prior to the transaction have sufficient rights (by law or contract) to elect 
or designate 50% or more of the directors of the surviving or acquiring entity following the 
transaction (as appropriately adjusted for any disparate director voting rights). In the event of a 
Liquidation Transaction pursuant to the provisions of subsection (II) above, all references in this 
Article IV(B)2 to “assets of the Corporation” shall be deemed instead to refer to the aggregate 
consideration to be paid to the holders of the Corporation’s capital stock in such merger or 
consolidation.  If any portion of the consideration payable to the holders of the Corporation’s 
capital stock is placed into escrow and/or is payable to the holders of the Corporation’s capital 
stock subject to contingencies, the applicable merger agreement shall provide that (1) the portion 
of such consideration that is not placed in escrow and not subject to any contingencies (the “Initial 
Consideration”) shall be allocated among the holders of capital stock of the Corporation in 
accordance with this Article IV(B)2 as if the Initial Consideration were the only consideration 
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payable in connection with such Liquidation Transaction and (2) any additional consideration 
which becomes payable to the holders of the Corporation’s capital stock upon release from escrow 
or satisfaction of contingencies shall be allocated among the holders of capital stock of the 
Corporation in accordance with this Article IV(B)2 after taking into account the previous payment 
of the Initial Consideration as part of the same transaction. Nothing in this subsection (i) shall 
require the distribution to stockholders of anything other than proceeds of such transaction in the 
event of a merger or consolidation of the Corporation.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
treatment of any transaction as a Liquidation Transaction may be waived by the vote or written 
consent of the holders of a majority of the Corporation’s outstanding Preferred Stock, voting 
together as a single class on an as-converted basis. 

(ii) Valuation of Consideration.  In the event of a Liquidation 
Transaction, if the consideration received by the Corporation is other than cash, its value will be 
deemed its fair market value.  Any securities shall be valued as determined in good faith by the 
Board of Directors.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the methods for valuing non-cash 
consideration to be distributed in connection with a Liquidation Transaction shall, with the 
appropriate approval by the stockholders under the Delaware General Corporation Law of the 
definitive agreements governing such Liquidation Transaction and Article IV(B)6 below, be 
superseded by the determination of such value set forth in the definitive agreements governing 
such Liquidation Transaction. 

3. Redemption. The Preferred Stock is not mandatorily redeemable. 

4. Conversion.  The holders of shares of Preferred Stock shall be entitled to 
conversion rights as follows: 

(a) Right to Convert. Subject to Article IV(B)4(c) below, each share 
of Preferred Stock shall be convertible, at the option of the holder thereof, at any time after the 
date of issuance of such share, at the office of the Corporation or any transfer agent for such stock, 
into such number of fully paid and nonassessable shares of Class B Common Stock as is 
determined by dividing the applicable Original Issue Price (as adjusted for any stock splits, stock 
dividends, combinations, subdivisions, recapitalizations or the like) for such series of Preferred 
Stock, by the Conversion Price applicable to such shares (such quotient is referred to herein as the 
“Conversion Rate”), determined as hereafter provided, in effect on (i) the date the certificate is 
surrendered for conversion or (ii) in the case of uncertificated securities, the date the notice of 
conversion is received by the Corporation.  The initial “Conversion Price” per share shall be 
$0.1973 in the case of the Series A-1 Preferred Stock, $0.296 in the case of the Series A-2 Preferred 
Stock, $0.3946 in the case of the Series A-3 Preferred Stock, $0.4341 in the case of the Series A-
4 Preferred Stock, $0.4933 in the case of the Series A-5 Preferred Stock, $0.5919 in the case of 
the Series A-6 Preferred Stock and $0.9875 in the case of the Series A-7 Preferred Stock.  Such 
initial Conversion Prices shall be subject to adjustment as set forth in Article IV(B)4(d) below. 

(b) Automatic Conversion. Each share of Preferred Stock shall 
automatically be converted into such number of shares of Class B Common Stock equal to the 
Conversion Rate then in effect for such share immediately upon the earlier of (i) except as provided 
in Article IV(B)4(c) below, the Corporation’s sale of its Common Stock in a firm commitment 
underwritten public offering pursuant to a registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, 
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as amended (the “Securities Act”), the public offering price of which is not less than $4.9375 per 
share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reclassification and the like) and which results 
in aggregate cash proceeds to the Corporation of not less than $25,000,000, net of underwriting 
discounts and commissions (a “Qualified IPO”) or (ii) the date, or upon the occurrence of an event, 
specified by vote or written consent of the holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of 
Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class on an as-converted basis. 

(c) Mechanics of Conversion.  Before any holder of Preferred Stock 
shall be entitled to convert such Preferred Stock into shares of Class B Common Stock, the holder 
shall give written notice to the Corporation at its principal corporate office, of the election to 
convert the same and shall state therein the name or names in which the shares of Class B Common 
Stock are to be issued and, in the case of Preferred Stock represented by a certificate, the holder 
shall surrender the certificate or certificates therefor, duly endorsed, at the office of the Corporation 
or of any transfer agent for such series of Preferred Stock.  The Corporation shall, as soon as 
practicable thereafter, issue and deliver at such office to such holder of Preferred Stock, or to the 
nominee or nominees of such holder, a certificate or certificates or, upon request in the case of 
uncertificated securities, a notice of issuance, for the number of shares of Class B Common Stock 
to which such holder shall be entitled as aforesaid.  Such conversion shall be deemed to have been 
made immediately prior to the close of business on the date of such surrender of certificates, or in 
the case of uncertificated securities, on the date such notice of conversion is received by the 
Corporation, and the person or persons entitled to receive the shares of Class B Common Stock 
issuable upon such conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the record holder or holders of 
such shares of Class B Common Stock as of such date.  If the conversion is in connection with a 
firm commitment underwritten public offering of securities, the conversion may, at the option of 
any holder tendering such Preferred Stock for conversion, be conditioned upon the closing of the 
sale of securities pursuant to such offering, in which event any persons entitled to receive Class B 
Common Stock upon conversion of such Preferred Stock shall not be deemed to have converted 
such Preferred Stock until immediately prior to the closing of such sale of securities. 

(d) Conversion Price Adjustments of Preferred Stock for Certain 
Dilutive Issuances, Splits and Combinations. The Conversion Prices of the Preferred Stock shall 
be subject to adjustment from time to time as follows: 

(i) Issuance of Additional Stock Below Purchase Price. If 
the Corporation should issue, at any time after the date upon which any shares of Series A Preferred 
Stock were first issued (the “Purchase Date”), any Additional Stock (as defined below) without 
consideration or for a consideration per share less than the applicable Conversion Price for the 
Series A Preferred Stock in effect immediately prior to the issuance of such Additional Stock (as 
adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reclassification and the like), the Conversion Price for 
such series in effect immediately prior to each such issuance shall automatically be adjusted as set 
forth in this Article IV(B)4(d)(i), unless otherwise provided in this Article IV(B)4(d)(i). 

(A) Adjustment Formula. Whenever the Conversion 
Price is adjusted pursuant to this Article IV(B)4(d)(i), the new Conversion Price for such series 
shall be determined by multiplying the Conversion Price for such series then in effect by a fraction, 
(x) the numerator of which shall be the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding 
immediately prior to such issuance (the “Outstanding Common”) plus the number of shares of 
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Common Stock that the aggregate consideration received by the Corporation for such issuance 
would purchase at such Conversion Price; and (y) the denominator of which shall be the number 
of shares of Outstanding Common plus the number of shares of such Additional Stock.  For 
purposes of the foregoing calculation, the term “Outstanding Common” shall include shares of 
Common Stock deemed issued pursuant to Article IV(B)4(d)(i)(E) below. 

(B) Definition of “Additional Stock”.  For purposes of 
this Article IV(B)4(d)(i), “Additional Stock” shall mean any shares of Common Stock issued (or 
deemed to have been issued pursuant to Article IV(B)4(d)(i)(E) below) by the Corporation after 
the Purchase Date, other than: 

(1) securities issued pursuant to stock splits, 
stock dividends or similar transactions, as described in Article IV(B)4(d)(ii) below; 

(2) securities issuable upon conversion, 
exchange or exercise of convertible, exchangeable or exercisable securities outstanding as of the 
Purchase Date including, without limitation, warrants, notes or options; 

(3) Common Stock (or options therefor) issued 
or issuable to employees, consultants, officers, directors of the Corporation or other persons 
performing services for the Corporation pursuant to stock option plans or restricted stock plans or 
agreements approved by the Board of Directors; 

(4) Common Stock issued or issuable in a public 
offering in connection with which all outstanding shares of Preferred Stock are converted to 
Common Stock; 

(5) securities issued or issuable in connection 
with the acquisition by the Corporation of another company or business; 

(6) securities issued or issuable to financial 
institutions, equipment lessors, brokers or similar persons in connection with commercial credit 
arrangements, equipment financings, commercial property lease transactions or similar 
transactions; 

(7) securities issued or issuable to an entity as a 
component of any business relationship with such entity primarily for the purpose of (a) joint 
venture, technology licensing or development activities, (b) distribution, supply or manufacture of 
the Corporation’s products or services or (c) any other arrangements involving corporate partners 
that are primarily for purposes other than raising capital, the terms of which business relationship 
with such entity are approved by the Board of Directors, including the Series A Director; 

(8) Class B Common Stock issued upon 
conversion of the Class A Common Stock; 

(9) Class A Common Stock issued upon 
conversion of the Founders Preferred Stock; 
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(10) Class B Common Stock issued or issuable 
upon conversion of the Preferred Stock and Founders Preferred Stock; and 

(11) securities issued or issuable in any other 
transaction for which exemption from these price-based antidilution provisions is approved before 
or after issuance of the securities by the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the then-
outstanding shares of Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class on an as-converted basis; 
provided, however, that any adjustment to the Conversion Price of the Series A-7 Preferred Stock 
shall only be waived with the approval of the holders of a majority of the then-outstanding shares 
of Series A-7 Preferred Stock. 

(C) No Fractional Adjustments.  No adjustment of the 
Conversion Price for the Preferred Stock shall be made in an amount less than one cent per share 
(as adjusted for any stock splits, stock dividends, combinations,  subdivisions, recapitalizations or 
the like), provided that any adjustments which are not required to be made by reason of this 
sentence shall be carried forward and shall be either taken into account in any subsequent 
adjustment made prior to three years from the date of the event giving rise to the adjustment being 
carried forward, or shall be made at the end of three years from the date of the event giving rise to 
the adjustment being carried forward. 

(D) Determination of Consideration. In the case of the 
issuance of Common Stock for cash, the consideration shall be deemed to be the amount of cash 
paid therefor before deducting any reasonable discounts, commissions or other expenses allowed, 
paid or incurred by the Corporation for any underwriting or otherwise in connection with the 
issuance and sale thereof.  In the case of the issuance of the Common Stock for a consideration in 
whole or in part other than cash, the consideration other than cash shall be deemed to be the fair 
market value thereof as determined by the Board of Directors irrespective of any accounting 
treatment. 

(E) Deemed Issuances of Common Stock. In the case 
of the issuance of securities or rights convertible into, exercisable or exchangeable into, or entitling 
the holder thereof to receive directly or indirectly, additional shares of Common Stock (the 
“Common Stock Equivalents”), the following provisions shall apply for all purposes of this 
Article IV(B)4(d)(i): 

(1) The aggregate maximum number of shares of 
Common Stock deliverable upon conversion, exchange or exercise (assuming the satisfaction of 
any conditions to convertibility, exchangeability or exercisability, including, without limitation, 
the passage of time, but without taking into account potential antidilution adjustments) of any 
Common Stock Equivalents and subsequent conversion, exchange or exercise thereof shall be 
deemed to have been issued at the time such securities were issued or such Common Stock 
Equivalents were issued and for a consideration equal to the consideration, if any, received by the 
Corporation for any such securities and related Common Stock Equivalents (excluding any cash 
received on account of accrued interest or accrued dividends), plus the minimum additional 
consideration, if any, to be received by the Corporation (without taking into account potential 
antidilution adjustments and without double counting for cancellation of indebtedness) upon the 
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conversion, exchange or exercise of any Common Stock Equivalents (the consideration in each 
case to be determined in the manner provided in Article IV(B)4(d)(i)(D) above). 

(2) In the event of any change in the number of 
shares of Common Stock deliverable or in the consideration payable to the Corporation upon 
conversion, exchange or exercise of any Common Stock Equivalents, other than a change resulting 
from the antidilution provisions thereof, the Conversion Price of any series of Preferred Stock, to 
the extent in any way affected by or computed using such Common Stock Equivalents, shall be 
recomputed to reflect such change, but no further adjustment shall be made for the actual issuance 
of Common Stock or any payment of such consideration upon the conversion, exchange or exercise 
of such Common Stock Equivalents. 

(3) Upon the termination or expiration of the 
convertibility, exchangeability or exercisability of any Common Stock Equivalents, the 
Conversion Price of any series of Preferred Stock, to the extent in any way affected by or computed 
using such Common Stock Equivalents, shall be recomputed to reflect the issuance of only the 
number of shares of Common Stock (and Common Stock Equivalents that remain convertible, 
exchangeable or exercisable) actually issued upon the conversion, exchange or exercise of such 
Common Stock Equivalents. 

(4) The number of shares of Common Stock 
deemed issued and the consideration deemed paid therefor pursuant to Article IV(B)4(d)(i)(D) 
above shall be appropriately adjusted to reflect any change, termination or expiration of the type 
described in either Article IV(B)4(d)(i)(E)(2) above or Article IV(B)4(d)(i)(E)(3) above. 

(F) No Increased Conversion Price. Notwithstanding 
any other provisions of this Article IV(B)4(d)(i), except to the limited extent provided for in 
Article IV(B)4(d)(i)(E)(2) above and Article IV(B)4(d)(i)(E)(3) above, no adjustment of the 
Conversion Price pursuant to this Article IV(B)4(d)(i) shall have the effect of increasing the 
Conversion Price above the Conversion Price in effect immediately prior to such adjustment.  

(ii) Stock Splits and Combinations.  In the event the 
Corporation should at any time after the filing date of this Restated Certificate fix a record date for 
the effectuation of a split or subdivision of the outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, then, 
as of such record date (or the date of such split or subdivision if no record date is fixed), the 
Conversion Price of each series of Preferred Stock that is convertible into Class B Common Stock 
shall be appropriately proportionately decreased so that the number of shares of Class B Common 
Stock issuable on conversion of each share of such series shall be increased in proportion to such 
increase in the aggregate number of shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding.  If the number 
of shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding at any time after the filing date of this Restated 
Certificate is decreased by a combination of the outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock, 
then, following the record date of such combination (or the date of such combination if no record 
date is fixed), the Conversion Price for each series of Preferred Stock that is convertible into 
Class B Common Stock shall be appropriately proportionally increased so that the number of 
shares of Class B Common Stock issuable on conversion of each share of such series shall be 
decreased in proportion to such decrease in the aggregate number of shares of Class B Common 
Stock outstanding. 

552



     
    

  
  

 
    

  
    

   
 

  

    
  

 

   
  
 

 
 

  
  

  
 

     
  

   
    

 
 

  
 

   
   

    
    

        
    

    
    

  
   

(iii) Dividends. In the event the Corporation should at any time 
after the filing date of this Restated Certificate fix a record date for the determination of holders 
of Class B Common Stock entitled to receive a dividend or other distribution payable in additional 
shares of Class B Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents (such Common Stock 
Equivalents, if any, “Additional Common Stock Equivalents”) without payment of any 
consideration by such holder for the additional shares of Class B Common Stock or the Additional 
Common Stock Equivalents (including the additional shares of Class B Common Stock issuable 
upon conversion or exercise thereof), then, as of such record date (or the date of such dividend 
distribution if no record date is fixed), the Conversion Price of each series of Preferred Stock that 
is convertible into Class B Common Stock shall be appropriately proportionally decreased by 
multiplying the Conversion Price then in effect by a fraction: 

(A) the numerator of which shall be the total number of shares 
of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the time of such issuance or the 
close of business on such record date, and 

(B) the denominator of which shall be the total number of shares 
of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the time of such issuance or the 
close of business on such record date plus the number of shares of Class B Common Stock issuable 
in payment of such dividend or distribution and those issuable with respect to such Additional 
Common Stock Equivalents. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) if such record date shall have been fixed and such dividend is 
not fully paid or if such distribution is not fully made on the date fixed therefor, the Conversion 
Price of each series of Preferred Stock that is convertible into Class B Common Stock shall be 
recomputed accordingly as of the close of business on such record date and thereafter the 
Conversion Price of each series of Preferred Stock that is convertible into Class B Common Stock 
shall be adjusted pursuant to this subsection as of the time of actual payment of such dividends or 
distributions; and (b) that no such adjustment shall be made if the holders of a series of Preferred 
Stock simultaneously receive a dividend or other distribution of shares of Class B Common Stock 
or Common Stock Equivalents in a number equal to the number of shares of Class B Common 
Stock or Common Stock Equivalents as they would have received if all outstanding shares of such 
series of Preferred Stock had been converted into Class B Common Stock on the date of such 
event. 

(e) Other Distributions.  In the event the Corporation shall declare a 
distribution payable in securities of other persons, evidences of indebtedness issued by the 
Corporation or other persons, assets (excluding cash dividends) or options or rights not referred to 
in Article IV(B)4(d)(i) above or in Article IV(B)4(d)(ii) above, then, in each such case for the 
purpose of this Article IV(B)4(e), the holders of each series of Preferred Stock that is convertible 
into Class B Common Stock shall be entitled to a proportionate share of any such distribution as 
though they were the holders of the number of shares of Class B Common Stock of the Corporation 
into which their shares of Preferred Stock are convertible as of the record date fixed for the 
determination of the holders of Class B Common Stock of the Corporation entitled to receive such 
distribution (or the date of such distribution if no record date is fixed). 
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(f) Recapitalizations. If at any time or from time to time there shall be 
a recapitalization of the Class B Common Stock (other than a subdivision, combination or merger 
or sale of assets transaction provided for elsewhere in Article IV(B)2 above or this Article IV(B)4) 
provision shall be made so that the holders of each series of Preferred Stock that is convertible into 
Class B Common Stock shall thereafter be entitled to receive upon conversion of such Preferred 
Stock the number of shares of stock or other securities or property of the Corporation or otherwise, 
to which a holder of Class B Common Stock deliverable upon conversion would have been entitled 
on such recapitalization.  In any such case, appropriate adjustment shall be made in the application 
of the provisions of this Article IV(B)4 with respect to the rights of the holders of such Preferred 
Stock after the recapitalization to the end that the provisions of this Article IV(B)4 (including 
adjustment of the Conversion Price then in effect and the number of shares issuable upon 
conversion of such Preferred Stock) shall be applicable after that event and be as nearly equivalent 
as practicable. 

(g) No Fractional Shares and Notices as to Adjustments. 

(i) No fractional shares shall be issued upon the conversion of 
any share or shares of Preferred Stock, and the number of shares of Class B Common Stock to be 
issued to a particular stockholder shall be rounded down to the nearest whole share.  The number 
of shares issuable upon such conversion shall be determined on the basis of the total number of 
shares of Preferred Stock the holder is at the time converting into Class B Common Stock and the 
number of shares of Class B Common Stock issuable upon such aggregate conversion.  If the 
conversion would result in any fractional share, the Corporation shall, in lieu of issuing any such 
fractional share, upon demand by the stockholder otherwise entitled to such fractional share, pay 
the holder thereof an amount in cash equal to the fair market value of such fractional share on the 
date of conversion, as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors. 

(ii) Upon the occurrence of each adjustment or readjustment of 
the Conversion Price of Preferred Stock pursuant to this Article IV(B)4, the Corporation, at its 
expense, shall promptly compute such adjustment or readjustment in accordance with the terms 
hereof and prepare and furnish to each holder of such Preferred Stock a notice setting forth such 
adjustment or readjustment and showing in detail the facts upon which such adjustment or 
readjustment is based.  The Corporation shall, upon the written request at any time of any holder 
of such Preferred Stock, furnish or cause to be furnished to such holder a notice setting forth 
(A) such adjustment and readjustment, (B) the Conversion Price for such series of Preferred Stock 
at the time in effect and (C) the number of shares of Class B Common Stock and the amount, if 
any, of other property which at the time would be received upon the conversion of a share of such 
series of Preferred Stock. 

(h) Notices of Record Date.  In the event of any taking by the 
Corporation of a record of the holders of any class of securities for the purpose of determining the 
holders thereof who are entitled to receive any dividend (other than a cash dividend) or other 
distribution, any right to subscribe for, purchase or otherwise acquire any shares of stock of any 
class or any other securities or property, or to receive any other right, the Corporation shall mail 
to each holder of Preferred Stock, at least 10 days prior to the date specified therein, a notice 
specifying the date on which any such record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, 
distribution or right, and the amount and character of such dividend, distribution or right. 
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(i) Reservation of Stock Issuable Upon Conversion. The 
Corporation shall at all times reserve and keep available out of its authorized but unissued shares 
of Class B Common Stock, solely for the purpose of effecting the conversion of the shares of each 
series of Preferred Stock that is convertible into Class B Common Stock, such number of its shares 
of Class B Common Stock as shall from time to time be sufficient to effect the conversion of all 
outstanding shares of such series of Preferred Stock; and if at any time the number of authorized 
but unissued shares of Class B Common Stock shall not be sufficient to effect the conversion of 
all then outstanding shares of such series of Preferred Stock, in addition to such other remedies as 
shall be available to the holder of such Preferred Stock, the Corporation will take such corporate 
action as may, in the opinion of its counsel, be necessary to increase its authorized but unissued 
shares of Class B Common Stock to such number of shares as shall be sufficient for such purposes, 
including, without limitation, engaging in best efforts to obtain the requisite stockholder approval 
of any necessary amendment to this Restated Certificate. 

(j) Notices.  Any notice required by the provisions of this 
Article IV(B)4 to be given to the holders of shares of Preferred Stock shall be deemed given if 
deposited in the U.S. mail, postage prepaid, and addressed to each holder of record at such holder’s 
address appearing on the books of the Corporation or delivered to such holder by electronic 
transmission using the contact information previously provided by such holder to the Corporation. 

5. Voting Rights and Powers.  Except as expressly provided by this Restated 
Certificate or as provided by law, the holders of Preferred Stock shall be entitled to the same voting 
rights as the holders of the Class B Common Stock and to notice of any stockholders’ meeting in 
accordance with the Bylaws of the Corporation, and the holders of Common Stock and the holders 
of Preferred Stock shall vote together as a single class on all matters.  Each holder of Series A 
Preferred Stock shall be entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of Class B 
Common Stock into which such shares of Preferred Stock could be converted.  Fractional votes 
shall not, however, be permitted and any fractional voting rights available on an as-converted basis 
(after aggregating all shares into which shares of Preferred Stock held by each holder could be 
converted) shall be rounded down to the nearest whole number. 

6. Election of Directors.  The holders of record of the shares of Series A 
Preferred Stock, exclusively and as a separate class, shall be entitled to elect one director of the 
Corporation (the “Series A Director”), which Series A Director shall have one (1) vote on any 
matter presented to the Board of Directors, and the holders of record of the shares of Class A 
Common Stock, Class B Common Stock and Founders Preferred Stock, exclusively and voting 
together as a single class, shall be entitled to elect two directors of the Corporation, one of whom 
shall have three (3) votes on any matter presented to the Board of Directors (the “Super-Voting 
Common Director”) and one of whom shall have one (1) vote on any matter presented to the Board 
of Directors (the “Common Director”).  Any director elected as provided in the preceding sentence 
may be removed without cause by, and only by, the affirmative vote of the holders of the shares 
of the class or series of capital stock entitled to elect such director or directors, given either at a 
special meeting of such stockholders duly called for that purpose or pursuant to a written consent 
of stockholders.  If the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock or the holders of shares of 
Class A Common Stock, Class B Common Stock and Founders Preferred Stock, as the case may 
be, fail to elect a sufficient number of directors to fill all directorships for which they are entitled 
to elect directors, then any directorship not so filled shall remain vacant until such time as the 
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holders of the Series A Preferred Stock or the holders of the Class A Common Stock, Class B 
Common Stock and Founders Preferred Stock, as the case may be, elect a person to fill such 
directorship by vote or written consent in lieu of a meeting; and no such directorship may be filled 
by stockholders of the Corporation other than by the stockholders of the Corporation that are 
entitled to elect a person to fill such directorship, voting exclusively and as a separate class. The 
holders of record of the shares of Common Stock and of any other class or series of voting stock 
(including the Series A Preferred Stock), exclusively and voting together as a single class, shall be 
entitled to elect the balance of the total number of directors of the Corporation, and any additional 
director so elected shall have one (1) vote on any matter presented to the Board of Directors.  At 
any meeting held for the purpose of electing a director, the presence in person or by proxy of the 
holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the class or series entitled to elect such director 
shall constitute a quorum for the purpose of electing such director.  Except as otherwise provided 
in this Section 6, a vacancy in any directorship filled by the holders of any class or series shall be 
filled only by vote or written consent in lieu of a meeting of the holders of such class or series or 
by any remaining director or directors elected by the holders of such class or series pursuant to this 
Section 6. 

7. Protective Provisions. So long as at least 2,000,000 shares (as adjusted for 
stock splits, stock dividends, reclassification and the like) of Preferred Stock are outstanding, the 
Corporation shall not (by amendment, merger, consolidation or otherwise) do any of the following 
without first obtaining the approval (by vote or written consent, as provided by law, and either 
prospectively or retrospectively) of the holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of 
Preferred Stock (as adjusted for any stock splits, stock dividends, combinations, subdivisions, 
recapitalizations or the like), voting together as a single class on an as-converted to Class B 
Common Stock basis: 

(a) effect a Liquidation Transaction; 

(b) declare or pay a dividend or other distribution with respect to any 
shares of the Corporation’s capital stock other than the Series A Preferred Stock prior to paying a 
dividend or other distribution on the Series A Preferred Stock; 

(c) redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire (or pay into or set aside funds 
for a sinking fund for such purpose) any share or shares of Preferred Stock, Founders Preferred 
Stock or Common Stock other than the Series A Preferred Stock prior to redeeming, purchasing, 
or otherwise acquiring any share or shares of Series A Preferred Stock; provided, however, that 
this restriction shall not apply to the repurchase of shares of Common Stock from employees, 
consultants, officers or directors of the Corporation, or other persons performing services for the 
Corporation or any subsidiary pursuant to agreements under which the Corporation has the option 
to repurchase such shares upon the occurrence of certain events, such as the termination of 
employment (at the lower of original cost or fair market value), or through the exercise of any right 
of first refusal; 

(d) create, authorize or issue any debt security if the aggregate 
indebtedness of the Corporation and its subsidiaries for borrowed money following such action 
would exceed $1,000,000; 
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(e) create or take any action that results in holding the capital stock of 
any subsidiary that is not wholly owned (directly or indirectly) by the Corporation; 

(f) dispose of any subsidiary stock or all or substantially all of any 
subsidiary assets; 

(g) change the number of authorized directors; 

(h) increase or decrease the authorized number of shares of Common 
Stock, Founders Preferred Stock or Preferred Stock (or any series thereof); 

(i) amend, alter or repeal any provision of the Certificate of 
Incorporation or Bylaws of the Corporation in a manner that materially adversely affects the 
holders of the Series A Preferred Stock; or 

(j) create, or authorize the creation of any additional class or series of 
capital stock unless the same ranks junior to the Series A Preferred Stock with respect to 
conversion rights, the payment of dividends, voting rights, and the distribution of assets upon the 
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation. 

8. Status of Converted Stock.  In the event any shares of Preferred Stock 
shall be converted pursuant to Article IV(B)4 above hereof, the shares so converted shall be 
cancelled and shall not be issuable by the Corporation.  The Corporation shall take all such actions 
as are necessary to cause this Restated Certificate to be appropriately amended to effect the 
corresponding reduction in the Corporation’s authorized capital stock and the authorized shares of 
Preferred Stock. 

9. Waiver of Rights.  Except as otherwise set forth in this Restated Certificate, 
any of the rights, powers, preferences and other terms of a particular series of Preferred Stock set 
forth herein may be waived (either prospectively or retrospectively) on behalf of all holders of 
such series of Preferred Stock and with respect to all shares of such series of Preferred Stock by 
the approval (by vote or written consent, as provided by law) of the holders of a majority of the 
shares of such series of Preferred Stock then outstanding. 

(C) Powers, Rights, Preferences, Privileges and Restrictions of Founders Preferred 
Stock.  The powers, rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions granted to and imposed on the 
Founders Preferred Stock are as set forth below in this Article IV(C). 

1. Dividend Provisions. The holders of shares of Founders Preferred Stock 
shall be entitled to receive, out of any assets legally available therefor, such dividends (other than 
payable solely in Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents, as defined below), when, as and 
if declared by the Board of Directors, on a pro rata basis with the holders of Common Stock based 
on the number of shares of Common Stock held by each (assuming conversion of all such Founders 
Preferred Stock into Common Stock), calculated on the record date for determination of holders 
entitled to such dividend. 
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2. Liquidation Rights.  Upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the 
Corporation, or the occurrence of a Liquidation Transaction, the assets of the Corporation shall be 
distributed as provided in Article IV(B)2 above. 

3. Redemption.  The Founders Preferred Stock is not mandatorily 
redeemable. 

4. Conversion.  The holders of shares of Founders Preferred Stock shall be 
entitled to conversion rights as follows: 

(a) Right to Convert to Common Stock. Subject to Article IV(C)4(d) 
below, each share of Founders Preferred Stock shall be convertible, at the option of the holder 
thereof, at any time after the date of issuance of such share, at the office of the Corporation or any 
transfer agent for such stock, into such number of fully paid and nonassessable shares of Class A 
Common Stock as is determined by dividing $0.0001 (as adjusted for any stock splits, stock 
dividends, combinations, subdivisions, recapitalizations or the like) by the Conversion Price 
applicable to such shares (the conversion rate for Founders Preferred Stock into Common Stock is 
referred to herein as the “Founders Preferred Conversion Rate”), determined as hereafter provided, 
in effect on (i) the date the certificate is surrendered for conversion or (ii) in the case of 
uncertificated securities, the date the notice of conversion is received by the Corporation.  Any 
transfer of shares of Founders Preferred Stock that is neither (A) made in connection with an 
Equity Financing (as such term is defined in Article IV(C)4(h) below), nor (B) authorized by a 
majority of the Board of Directors (including the Series A Director), shall be deemed an election 
of an option to convert such shares into Class B Common Stock and each such transferred share 
of Founders Preferred Stock shall automatically convert into such number of fully paid and 
nonassessable shares of Class B Common Stock as is determined by dividing $0.0001 (as adjusted 
for any stock splits, stock dividends, combinations, subdivisions, recapitalizations or the like) by 
the Conversion Price applicable to such share, determined as hereafter provided, effective 
immediately prior to such transfer. The initial Conversion Price per share of Founders Preferred 
Stock shall be $0.0001.  Such initial Conversion Price shall be subject to adjustment as set forth in 
Article IV(C)4(e) below. 

(b) Automatic Conversion. Each share of Founders Preferred Stock 
shall automatically be converted into shares of Class A Common Stock at the Founders Preferred 
Conversion Rate then in effect for such share immediately upon the earlier of (i) except as provided 
in Article IV(C)4(d) below, a Qualified IPO or (ii) the date specified by vote or written consent of 
the holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of Founders Preferred Stock, voting 
together as a class. 

(c) Automatic Conversion Upon Transfer.  Each share of Founders 
Preferred Stock shall automatically, without any further action by the holder or the Corporation, 
convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B Common Stock upon the 
Transfer (as defined below) of such share; provided, however, that a Transfer of Founders 
Preferred Stock by a Founders Preferred Stockholder (as defined below) or such Founders 
Preferred Stockholder’s Founders Preferred Permitted Entities (as defined below) to another 
Founders Preferred Stockholder or such Founders Preferred Stockholder’s Founders Preferred 
Permitted Entities shall not trigger such automatic conversion; provided further, however, that a 
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Transfer by a Founders Preferred Stockholder to any of the following Founders Preferred 
Permitted Entities, or from any of the following Founders Preferred Permitted Entities to such 
Founders Preferred Stockholder or any other Founders Preferred Permitted Entity by or for such 
Founders Preferred Stockholder shall not trigger such automatic conversion: 

(i) a trust for the benefit of such Founders Preferred 
Stockholder and for the benefit of no other person, provided such Transfer does not involve any 
payment of cash, securities, property or other consideration (other than an interest in such trust) to 
the Founders Preferred Stockholder  (a “Clause (i) Founders Preferred Permitted Trust”), and, 
provided, further, that in the event and at such time as such Founders Preferred Stockholder is no 
longer the exclusive beneficiary of such trust, each share of Founders Preferred Stock then held by 
such trust shall automatically convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B 
Common Stock; 

(ii) a trust for the benefit of persons other than the Founders 
Preferred Stockholder so long as the Founders Preferred Stockholder has sole dispositive power 
and exclusive Voting Control (as defined below) with respect to the shares of Founders Preferred 
Stock held by such trust, provided such Transfer does not involve any payment of cash, securities, 
property or other consideration (other than an interest in such trust) to the Founders Preferred 
Stockholder (“Clause (ii) Founders Preferred Permitted Trust”); provided that in the event and at 
such time as the Founders Preferred Stockholder no longer has sole dispositive power and 
exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Founders Preferred Stock held by such trust, 
each share of Founders Preferred Stock then held by such trust shall automatically convert into 
one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B Common Stock; 

(iii) a trust under the terms of which such Founders Preferred 
Stockholder has retained a “qualified interest” within the meaning of §2702(b)(1) of the Code or 
a reversionary interest so long as the Founders Preferred Stockholder has sole dispositive power 
and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Founders Preferred Stock held by such 
trust (a “Clause (iii) Founders Preferred Permitted Trust”); provided that in the event and at such 
time as the Founders Preferred Stockholder no longer has sole dispositive power and exclusive 
Voting Control with respect to the shares of Founders Preferred Stock held by such trust, each 
share of Founders Preferred Stock then held by such trust shall automatically convert into one (1) 
fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B Common Stock; 

(iv) an Individual Retirement Account, as defined in Section 
408(a) of the Code, or a pension, profit sharing, stock bonus or other type of plan or trust of which 
such Founders Preferred Stockholder is a participant or beneficiary and which satisfies the 
requirements for qualification under Section 401 of the Code; provided that in each case such 
Founders Preferred Stockholder has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with 
respect to the shares of Founders Preferred Stock held in such account, plan or trust (each, a 
“Founders Preferred Permitted IRA”), and provided, further, that in the event and at such time as 
the Founders Preferred Stockholder no longer has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting 
Control with respect to the shares of Founders Preferred Stock held by such account, plan or trust, 
each share of Founders Preferred Stock then held by or in such Individual  Retirement Account, 
pension, profit sharing, stock bonus or other type of plan or trust shall automatically convert into 
one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B Common Stock; 
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(v) a corporation that is not a competitor of this Corporation (as 
determined in good faith by the Corporation’s Board of Directors) in which such Founders 
Preferred Stockholder directly, or indirectly through one or more Founders Preferred Permitted 
Entities, owns shares with sufficient Voting Control in the corporation, or otherwise has legally 
enforceable rights, such that the Founders Preferred Stockholder retains sole dispositive power and 
exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Founders Preferred Stock held by such 
corporation (a “Founders Preferred Permitted Corporation”); provided that in the event and at such 
time as the Founders Preferred Stockholder no longer  has sole dispositive power and exclusive 
Voting Control with respect to the shares of Founders Preferred Stock held by such corporation, 
each share of Founders Preferred Stock then held by such corporation shall automatically convert 
into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B Common Stock; 

(vi) a partnership that is not a competitor of this Corporation (as 
determined in good faith by the Corporation’s Board of Directors) in which such Founders 
Preferred Stockholder directly, or indirectly through one or more Founders Preferred Permitted 
Entities, owns partnership interests with sufficient Voting Control in the partnership, or otherwise 
has legally enforceable rights, such that the Founders Preferred Stockholder retains sole dispositive 
power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Founders Preferred Stock held 
by such partnership (a “Founders Preferred Permitted Partnership”); and provided further that in 
the event and at such time as the Founders Preferred Stockholder no longer  has sole dispositive 
power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Founders Preferred Stock held 
by such partnership, each share of Founders Preferred Stock then held by such partnership shall 
automatically convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B Common Stock; 
or 

(vii) a limited liability company that is not a competitor of this 
Corporation (as determined in good faith by the Corporation’s Board of Directors) in which such 
Founders Preferred Stockholder directly, or indirectly through one or more Founders Preferred 
Permitted Entities, owns membership interests with sufficient Voting Control in the limited 
liability company, or otherwise has legally enforceable rights, such that the Founders Preferred 
Stockholder retains sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares 
of Founders Preferred Stock held by such limited liability company (a “Founders Preferred 
Permitted LLC”)  and provided further that in the event and at such time as the Founders Preferred 
Stockholder no longer has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to 
the shares of Founders Preferred Stock held by such limited liability company, each share of 
Founders Preferred Stock then held by such limited liability company shall automatically convert 
into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B Common Stock. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the shares of Founders Preferred Stock held by a Clause (ii) 
Founders Preferred Permitted Trust or a Clause (iii) Founders Preferred Permitted Trust would 
constitute stock of a “controlled corporation” (as defined in Section 2036(b)(2) of the Code), then 
such shares will not automatically convert to Class B Common Stock if the Founders Preferred 
Stockholder does not directly or indirectly retain Voting Control over such shares until such time 
as the shares of Founders Preferred Stock would no longer constitute stock of a “controlled 
corporation” pursuant to the Code (such time is referred to in this Section as the “Founders 
Preferred Voting Shift”). If a Founders Preferred Stockholder does not, within thirty (30) business 
days following the Founders Preferred Voting Shift, directly or indirectly assume sole exclusive 
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Voting Control with respect to such shares of Founders Preferred Stock, each such share of 
Founders Preferred Stock shall automatically convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable 
share of Class B Common Stock. 

(d) Mechanics of Conversion.   Before any holder of Founders 
Preferred Stock shall be entitled to convert such Founders Preferred Stock into shares of Common 
Stock, such holder (i) shall, if such shares are certificated, surrender the certificate or certificates 
therefor, duly endorsed, at the office of the Corporation or of any transfer agent for such Founders 
Preferred Stock, and (ii) shall give written notice to the Corporation at its principal corporate 
office, of the election to convert the same and shall state therein the name or names in which the 
certificate or certificates for (or notice or notices confirming) shares of Common Stock are to be 
issued.  The Corporation shall, as soon as practicable thereafter, issue and deliver at such office to 
such holder of Founders Preferred Stock, or to the nominee or nominees of such holder, a 
certificate or certificates for the number of shares of Common Stock to which such holder shall be 
entitled as aforesaid.  Such conversion shall be deemed to have been made immediately prior to 
the close of business on the date of such surrender of the shares of Founders Preferred Stock to be 
converted, and the person or persons entitled to receive the shares of Common Stock issuable upon 
such conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the record holder or holders of such shares of 
Common Stock as of such date.  If the conversion is in connection with a firm commitment 
underwritten public offering of securities, the conversion may, at the option of any holder 
tendering such Founders Preferred Stock for conversion, be conditioned upon the closing of the 
sale of securities pursuant to such offering, in which event any persons entitled to receive Common 
Stock upon conversion of such Founders Preferred Stock shall not be deemed to have converted 
such Founders Preferred Stock until immediately prior to the closing of such sale of securities. 

(e) Conversion Price Adjustments of Founders Preferred Stock for 
Splits and Combinations.  The Conversion Price of the Founders Preferred Stock shall be subject 
to adjustment from time to time as follows: 

(i) Stock Splits and Combinations.  In the event the 
Corporation should, at any time after the filing date of this Restated Certificate, fix a record date 
for the effectuation of a split or subdivision of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, then, as 
of such record date (or the date of such split or subdivision if no record date is fixed), the 
Conversion Price of the Founders Preferred Stock shall be appropriately decreased so that the 
number of shares of Common Stock issuable on conversion of each share of such Founders 
Preferred Stock shall be increased in proportion to such increase in the aggregate number of shares 
of Common Stock outstanding.  If the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding at any time 
after the filing date of this Restated Certificate is decreased by a combination of the outstanding 
shares of Common Stock, then, following the record date of such combination (or the date of such 
combination if no record date is fixed), the Conversion Price of the Founders Preferred Stock shall 
be appropriately increased so that the number of shares of Common Stock issuable on conversion 
of each share of such Founders Preferred Stock shall be decreased in proportion to such decrease 
in the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock outstanding. 

(ii) Deemed Issuances of Common Stock.  The following 
provisions shall apply for purposes of this Article IV(C)4(e). 
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(A) The aggregate maximum number of shares of 
Common Stock deliverable upon conversion, exchange or exercise (assuming the satisfaction of 
any conditions to convertibility, exchangeability or exercisability, including, without limitation, 
the passage of time, but without taking into account potential antidilution adjustments) of any 
Common Stock Equivalents and subsequent conversion, exchange or exercise thereof shall be 
deemed to have been issued at the time such securities were issued or such Common Stock 
Equivalents were issued. 

(B) In the event of any change in the number of shares of 
Common Stock deliverable or in the consideration payable to the Corporation upon conversion, 
exchange or exercise of any Common Stock Equivalents, other than a change resulting from the 
antidilution provisions thereof, the Conversion Price of the Founders Preferred Stock, to the extent 
in any way affected by or computed using such Common Stock Equivalents, shall be recomputed 
to reflect such change, but no further adjustment shall be made for the actual issuance of Common 
Stock or any payment of such consideration upon the conversion, exchange or exercise of such 
Common Stock Equivalents. 

(C) Upon the termination or expiration of the 
convertibility, exchangeability or exercisability of any Common Stock Equivalents, the 
Conversion Price of the Founders Preferred Stock, to the extent in any way affected by or 
computed using such Common Stock Equivalents, shall be recomputed to reflect the issuance of 
only the number of shares of Common Stock (and Common Stock Equivalents that remain 
convertible, exchangeable or exercisable) actually issued upon the conversion, exchange or 
exercise of such Common Stock Equivalents. 

(iii) Dividends. In the event the Corporation should, at any time 
after the filing date of this Restated Certificate, fix a record date for the determination of holders 
of Common Stock entitled to receive a dividend or other distribution payable in additional shares 
of Common Stock or other securities or rights convertible into, exercisable or exchangeable into, 
or entitling the holder thereof to receive directly or indirectly, additional shares of Common Stock 
or Common Stock Equivalents (such Common Stock Equivalents, if any, “Additional Common 
Stock Equivalents”) without payment of any consideration by such holder for the additional shares 
of Common Stock or the Additional Common Stock Equivalents (including the additional shares 
of Common Stock issuable upon conversion or exercise thereof), then, as of such record date (or 
the date of such dividend distribution if no record date is fixed), the Conversion Price of the 
Founders Preferred Stock shall be appropriately proportionately decreased so by multiplying the 
Conversion Price then in effect by a fraction: 

(A) the numerator of which shall be the total number of shares 
of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the time of such issuance or the 
close of business on such record date, and 

(B) the denominator of which shall be the total number of shares 
of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the time of such issuance or the 
close of business on such record date plus the number of shares of Common Stock issuable in 
payment of such dividend or distribution and those issuable with respect to such Additional 
Common Stock Equivalents. 
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) if such record date shall have been fixed and such dividend is 
not fully paid or if such distribution is not fully made on the date fixed therefor, the Conversion 
Price of the Founders Preferred Stock shall be recomputed accordingly as of the close of business 
on such record date and thereafter the Conversion Price of the Founders Preferred Stock shall be 
adjusted pursuant to this subsection as of the time of actual payment of such dividends or 
distributions; and (b) that no such adjustment shall be made if the holders of the Founders Preferred 
Stock simultaneously receive a dividend or other distribution of shares of Common Stock or 
Common Stock Equivalents in a number equal to the number of shares of Common Stock or 
Common Stock Equivalents as they would have received if all outstanding shares of the Founders 
Preferred Stock had been converted into Common Stock on the date of such event. 

(f) No Fractional Shares and Notices as to Adjustments. 

(i) No fractional shares shall be issued upon the conversion of 
any share or shares of Founders Preferred Stock, and the number of shares of Common Stock to 
be issued shall be rounded down to the nearest whole share.  The number of shares issuable upon 
such conversion shall be determined on the basis of the total number of shares of Founders 
Preferred Stock the holder is at the time converting into Common Stock and the number of shares 
of Common Stock issuable upon such aggregate conversion.  If the conversion would result in any 
fractional share, the Corporation shall, in lieu of issuing any such fractional share, pay the holder 
thereof an amount in cash equal to the fair market value of such fractional share on the date of 
conversion, as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors. 

(ii) Upon the occurrence of each adjustment or readjustment of 
the Conversion Price of Founders Preferred Stock pursuant to this Article IV(C)4, the Corporation, 
at its expense, shall promptly compute such adjustment or readjustment in accordance with the 
terms hereof and prepare and furnish to each holder of such Founders Preferred Stock a notice 
setting forth such adjustment or readjustment and showing in detail the facts upon which such 
adjustment or readjustment is based.  The Corporation shall, upon the written request at any time 
of any holder of such Founders Preferred Stock, furnish or cause to be furnished to such holder a 
notice setting forth (A) such adjustment and readjustment, (B) the Conversion Price for the 
Founders Preferred Stock at the time in effect and (C) the number of shares of Common Stock and 
the amount, if any, of other property which at the time would be received upon the conversion of 
a share of Founders Preferred Stock. 

(g) Reservation of Stock Issuable Upon Conversion. The 
Corporation shall at all times reserve and keep available out of its authorized but unissued shares 
of Common Stock, solely for the purpose of effecting the conversion of the shares of Founders 
Preferred Stock, such number of its shares of Common Stock as shall from time to time be 
sufficient to effect the conversion of all outstanding shares of Founders Preferred Stock; and if at 
any time the number of authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock shall not be sufficient to 
effect the conversion of all then outstanding shares of Founders Preferred Stock, in addition to 
such other remedies as shall be available to the holder of such Founders Preferred Stock, the 
Corporation will take such corporate action as may, in the opinion of its counsel, be necessary to 
increase its authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock to such number of shares as shall be 
sufficient for such purposes, including, without limitation, engaging in best efforts to obtain the 
requisite stockholder approval of any necessary amendment to this Restated Certificate. 
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(h) Right to Convert to Preferred Stock.  If a share of Founders 
Preferred Stock is purchased by an investor in connection with an Equity Financing (as defined 
below), then immediately following the closing of such purchase, each such share of Founders 
Preferred Stock transferred to the investor shall automatically convert, at the Conversion Ratio (as 
defined below), into shares of a subsequent series of preferred stock of the Corporation sold by the 
Corporation in such Equity Financing (“Subsequent Preferred Stock”).  “Conversion Ratio” shall 
mean, for each Equity Financing, one divided by the number of shares into which a share of 
Subsequent Preferred Stock issued in such Equity Financing is convertible into Common Stock of 
the Corporation, and “Equity Financing” shall mean an equity financing of the Corporation in 
which the Corporation signs a purchase agreement and sells and issues Subsequent Preferred Stock 
of the Corporation.  By way of example only, in the event that one share of Subsequent Preferred 
Stock issued in the Equity Financing is convertible into two shares of Common Stock, the 
Conversion Ratio shall be one-half (1/2). 

(i) Notices.  Any notice required by the provisions of this 
Article IV(C)4 to be given to the holders of shares of Founders Preferred Stock shall be deemed 
given if deposited in the U.S. mail, postage prepaid, and addressed to each holder of record at his 
address appearing on the books of the Corporation. 

5. Voting Rights and Powers.  Except as expressly provided by this Restated 
Certificate or as provided by law, the holders of Founders Preferred Stock shall be entitled to the 
same voting rights as the holders of the Common Stock into which such Founders Preferred Stock 
could then be directly converted (without first being converted to Subsequent Preferred Stock) and 
to notice of any stockholders’ meeting in accordance with the Bylaws of the Corporation, and the 
holders of Common Stock and the holders of Founders Preferred Stock shall vote together as a 
single class on all matters.  Fractional votes shall not, however, be permitted and any fractional 
voting rights available on an as-converted basis (after aggregating all shares into which shares of 
Founders Preferred Stock held by each holder could be converted) shall be rounded to the nearest 
whole number (with one-half being rounded upward).  

6. Status of Converted Stock. In the event any shares of Founders Preferred 
Stock shall be converted pursuant to Article IV(C)4 hereof, the shares so converted shall be 
cancelled and shall not be issuable by the Corporation.  This Restated Certificate shall be 
appropriately amended to effect the corresponding reduction in the Corporation’s authorized 
capital stock and the authorized shares of Founders Preferred Stock. 

7. Waiver of Rights.  Except as otherwise set forth in this Restated Certificate, 
any of the rights, powers, preferences and other terms of the Founders Preferred Stock set forth 
herein may be waived (either prospectively or retrospectively) on behalf of all holders of the 
Founders Preferred Stock and with respect to all shares of the Founders Preferred Stock by the 
approval (by vote or written consent, as provided by law) of the holders of a majority of the shares 
of the Founders Preferred Stock then outstanding. 

(D) Class A Common Stock. 

1. Dividend Rights. The holders of shares of Class A Common Stock shall 
be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors, such dividends as may 
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be declared from time to time by the Board of Directors with respect to the Class B Common Stock 
out of any assets of the Corporation legally available therefor, and no dividend shall be declared 
or paid on shares of the Class B Common Stock unless the same dividend with the same record 
date and payment date shall be declared or paid on the shares of Class A Common Stock; provided, 
however, that dividends payable in shares of Class B Common Stock or rights to acquire Class B 
Common Stock may be declared and paid to the holders of the Class B Common Stock without 
the same dividend being declared and paid to the holders of the Class A Common Stock, if and 
only if a dividend payable in shares of Class A Common Stock or rights to acquire Class A 
Common Stock (as the case may be) at the same rate and with the same record date and payment 
date as the dividend declared and paid to the holders of the Class B Common Stock shall be 
declared and paid to the holders of Class A Stock. 

2. Liquidation Rights.  Upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the 
Corporation, or the occurrence of a Liquidation Transaction, the assets of the Corporation shall be 
distributed as provided in Article IV(B)2 above. 

3. Redemption. The Class A Common Stock is not mandatorily redeemable. 

4. Voting Rights and Powers.  The holders of Class A Common Stock shall 
have the right to ten (10) votes for each share of Class A Common Stock and shall be entitled to 
notice of any stockholders’ meeting in accordance with the Bylaws of the Corporation, and to vote 
upon such matters and in such manner as may be provided by law.  Except as expressly provided 
by this Restated Certificate or as provided by law, the holders of Preferred Stock, the holders of 
Founders Preferred Stock, the holders of Class A Common Stock and the holders of Class B 
Common Stock shall vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to vote or for the 
consent of the stockholders of the Corporation. The number of authorized shares of Class A 
Common Stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares thereof then 
outstanding) by the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the voting power of the shares of 
the Corporation’s stock then outstanding, voting together as a single class on an as-converted basis, 
irrespective of the provisions of Section 242(b)(2) of the Delaware General Corporation Law.  

5. Subdivisions or Combinations. If the Corporation in any manner 
subdivides or combines the outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock or Founders Preferred 
Stock, then the outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock will be subdivided or combined in 
the same proportion and manner. 

6. Equal Status. Except as expressly set forth in this Article IV(D), Class A 
Common Stock shall have the same rights and powers of, rank equally to, share ratably with, and 
be identical in all respects and as to all matters to Class B Common Stock. 

7. Conversion. 

(a) Right to Convert. Each share of Class A Common Stock shall be 
convertible into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B Common Stock at the option 
of the holder thereof at any time upon written notice to the Corporation.  To exercise such 
conversion rights, a holder of Class A Common Stock (i) shall, if such shares are certificated, 
surrender the certificate or certificates representing such shares, duly endorsed, at the principal 

565



 
  

 
 

  
  

 
   

 
 
 

     
 

  
  

    
 

 
 

  
  

 

   
 

  

    
  

 

  
  

  
 

  
 

   
 

   
 

   
   

 
  

corporate office of the Corporation or of any transfer agent for the Class A Common Stock, and 
(ii) shall give written notice to the Corporation at its principal corporate office, of the election to 
convert the same and shall state therein the number of shares to be converted and the name or 
names in which the certificate or certificates for (or notice or notices confirming) shares of Class 
B Common Stock are to be issued (or distributed). The Corporation shall, as soon as practicable 
thereafter, issue and deliver at such office to such holder of Class A Common Stock, or to the 
nominee or nominees or such holder, a certificate or certificates for (or a notice or notices 
confirming) the number of shares of Class B Common Stock to which such holder shall be entitled 
as aforesaid and if less than all of the holders shares of Class A Common Stock have been 
converted, a certificate for (or notice confirming) the remainder of such holder’s shares of Class 
A Common Stock.  Such conversion shall be deemed to have been made immediately prior the 
close of business on the date of the last to occur of the surrender of the shares of Class A Common 
Stock to be converted and the delivery of such notice. The person or persons entitled to receive the 
shares of Class B Common Stock issuable upon such conversion shall be treated for all purposes 
as the record holder or holders of such shares of Class B Common Stock as of such date and time. 

(b) Automatic Conversion Upon Transfer. Each share of Class A 
Common Stock shall automatically, without any further action by the holder or the Corporation, 
convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B Common Stock upon the 
Transfer (as defined below) of such share; provided, however, that a Transfer by a Class A 
Stockholder to any of the following Class A Permitted Entities, or from any of the following Class 
A Permitted Entities back to such Class A Stockholder and/or any other Class A Permitted Entity 
by or for such Class A Stockholder shall not trigger such automatic conversion: 

(i) a trust for the benefit of such Class A Stockholder and for 
the benefit of no other person, provided such Transfer does not involve any payment of cash, 
securities, property or other consideration (other than an interest in such trust) to the Class A 
Stockholder  (a “Clause (i) Class A Permitted Trust”), and, provided, further, that in the event and 
at such time as such Class A Stockholder is no longer the exclusive beneficiary of such trust, each 
share of Class A Common Stock then held by such trust shall automatically convert into one (1) 
fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B Common Stock; 

(ii) a trust for the benefit of persons other than the Class A 
Stockholder so long as the Class A Stockholder has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting 
Control (as defined below) with respect to the shares of Class A Common Stock held by such trust, 
provided such Transfer does not involve any payment of cash, securities, property or other 
consideration (other than an interest in such trust) to the Class A Stockholder (“Clause (ii) Class 
A Permitted Trust”); provided that in the event and at such time as the Class A Stockholder no 
longer has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Class 
A Common Stock held by such trust, each share of Class A Common Stock then held by such trust 
shall automatically convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B Common 
Stock; 

(iii) a trust under the terms of which such Class A Stockholder 
has retained a “qualified interest” within the meaning of §2702(b)(1) of the Code or a reversionary 
interest so long as the Class A Stockholder has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting 
Control with respect to the shares of Class A Common Stock held by such trust (a “Clause (iii) 
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Class A Permitted Trust”); provided that in the event and at such time as the Class A Stockholder 
no longer has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of 
Class A Common Stock held by such trust, each share of Class A Common Stock then held by 
such trust shall automatically convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B 
Common Stock; 

(iv) an Individual Retirement Account, as defined in Section 
408(a) of the Code, or a pension, profit sharing, stock bonus or other type of plan or trust of which 
such Class A Stockholder is a participant or beneficiary and which satisfies the requirements for 
qualification under Section 401 of the Code; provided that in each case such Class A Stockholder 
has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Class A 
Common Stock held in such account, plan or trust (each, a “Class A Permitted IRA”), and 
provided, further, that in the event and at such time as the Class A Stockholder no longer has sole 
dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Class A Common 
Stock held by such account, plan or trust, each share of Class A Common Stock then held by or in 
such Individual  Retirement Account, pension, profit sharing, stock bonus or other type of plan or 
trust shall automatically convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B 
Common Stock; 

(v) a corporation that is not a competitor of this corporation (as 
determined in good faith by the Corporation’s Board of Directors) in which such Class A 
Stockholder directly, or indirectly through one or more Class A Permitted Entities, owns shares 
with sufficient Voting Control in the corporation, or otherwise has legally enforceable rights, such 
that the Class A Stockholder retains sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with 
respect to the shares of Class A Common Stock held by such corporation (a “Class A Permitted 
Corporation”); provided that in the event and at such time as the Class A Stockholder no longer 
has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Class A 
Common Stock held by such corporation, each share of Class A Common Stock then held by such 
corporation shall automatically convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B 
Common Stock; 

(vi) a partnership that is not a competitor of this corporation (as 
determined in good faith by the Corporation’s Board of Directors) in which such Class A 
Stockholder directly, or indirectly through one or more Class A Permitted Entities, owns 
partnership interests with sufficient Voting Control in the partnership, or otherwise has legally 
enforceable rights, such that the Class A Stockholder retains sole dispositive power and exclusive 
Voting Control with respect to the shares of Class A Common Stock held by such partnership (a 
“Class A Permitted Partnership”); and provided further that in the event and at such time as the 
Class A Stockholder no longer  has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control with 
respect to the shares of Class A Common Stock held by such partnership, each share of Class A 
Common Stock then held by such partnership shall automatically convert into one (1) fully paid 
and nonassessable share of Class B Common Stock; or 

(vii) a limited liability company that is not a competitor of this 
corporation (as determined in good faith by the Corporation’s Board of Directors) in which such 
Class A Stockholder directly, or indirectly through one or more Class A Permitted Entities, owns 
membership interests with sufficient Voting Control in the limited liability company, or otherwise 
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has legally enforceable rights, such that the Class A Stockholder retains sole dispositive power and 
exclusive Voting Control with respect to the shares of Class A Common Stock held by such limited 
liability company (a “Class A Permitted LLC”)  and provided further that in the event and at such 
time as the Class A Stockholder no longer  has sole dispositive power and exclusive Voting Control 
with respect to the shares of Class A Common Stock held by such limited liability company, each 
share of Class A Common Stock then held by such limited liability company shall automatically 
convert into one (1) fully paid and nonassessable share of Class B Common Stock. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the shares of Class A Common Stock held by a Clause (ii) Class 
A Permitted Trust or a Clause (iii) Class A Permitted Trust would constitute stock of a “controlled 
corporation” (as defined in Section 2036(b)(2) of the Code), then such shares will not 
automatically convert to Class B Common Stock if the Class A Stockholder does not directly or 
indirectly retain Voting Control over such shares until such time as the shares of Class A Common 
Stock would no longer constitute stock of a “controlled corporation” pursuant to the Code (such 
time is referred to in this Section as the “Class A Voting Shift”). If a Class A Stockholder does 
not, within thirty (30) business days following the Class A Voting Shift, directly or indirectly 
assume sole exclusive Voting Control with respect to such shares of Class A Common Stock, each 
such share of Class A Common Stock shall automatically convert into one (1) fully paid and 
nonassessable share of Class B Common Stock. 

(c) Administration. The Corporation may, from time to time, establish 
such policies and procedures, not in violation of applicable law or the other provisions of this 
Restated Certificate, relating to the conversion of the Class A Common Stock into Class B 
Common Stock as provided in this Article IV(D)7 and the dual class common stock structure 
provided for in this Restated Certificate, including, without limitation, the issuance of stock 
certificates (or, as to uncertificated shares, notices) in connection with any such conversion, as it 
may deem necessary or advisable.  If the Corporation has reason to believe that a Transfer giving 
rise to a conversion of shares of Class A Common Stock into Class B Common Stock has occurred 
but has not theretofore been made on the books of the Corporation, the Corporation may request 
that the holder of such shares furnish affidavits or other evidence to the Corporation as it 
reasonably deems necessary to determine whether a conversion of shares of Class A Common 
Stock to Class B Common Stock has occurred, and if such holder does not within ten (10) days 
after the date of such request furnish sufficient evidence to the Corporation (in the manner provided 
in the request) to enable the Corporation to determine that no such conversion has occurred, any 
such shares of Class A Common Stock, to the extent not previously converted, shall be 
immediately and automatically convert into shares of Class B Common Stock and the same shall 
thereupon be registered on the books and records of the Corporation. In connection with any action 
of stockholders taken at a meeting or by written consent, the stock ledger of the Corporation shall 
be the exclusive evidence the stockholders entitled to vote in person or by proxy at any meeting of 
stockholders or in connection with any written consent and the classes and series of shares held by 
each such stockholder and the number of shares of each class held by such stockholder. Each share 
of Class A Common Stock that is converted pursuant to this Section 7 shall be retired by the 
Corporation and shall not be reissued. 

8. Reservation of Stock. The Corporation shall at all times reserve and keep 
available out of its authorized but unissued shares of Class B Common Stock, solely for the 
purpose of effecting the conversion of the shares of Class A Common Stock, such number of shares 
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of Class B Common Stock as shall from time to time be sufficient to effect the conversion of all 
outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock into shares of Class B Common Stock. 

9. Protective Provision.  The Corporation shall not, by amendment, merger, 
consolidation or otherwise, without first obtaining the vote (either at a stockholders meeting or 
written consent, as provided by law) of the holders of at least a majority of the then-outstanding 
shares of Class A Common Stock, voting as a separate class, amend, alter, repeal or waive 
Article IV(D). 

(E) Class B Common Stock. 

1. Dividend Rights. The holders of shares of Class B Common Stock shall 
be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors, out of any assets of the 
Corporation legally available therefor, such dividends as may be declared from time to time by the 
Board of Directors. 

2. Liquidation Rights.  Upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the 
Corporation, or the occurrence of a Liquidation Transaction, the assets of the Corporation shall be 
distributed as provided in Article IV(B)2 above. 

3. Redemption. The Class B Common Stock is not mandatorily redeemable. 

4. Voting Rights and Powers.  Each holder of Class B Common Stock shall 
be entitled to one (1) vote per share of Class B Common Stock, and to notice of any stockholders’ 
meeting in accordance with the Bylaws of the Corporation, and to vote upon such matters and in 
such manner as may be provided by law.  Except as expressly provided by this Restated Certificate 
or as provided by law, the holders of Preferred Stock,  the holders of Founders Preferred Stock, 
the holders of Class A Common Stock and the holders of Class B Common Stock shall vote 
together as a single class on all matters.  The number of authorized shares of Class B Common 
Stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares thereof then outstanding) 
by the affirmative vote of the holders of shares of stock of the Corporation representing a majority 
of the votes represented by all outstanding shares of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote, 
irrespective of the provisions of Section 242(b)(2) of the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

(F) Definitions.  For purposes of this Article IV, the following definitions shall apply: 

1. “Class A Permitted Entity” shall mean, with respect to any Class A 
Stockholder, any Clause (i) Class A Permitted Trust, Clause (ii) Class A Permitted Trust, Clause 
(iii) Class A Permitted Trust, a Class A Permitted IRA, a Class A Permitted Corporation, a Class A 
Permitted Partnership or a Class A Permitted LLC described in Article IV(D)7(b). 

2. “Class A Stockholder” shall mean any stockholder that is issued Class A 
Common Stock by the Corporation or any Class A Permitted Entity. 

3. “Founders Preferred Permitted Entity” shall mean, with respect to any 
Founders Preferred Stockholder, any Clause (i) Founders Preferred Permitted Trust, Clause (ii) 
Founders Preferred Permitted Trust, Clause (iii) Founders Preferred Permitted Trust, a Founders 
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Preferred Permitted IRA, a Founders Preferred Permitted Corporation, a Founders Preferred 
Permitted Partnership, or a Founders Preferred Permitted LLC described in Article IV(C)4(c). 

4. “Founders Preferred Stockholder” shall mean any stockholder that is issued 
Founders Preferred Stock by the Corporation or any Founders Preferred Permitted Entity. 

5. “Transfer” shall mean, with respect to a share of Founders Preferred Stock 
or Class A Common Stock, any sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance, hypothecation, grant of a 
security interest, gift or other transfer or disposition of such share or any legal, economic, or 
beneficial interest in such share, whether or not for value and whether voluntary or involuntary or 
by operation of law, unless the Corporation’s Board of Directors, in its sole and absolute discretion 
and prior to the occurrence of such sale, assignment, conveyance, hypothecation, grant, gift, 
disposition or transfer, in a valid board action referring to this subsection of this Restated 
Certificate, decides that a waiver of the conversion provisions should take place for a particular 
transaction and that, as a result, such sale, assignment, transfer, conveyance, hypothecation, grant 
of a security interest, gift or other transfer or disposition of such share or any legal, economic, or 
beneficial interest in such share shall not constitute a “Transfer”; provided, however, that the 
following shall not be considered a “Transfer”: (a) the grant of a proxy to one or more officers or 
directors of the Corporation at the request of the Board of Directors in connection with actions to 
be taken at an annual or special meeting of stockholders; (b) the pledge of shares of Founders 
Preferred Stock or Class A Common Stock, as applicable, by a Founders Preferred Stockholder or 
a Class A Stockholder, as applicable, that creates a mere security interest in such shares pursuant 
to a bona fide loan or indebtedness transaction so long as the Founders Preferred Stockholder or 
Class A Stockholder, as applicable, continues to exercise Voting Control over such pledged shares; 
provided, however, that a foreclosure on such shares of Founders Preferred Stock or Class A 
Common Stock or other similar action by the pledgee shall constitute a “Transfer”; (c) the fact 
that, as of the filing date of this Restated Certificate or at any time thereafter, the spouse of any 
holder of Founders Preferred Stock or Class A Common Stock, as applicable, possesses or obtains 
an interest in such holder’s shares of Founders Preferred Stock or Class A Common Stock, as 
applicable, arising solely by reason of the application of the community property laws of any 
jurisdiction, so long as no other event or circumstance shall exist or have occurred that constitutes 
a “Transfer” of such shares of Founders Preferred Stock or Class A Common Stock, as applicable; 
or (d) the sale or transfer of shares of Founders Preferred Stock in connection with an Equity 
Financing pursuant to Article IV(C)4(h). 

6. “Voting Control” shall mean, with respect to a share of Founders Preferred 
Stock or Class A Common Stock, the power to vote or direct the voting of such share by proxy, 
voting agreement or otherwise. 

ARTICLE V 

Except as otherwise set forth herein, the Board of Directors of the Corporation is expressly 
authorized to make, alter or repeal Bylaws of the Corporation. 
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ARTICLE VI 

Elections of directors need not be by written ballot unless otherwise provided in the Bylaws 
of the Corporation. 

ARTICLE VII 

Distributions by the Corporation may be made without regard to “preferential dividends 
arrears amount” or any “preferential rights,” as such terms may be used in Section 500 of the 
California Corporations Code. 

ARTICLE VIII 

(A)To the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, as the same 
exists or as may hereafter be amended, a director of the Corporation shall not be personally liable 
to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a 
director. 

(B) The Corporation shall indemnify to the fullest extent permitted by law any person made 
or threatened to be made a party to an action or proceeding, whether criminal, civil, administrative 
or investigative, by reason of the fact that he, his testator or intestate is or was a director or officer 
of the Corporation or any predecessor of the Corporation, or serves or served at any other enterprise 
as a director or officer at the request of the Corporation or any predecessor to the Corporation. 

(C) Neither any amendment nor repeal of this Article VIII, nor the adoption of any 
provision of the Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article VIII, shall 
eliminate or reduce the effect of this Article VIII in respect of any matter occurring, or any action 
or proceeding accruing or arising or that, but for this Article VIII, would accrue or arise, prior to 
such amendment, repeal or adoption of an inconsistent provision.  

ARTICLE IX 

Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the 
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for (A) any 
derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Corporation, (B) any action or proceeding 
asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer, 
employee or agent of the Corporation to the Corporation or the Corporation’s stockholders, (C) 
any action or proceeding asserting a claim against the Corporation arising pursuant to any 
provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law or the Corporation’s Certificate of 
Incorporation or Bylaws, (D) any action or proceeding asserting a claim against the Corporation 
as to which the Delaware General Corporation Law confers jurisdiction upon the Court of 
Chancery of the State of Delaware, or (E) any action or proceeding asserting a claim governed by 
the internal affairs doctrine, in each case subject to said Court of Chancery having personal 
jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants therein. 
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ARTICLE X 

The Corporation renounces, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any interest or 
expectancy of the Corporation in, or in being offered an opportunity to participate in, any Excluded 
Opportunity.  An “Excluded Opportunity” is any matter, transaction or interest that is presented 
to, or acquired, created or developed by, or which otherwise comes into the possession of (i) any 
director of the Corporation who is not an employee of the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries, 
or (ii) any holder of Series A Preferred Stock or any partner, member, director, stockholder, 
employee or agent of any such holder, other than someone who is an employee of the Corporation 
or any of its subsidiaries (collectively, “Covered Persons”), unless such matter, transaction or 
interest is presented to, or acquired, created or developed by, or otherwise comes into the 
possession of, a Covered Person expressly and solely in such Covered Person’s capacity as a 
director of the Corporation.” 

*  *  * 
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The foregoing Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation has been duly adopted 
by this corporation’s Board of Directors and stockholders in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Sections 228, 242 and 245 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

Executed at Menlo Park, California on _______ __, 2019. 

Eric Ries, President 
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AMENDED AND RESTATED 

BYLAWS 

OF 

LTSE SERVICES, INC. 

ARTICLE I 

CORPORATE OFFICES 

1.1 Offices 

In addition to the corporation’s registered office set forth in the certificate of 
incorporation, the Board of Directors may at any time establish other offices at any place or 
places where the corporation is qualified to do business.  

ARTICLE II 

MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS 

2.1 Place Of Meetings 

Meetings of stockholders shall be held at any place, within or outside the state of 
Delaware, designated by the Board of Directors.  The Board of Directors may, in its sole 
discretion, determine that a meeting of stockholders shall not be held at any place, but may 
instead be held solely by means of remote communication as authorized by Section 211(a)(2) of 
the Delaware General Corporation Law.  In the absence of any such designation or 
determination, stockholders’ meetings shall be held at the registered office of the corporation. 

2.2 Annual Meeting 

The annual meeting of stockholders shall be held on such date, time and place, 
either within or without the state of Delaware, as may be designated by resolution of the Board 
of Directors each year.  At the meeting, directors shall be elected and any other proper business 
may be transacted. 

2.3 Special Meeting 

A special meeting of the stockholders may be called at any time by the Board of 
Directors, the chairperson of the board, the chief executive officer, the president or by one or 
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more stockholders holding shares in the aggregate entitled to cast not less than 10% of the votes 
at that meeting. 

If a special meeting is called by any person or persons other than the Board of 
Directors, the chairperson of the board, the chief executive officer or the president, the request 
shall be in writing, specifying the time of such meeting and the general nature of the business 
proposed to be transacted, and shall be delivered personally or sent by registered mail or by 
email, fax, telegraphic or other facsimile or electronic transmission to the chairperson of the 
board, the chief executive officer, the president or the secretary of the corporation.  No business 
may be transacted at such special meeting otherwise than specified in such notice.  The officer 
receiving the request shall cause notice to be promptly given to the stockholders entitled to vote, 
in accordance with the provisions of Sections 2.4 and 2.5 of this Article II, that a meeting will be 
held at the time requested by the person or persons calling the meeting, not less than 35 nor more 
than 60 days after the receipt of the request.  If the notice is not given within 20 days after the 
receipt of the request, the person or persons requesting the meeting may give the notice.  Nothing 
contained in this paragraph of this Section 2.3 shall be construed as limiting, fixing, or affecting 
the time when a meeting of stockholders called by action of the Board of Directors may be held. 

2.4 Notice Of Stockholders’ Meetings 

All notices of meetings with stockholders shall be in writing and shall be sent or 
otherwise given in accordance with Section 2.5 of these bylaws not less than 10 nor more than 60 
days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting.  The 
notice shall specify the place (if any), date and hour of the meeting, and in the case of a special 
meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. 

2.5 Manner Of Giving Notice; Affidavit Of Notice 

Written notice of any meeting of stockholders, if mailed, is given when deposited 
in the United States mail, postage prepaid, directed to the stockholder at his address as it appears 
on the records of the corporation.  Without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may 
be given effectively to stockholders, any notice to stockholders may be given by electronic mail 
or other electronic transmission, in the manner provided in Section 232 of the Delaware General 
Corporation Law.  An affidavit of the secretary or an assistant secretary or of the transfer agent 
of the corporation that the notice has been given shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie 
evidence of the facts stated therein. 

2.6 Quorum 

The holders of a majority of the shares of stock issued and outstanding and 
entitled to vote thereat, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at all 
meetings of the stockholders for the transaction of business except as otherwise provided by 
statute or by the certificate of incorporation.  If, however, such quorum is not present or 
represented at any meeting of the stockholders, then either (a) the chairperson of the meeting or 
(b) holders of a majority of the shares of stock entitled to vote who are present, in person or by 
proxy, shall have power to adjourn the meeting to another place (if any), date or time. 
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2.7 Adjourned Meeting; Notice 

When a meeting is adjourned to another place (if any), date or time, unless these 
bylaws otherwise require, notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting if the time and 
place (if any), thereof and the means of remote communications (if any) by which stockholders 
and proxyholders may be deemed to be present and vote at such adjourned meeting, are 
announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken.  At the adjourned meeting the 
corporation may transact any business that might have been transacted at the original meeting.  If 
the adjournment is for more than 30 days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed 
for the adjourned meeting, notice of the place (if any), date and time of the adjourned meeting 
and the means of remote communications (if any) by which stockholders and proxy holders may 
be deemed to be present in person and vote at such adjourned meeting shall be given to each 
stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting. 

2.8 Organization; Conduct of Business 

Such person as the Board of Directors may have designated or, in the absence of 
such a person, the chief executive officer, or in his or her absence, the president or, in his or her 
absence, such person as may be chosen by the holders of a majority of the shares entitled to vote 
who are present, in person or by proxy, shall call to order any meeting of the stockholders and 
act as chairperson of the meeting.  In the absence of the secretary of the corporation, the 
secretary of the meeting shall be such person as the chairperson of the meeting appoints. 

The chairperson of any meeting of stockholders shall determine the order of 
business and the procedure at the meeting, including the manner of voting and the conduct of 
business.  The date and time of opening and closing of the polls for each matter upon which the 
stockholders will vote at the meeting shall be announced at the meeting. 

2.9 Voting 

The stockholders entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders shall be 
determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.12 of these bylaws, subject to the 
provisions of Sections 217 and 218 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (relating to voting 
rights of fiduciaries, pledgors and joint owners of stock and to voting trusts and other voting 
agreements). 

Except as may be otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation, each 
stockholder shall be entitled to one vote for each share of capital stock held by such stockholder. 
All elections shall be determined by a plurality of the votes cast, and except as otherwise 
required by law, all other matters shall be determined by a majority of the votes cast 
affirmatively or negatively.   

2.10 Waiver Of Notice 

Whenever notice is required to be given under any provision of the Delaware 
General Corporation Law or of the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, a written waiver 
thereof, signed by the person entitled to notice, or waiver by electronic mail or other electronic 
transmission by such person, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed 
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equivalent to notice.  Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of 
such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at 
the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not 
lawfully called or convened.  Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any 
regular or special meeting of the stockholders need be specified in any written waiver of notice, 
or any waiver of notice by electronic transmission, unless so required by the certificate of 
incorporation or these bylaws. 

2.11 Stockholder Action By Written Consent Without A Meeting 

Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation, any action required 
to be taken at any annual or special meeting of stockholders of the corporation, or any action that 
may be taken at any annual or special meeting of such stockholders, may be taken without a 
meeting, without prior notice, and without a vote if a consent in writing, setting forth the action 
so taken, is (a) signed by the holders of outstanding stock having not less than the minimum 
number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which 
all shares entitled to vote thereon were present and voted, and (b) delivered to the corporation in 
accordance with Section 228(a) of the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

Every written consent shall bear the date of signature of each stockholder who 
signs the consent and no written consent shall be effective to take the corporate action referred to 
therein unless, within 60 days of the date the earliest dated consent is delivered to the 
corporation, a written consent or consents signed by a sufficient number of holders to take action 
are delivered to the corporation in the manner prescribed in this Section.  A telegram, cablegram, 
electronic mail or other electronic transmission consenting to an action to be taken and 
transmitted by a stockholder or proxyholder, or by a person or persons authorized to act for a 
stockholder or proxyholder, shall be deemed to be written, signed and dated for purposes of this 
Section to the extent permitted by law.  Any such consent shall be delivered in accordance with 
Section 228(d)(1) of the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

Any copy, facsimile or other reliable reproduction of a consent in writing may be 
substituted or used in lieu of the original writing for any and all purposes for which the original 
writing could be used, provided that such copy, facsimile or other reproduction shall be a 
complete reproduction of the entire original writing. 

Prompt notice of the taking of the corporate action without a meeting by less than 
unanimous written consent shall be given to those stockholders who have not consented in 
writing (including by electronic mail or other electronic transmission as permitted by law).  If the 
action which is consented to is such as would have required the filing of a certificate under any 
section of the Delaware General Corporation Law if such action had been voted on by 
stockholders at a meeting thereof, then the certificate filed under such section shall state, in lieu 
of any statement required by such section concerning any vote of stockholders, that written 
notice and written consent have been given as provided in Section 228 of the Delaware General 
Corporation Law. 
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2.12 Record Date For Stockholder Notice; Voting; Giving Consents 

In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of 
or to vote at any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, or entitled to express 
consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, or entitled to receive payment of any 
dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in 
respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of any other lawful 
action, the Board of Directors may fix, in advance, a record date, which shall not be more than 
60 nor less than 10 days before the date of such meeting, nor more than 60 days prior to any 
other action. 

If the Board of Directors does not so fix a record date: 

(a) The record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to 
vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next preceding the 
day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day next 
preceding the day on which the meeting is held. 

(b) The record date for determining stockholders entitled to consent to 
corporate action in writing without a meeting, when no prior action by the Board of Directors is 
necessary, shall be the day on which the first written consent (including consent by electronic 
mail or other electronic transmission as permitted by law) is delivered to the corporation. 

(c) The record date for determining stockholders for any other purpose shall 
be at the close of business on the day on which the Board of Directors adopts the resolution 
relating thereto. 

A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a 
meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting, if such adjournment is 
for 30 days or less; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for 
the adjourned meeting. 

2.13 Proxies 

Each stockholder entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders or to express 
consent or dissent to corporate action in writing without a meeting may authorize another person 
or persons to act for such stockholder by an instrument in writing or by an electronic 
transmission permitted by law filed with the secretary of the corporation, but no such proxy shall 
be voted or acted upon after three years from its date, unless the proxy provides for a longer 
period.  A proxy shall be deemed signed if the stockholder’s name is placed on the proxy 
(whether by manual signature, typewriting, facsimile, electronic or telegraphic transmission or 
otherwise) by the stockholder or the stockholder’s attorney-in-fact.  The revocability of a proxy 
that states on its face that it is irrevocable shall be governed by the provisions of Section 212(e) 
of the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

ARTICLE III 

DIRECTORS 
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3.1 Powers 

Subject to the provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law and any 
limitations in the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws relating to action required to be 
approved by the stockholders or by the outstanding shares, the business and affairs of the 
corporation shall be managed and all corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the 
direction of the Board of Directors. 

3.2 Number Of Directors 

The number of directors constituting the entire Board of Directors is 3.  This 
number may be changed by a resolution of the Board of Directors or of the stockholders, subject 
to Section 3.4 of these bylaws.  No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the 
effect of removing any director before such director’s term of office expires. 

3.3 Election, Qualification And Term Of Office Of Directors 

Except as provided in Section 3.4 of these bylaws, and unless otherwise provided 
in the certificate of incorporation, directors shall be elected at each annual meeting of 
stockholders to hold office until the next annual meeting.  Directors need not be stockholders 
unless so required by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, wherein other 
qualifications for directors may be prescribed.  Each director, including a director elected to fill a 
vacancy, shall hold office until his or her successor is elected and qualified or until his or her 
earlier resignation or removal. 

Unless otherwise specified in the certificate of incorporation, elections of 
directors need not be by written ballot. 

3.4 Resignation And Vacancies 

Any director may resign at any time upon written notice to the attention of the 
Secretary of the corporation.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 223(a)(1) and 223(a)(2) 
of the Delaware General Corporation Law, any vacancy or newly created directorship may be 
filled by a majority of the directors then in office (including any directors that have tendered a 
resignation effective at a future date), though less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director, 
and the directors so chosen shall hold office until the next annual election and until their 
successors are duly elected and shall qualify, unless sooner displaced; provided, however, that 
where such vacancy or newly created directorship occurs among the directors elected by the 
holders of a class or series of stock, the holders of shares of such class or series may override the 
Board of Directors’ action to fill such vacancy or newly created directorship by (i) voting for 
their own designee to fill such vacancy or newly created directorship at a meeting of the 
corporation’s stockholders or (ii) written consent, if the consenting stockholders hold a sufficient 
number of shares to elect their designee at a meeting of the stockholders. 

If at any time, by reason of death or resignation or other cause, the corporation 
should have no directors in office, then any officer or any stockholder or an executor, 
administrator, trustee or guardian of a stockholder, or other fiduciary entrusted with like 
responsibility for the person or estate of a stockholder, may call a special meeting of 
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stockholders in accordance with the provisions of the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, 
or may apply to the Court of Chancery for a decree summarily ordering an election as provided 
in Section 211 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

If, at the time of filling any vacancy or any newly created directorship, the 
directors then in office constitute less than a majority of the whole board (as constituted 
immediately prior to any such increase), then the Court of Chancery may, upon application of 
any stockholder or stockholders holding at least 10% of the total number of the shares at the time 
outstanding having the right to vote for such directors, summarily order an election to be held to 
fill any such vacancies or newly created directorships, or to replace the directors chosen by the 
directors then in office as aforesaid, which election shall be governed by the provisions of 
Section 211 of the Delaware General Corporation Law as far as applicable. 

3.5 Place Of Meetings; Meetings By Telephone 

The Board of Directors of the corporation may hold meetings, both regular and 
special, either within or outside the state of Delaware. 

Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, 
members of the Board of Directors, or any committee designated by the Board of Directors, may 
participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors, or any committee, by means of conference 
telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the 
meeting can hear each other, and such participation in a meeting shall constitute presence in 
person at the meeting. 

3.6 Regular Meetings 

Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held without notice at such 
time and at such place as shall from time to time be determined by the board. 

3.7 Special Meetings; Notice 

Special meetings of the Board of Directors for any purpose or purposes may be 
called at any time by the chairperson of the board, the chief executive officer, the president, the 
secretary or any two directors. 

Notice of the time and place of special meetings shall be delivered personally or 
by telephone to each director or sent by first-class mail, facsimile, electronic transmission, or 
telegram, charges prepaid, addressed to each director at that director’s address as it is shown on 
the records of the corporation.  If the notice is mailed, it shall be deposited in the United States 
mail at least 4 days before the time of the holding of the meeting.  If the notice is delivered 
personally or by facsimile, electronic transmission, telephone or telegram, it shall be delivered at 
least 24 hours before the time of the holding of the meeting.  Any oral notice given personally or 
by telephone may be communicated either to the director or to a person at the office of the 
director who the person giving the notice has reason to believe will promptly communicate it to 
the director.  The notice need not specify the purpose of the meeting.  The notice need not 
specify the place of the meeting, if the meeting is to be held at the principal executive office of 
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the corporation. Unless otherwise indicated in the notice thereof, any and all business may be 
transacted at a special meeting. 

3.8 Quorum; Voting 

At all meetings of the Board of Directors, a majority of the total number of duly 
elected directors then in office (but in no case less than 1/3 of the total number of authorized 
directors) shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business and the act of a majority of the 
directors present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the Board of 
Directors, except as may be otherwise specifically provided by statute or by the certificate of 
incorporation.  If a quorum is not present at any meeting of the Board of Directors, then the 
directors present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than 
announcement at the meeting, until a quorum is present. 

A meeting at which a quorum is initially present may continue to transact 
business notwithstanding the withdrawal of directors, if any action taken is approved by at least a 
majority of the required quorum for that meeting. 

Each director may have more or less than one vote, if so approved by either an 
action of the Board or an action by the Stockholders. If one or more directors shall have more or 
less than one vote per director on any matter, every reference in these bylaws to a majority or 
other proportion of the directors shall refer to a majority or other proportion of the votes of the 
directors. 

3.9 Waiver Of Notice 

Whenever notice is required to be given under any provision of the Delaware 
General Corporation Law or of the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, a written waiver 
thereof, signed by the person entitled to notice, or waiver by electronic mail or other electronic 
transmission by such person, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed 
equivalent to notice.  Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of 
such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at 
the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not 
lawfully called or convened.  Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any 
regular or special meeting of the directors, or members of a committee of directors, need be 
specified in any written waiver of notice unless so required by the certificate of incorporation or 
these bylaws. 

3.10 Board Action By Written Consent Without A Meeting 

Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, any 
action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors, or of any 
committee thereof, may be taken without a meeting if all members of the board or committee, as 
the case may be, consent thereto in writing or by electronic transmission, and the writing or 
writings or electronic transmission or transmissions are filed with the minutes of proceedings of 
the board or committee.  Such filing shall be in paper form if the minutes are maintained in paper 
form and shall be in electronic form if the minutes are maintained in electronic form. 
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Any copy, facsimile or other reliable reproduction of a consent in writing may be 
substituted or used in lieu of the original writing for any and all purposes for which the original 
writing could be used, provided that such copy, facsimile or other reproduction shall be a 
complete reproduction of the entire original writing. 

3.11 Fees And Compensation Of Directors 

Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, the 
Board of Directors shall have the authority to fix the compensation of directors.  No such 
compensation shall preclude any director from serving the corporation in any other capacity and 
receiving compensation therefor. 

3.12 Approval Of Loans To Officers 

The corporation may lend money to, or guarantee any obligation of, or otherwise 
assist any officer or other employee of the corporation or of its subsidiary, including any officer 
or employee who is a director of the corporation or its subsidiary, whenever, in the judgment of 
the directors, such loan, guaranty or assistance may reasonably be expected to benefit the 
corporation.  The loan, guaranty or other assistance may be with or without interest and may be 
unsecured, or secured in such manner as the Board of Directors shall approve, including, without 
limitation, a pledge of shares of stock of the corporation.  Nothing in this section shall be deemed 
to deny, limit or restrict the powers of guaranty or warranty of the corporation at common law or 
under any statute. 

3.13 Removal Of Directors 

Unless otherwise restricted by statute, by the certificate of incorporation or by 
these bylaws, any director or the entire Board of Directors may be removed, with or without 
cause, by, and only by, the affirmative vote of the holders of the shares of the class or series of 
stock entitled to elect such director or directors, given either at a special meeting of such 
stockholders duly called for that purpose or pursuant to a written consent of stockholders, and 
any vacancy thereby created may be filled by the holders of that class or series of stock 
represented at the meeting or pursuant to written consent; provided, however, that if the 
stockholders of the corporation are entitled to cumulative voting, if less than the entire Board of 
Directors is to be removed, no director may be removed without cause if the votes cast against 
his removal would be sufficient to elect him if then cumulatively voted at an election of the 
entire Board of Directors. 

No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect of 
removing any director prior to the expiration of such director’s term of office. 

3.14 Chairperson Of The Board Of Directors 

The corporation may also have, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, a 
chairperson of the Board of Directors who shall not be considered an officer of the corporation. 
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ARTICLE IV 

COMMITTEES 

4.1 Committees Of Directors 

The Board of Directors may designate one or more committees, each committee 
to consist of one or more of the directors of the corporation.  The Board may designate 1 or more 
directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified 
member at any meeting of the committee.  In the absence or disqualification of a member of a 
committee, the member or members present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting, 
whether or not such member or members constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another 
member of the Board of Directors to act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or 
disqualified member.  Any such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board 
of Directors, or in these bylaws, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the 
Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the corporation, and may 
authorize the seal of the corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it; but no such 
committee shall have the power or authority in reference to the following matters:  (i) approving 
or adopting, or recommending to the stockholders, any action or matter expressly required by the 
General Corporate Law of Delaware to be submitted to stockholders for approval or 
(ii) adopting, amending or repealing any Bylaw of the corporation. 

4.2 Committee Minutes 

Each committee shall keep regular minutes of its meetings and report the same to 
the Board of Directors when required. 

4.3 Meetings And Action Of Committees 

Meetings and actions of committees shall be governed by, and held and taken in 
accordance with, the provisions of Section 3.5 (place of meetings and meetings by telephone), 
Section 3.6 (regular meetings), Section 3.7 (special meetings and notice), Section 3.8 (quorum), 
Section 3.9 (waiver of notice), and Section 3.10 (action without a meeting) of these bylaws, with 
such changes in the context of such provisions as are necessary to substitute the committee and 
its members for the Board of Directors and its members; provided, however, that the time of 
regular meetings of committees may be determined either by resolution of the Board of Directors 
or by resolution of the committee, that special meetings of committees may also be called by 
resolution of the Board of Directors and that notice of special meetings of committees shall also 
be given to all alternate members, who shall have the right to attend all meetings of the 
committee.  The Board of Directors may adopt rules for the government of any committee not 
inconsistent with the provisions of these bylaws. 

ARTICLE V 

OFFICERS 

587



  

  
  

 
  

  

  

     

  

  
  

  
 

  

  
    

 

 

  
  

  

   

  

  
 

  

  

 

5.1 Officers 

The officers of the corporation shall be a president and a secretary.  The 
corporation may also have, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, a chief executive officer, a 
chief financial officer, a treasurer, one or more vice presidents, one or more assistant secretaries, 
one or more assistant treasurers, and any such other officers as may be appointed in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 5.3 of these bylaws.  Any number of offices may be held by the 
same person. 

5.2 Appointment Of Officers 

The officers of the corporation, except such officers as may be appointed in 
accordance with the provisions of Sections 5.3 or 5.5 of these bylaws, shall be appointed by the 
Board of Directors, subject to the rights (if any) of an officer under any contract of employment. 

5.3 Subordinate Officers 

The Board of Directors may appoint, or empower the chief executive officer or 
the president to appoint, such other officers and agents as the business of the corporation may 
require, each of whom shall hold office for such period, have such authority, and perform such 
duties as are provided in these bylaws or as the Board of Directors may from time to time 
determine. 

5.4 Removal And Resignation Of Officers 

Subject to the rights (if any) of an officer under any contract of employment, any 
officer may be removed, either with or without cause, by an affirmative vote of the majority of 
the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting of the board or, except in the case of an 
officer chosen by the Board of Directors, by any officer upon whom the power of removal is 
conferred by the Board of Directors. 

Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the corporation.  
Any resignation shall take effect at the date of the receipt of that notice or at any later time 
specified in that notice; and, unless otherwise specified in that notice, the acceptance of the 
resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.  Any resignation is without prejudice to 
the rights (if any) of the corporation under any contract to which the officer is a party. 

5.5 Vacancies In Offices 

Any vacancy occurring in any office of the corporation shall be filled by the 
Board of Directors. 

5.6 Chief Executive Officer 

Subject to such supervisory powers (if any) as may be given by the Board of 
Directors to the chairperson of the board (if any), the chief executive officer of the corporation 
(if such an officer is appointed) shall, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, have 
general supervision, direction, and control of the business and the officers of the corporation and 
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shall have the general powers and duties of management usually vested in the office of chief 
executive officer of a corporation and shall have such other powers and duties as may be 
prescribed by the Board of Directors or these bylaws. 

The person serving as chief executive officer shall also be the acting president of 
the corporation whenever no other person is then serving in such capacity. 

5.7 President 

Subject to such supervisory powers (if any) as may be given by the Board of 
Directors to the chairperson of the board (if any) or the chief executive officer, the president 
shall have general supervision, direction, and control of the business and other officers of the 
corporation.  He or she shall have the general powers and duties of management usually vested 
in the office of president of a corporation and such other powers and duties as may be prescribed 
by the Board of Directors or these bylaws. 

The person serving as president shall also be the acting chief executive officer, 
secretary or treasurer of the corporation, as applicable, whenever no other person is then serving 
in such capacity. 

5.8 Vice Presidents 

In the absence or disability of the chief executive officer and president, the vice 
presidents (if any) in order of their rank as fixed by the Board of Directors or, if not ranked, a 
vice president designated by the Board of Directors, shall perform all the duties of the president 
and when so acting shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions upon, the 
president.  The vice presidents shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as 
from time to time may be prescribed for them respectively by the Board of Directors, these 
bylaws, the president or the chairperson of the board. 

5.9 Secretary 

The secretary shall keep or cause to be kept, at the principal executive office of 
the corporation or such other place as the Board of Directors may direct, a book of minutes of all 
meetings and actions of directors, committees of directors, and stockholders.  The minutes shall 
show the time and place of each meeting, the names of those present at directors’ meetings or 
committee meetings, the number of shares present or represented at stockholders’ meetings, and 
the proceedings thereof. 

The secretary shall keep, or cause to be kept, at the principal executive office of 
the corporation or at the office of the corporation’s transfer agent or registrar, as determined by 
resolution of the Board of Directors, a share register, or a duplicate share register, showing the 
names of all stockholders and their addresses, the number and classes of shares held by each, the 
number and date of certificates (if any) evidencing such shares, and the number and date of 
cancellation of every certificate (if any) surrendered for cancellation. 

The secretary shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the 
stockholders and of the Board of Directors required to be given by law or by these bylaws.  He or 
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she shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the 
Board of Directors or by these bylaws. 

5.10 Chief Financial Officer 

The chief financial officer (if such an officer is appointed) shall keep and 
maintain, or cause to be kept and maintained, adequate and correct books and records of 
accounts of the properties and business transactions of the corporation, including accounts of its 
assets, liabilities, receipts, disbursements, gains, losses, capital, retained earnings and shares. 
The books of account shall at all reasonable times be open to inspection by any member of the 
Board of Directors. 

The chief financial officer shall render to the chief executive officer, the 
president, or the Board of Directors, upon request, an account of all his or her transactions as 
chief financial officer and of the financial condition of the corporation.  He or she shall have the 
general powers and duties usually vested in the office of chief financial officer of a corporation 
and shall have such other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the 
Board of Directors or these bylaws. 

The person serving as the chief financial officer shall also be the acting treasurer 
of the corporation whenever no other person is then serving in such capacity.  Subject to such 
supervisory powers (if any) as may be given by the Board of Directors to another officer of the 
corporation, the chief financial officer shall supervise and direct the responsibilities of the 
treasurer whenever someone other than the chief financial officer is serving as treasurer of the 
corporation. 

5.11 Treasurer 

The treasurer (if such an officer is appointed) shall keep and maintain, or cause to 
be kept and maintained, adequate and correct books and records with respect to all bank 
accounts, deposit accounts, cash management accounts and other investment accounts of the 
corporation.  The books of account shall at all reasonable times be open to inspection by any 
member of the Board of Directors. 

The treasurer shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, all moneys and other 
valuables in the name and to the credit of the corporation with such depositories as may be 
designated by the Board of Directors.  He or she shall disburse the funds of the corporation as 
may be ordered by the Board of Directors and shall render to the chief financial officer, the chief 
executive officer, the president or the Board of Directors, upon request, an account of all his or 
her transactions as treasurer.  He or she shall have the general powers and duties usually vested 
in the office of treasurer of a corporation and shall have such other powers and perform such 
other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or these bylaws. 

The person serving as the treasurer shall also be the acting chief financial officer 
of the corporation whenever no other person is then serving in such capacity. 
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5.12 Representation Of Shares Of Other Corporations 

The chairperson of the board, the chief executive officer, the president, any vice 
president, the chief financial officer, the secretary or assistant secretary of this corporation, or 
any other person authorized by the Board of Directors or the chief executive officer or the 
president or a vice president, is authorized to vote, represent, and exercise on behalf of this 
corporation all rights incident to any and all shares of any other corporation or corporations 
standing in the name of this corporation.  The authority granted herein may be exercised either 
by such person directly or by any other person authorized to do so by proxy or power of attorney 
duly executed by the person having such authority. 

5.13 Authority And Duties Of Officers 

In addition to the foregoing authority and duties, all officers of the corporation 
shall respectively have such authority and perform such duties in the management of the business 
of the corporation as may be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors or the 
stockholders. 

ARTICLE VI 

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, AND OTHER 
AGENTS 

6.1 Indemnification Of Directors And Officers 

The corporation shall, to the maximum extent and in the manner permitted by the 
Delaware General Corporation Law, indemnify each of its directors and officers against 
expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines, settlements and other amounts actually 
and reasonably incurred in connection with any proceeding, arising by reason of the fact that 
such person is or was an agent of the corporation.  For purposes of this Section 6.1, a “director” 
or “officer” of the corporation includes any person (a) who is or was a director or officer of the 
corporation, (b) who is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director or officer of 
another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, or (c) who was a director 
or officer of a corporation which was a predecessor corporation of the corporation or of another 
enterprise at the request of such predecessor corporation. 

6.2 Indemnification Of Others 

The corporation shall have the power, to the maximum extent and in the manner 
permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, to indemnify each of its employees and 
agents (other than directors and officers) against expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, 
fines, settlements and other amounts actually and reasonably incurred in connection with any 
proceeding, arising by reason of the fact that such person is or was an agent of the corporation.  
For purposes of this Section 6.2, an “employee” or “agent” of the corporation (other than a 
director or officer) includes any person (a) who is or was an employee or agent of the 
corporation, (b) who is or was serving at the request of the corporation as an employee or agent 
of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, or (c) who was an 
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employee or agent of a corporation which was a predecessor corporation of the corporation or of 
another enterprise at the request of such predecessor corporation. 

6.3 Payment Of Expenses In Advance 

Expenses incurred in defending any action or proceeding for which 
indemnification is required pursuant to Section 6.1 or for which indemnification is permitted 
pursuant to Section 6.2 following authorization thereof by the Board of Directors shall be paid by 
the corporation in advance of the final disposition of such action or proceeding upon receipt of 
an undertaking by or on behalf of the indemnified party to repay such amount if it shall 
ultimately be determined by final judicial decision from which there is no further right to appeal 
that the indemnified party is not entitled to be indemnified as authorized in this Article VI. 

6.4 Indemnity Not Exclusive 

The indemnification provided by this Article VI shall not be deemed exclusive of 
any other rights to which those seeking indemnification may be entitled under any Bylaw, 
agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in an 
official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office, to the extent that 
such additional rights to indemnification are authorized in the certificate of incorporation. 

6.5 Insurance 

The corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person 
who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or is or was serving at the 
request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, 
partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against him or 
her and incurred by him or her in any such capacity, or arising out of his or her status as such, 
whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify him or her against such 
liability under the provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

6.6 Conflicts 

No indemnification or advance shall be made under this Article VI, except where 
such indemnification or advance is mandated by law or the order, judgment or decree of any 
court of competent jurisdiction, in any circumstance where it appears: 

(a) That it would be inconsistent with a provision of the certificate of 
incorporation, these bylaws, a resolution of the stockholders or an agreement in effect at the time 
of the accrual of the alleged cause of the action asserted in the proceeding in which the expenses 
were incurred or other amounts were paid, which prohibits or otherwise limits indemnification; 
or 

(b) That it would be inconsistent with any condition expressly imposed by a 
court in approving a settlement. 
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ARTICLE VII 

RECORDS AND REPORTS 

7.1 Maintenance And Inspection Of Records 

The corporation shall, either at its principal executive offices or at such place or 
places as designated by the Board of Directors, keep a record of its stockholders listing their 
names and addresses and the number and class of shares held by each stockholder, a copy of 
these bylaws as amended to date, accounting books, and other records. 

Any stockholder of record, in person or by attorney or other agent, shall, upon 
written demand under oath stating the purpose thereof, have the right during the usual hours for 
business to inspect for any proper purpose the corporation’s stock ledger, a list of its 
stockholders, and its other books and records and to make copies or extracts therefrom.  A proper 
purpose shall mean a purpose reasonably related to such person’s interest as a stockholder.  In 
every instance where an attorney or other agent is the person who seeks the right to inspection, 
the demand under oath shall be accompanied by a power of attorney or such other writing that 
authorizes the attorney or other agent to so act on behalf of the stockholder.  The demand under 
oath shall be directed to the corporation at its registered office in Delaware or at its principal 
place of business. 

A complete list of stockholders entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders, 
arranged in alphabetical order for each class of stock and showing the address of each such 
stockholder and the number of shares registered in each such stockholder’s name, shall be open 
to the examination of any such stockholder for a period of at least 10 days prior to the meeting in 
the manner provided by law.  The stock list shall also be open to the examination of any 
stockholder during the whole time of the meeting as provided by law.  This list shall 
presumptively determine the identity of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting and the 
number of shares held by each of them. 

7.2 Inspection By Directors 

Any director shall have the right to examine the corporation’s stock ledger, a list 
of its stockholders, and its other books and records for a purpose reasonably related to his or her 
position as a director.  The Court of Chancery is hereby vested with the exclusive jurisdiction to 
determine whether a director is entitled to the inspection sought.  The Court may summarily 
order the corporation to permit the director to inspect any and all books and records, the stock 
ledger, and the stock list and to make copies or extracts therefrom.  The Court may, in its 
discretion, prescribe any limitations or conditions with reference to the inspection, or award such 
other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 
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ARTICLE VIII 

GENERAL MATTERS 

8.1 Checks 

From time to time, the Board of Directors shall determine by resolution which 
person or persons may sign or endorse all checks, drafts, other orders for payment of money, 
notes or other evidences of indebtedness that are issued in the name of or payable to the 
corporation, and only the persons so authorized shall sign or endorse those instruments. 

8.2 Execution Of Corporate Contracts And Instruments 

The Board of Directors, except as otherwise provided in these bylaws, may 
authorize any officer or officers, or agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute any 
instrument in the name of and on behalf of the corporation; such authority may be general or 
confined to specific instances.  Unless so authorized or ratified by the Board of Directors or 
within the agency power of an officer, no officer, agent or employee shall have any power or 
authority to bind the corporation by any contract or engagement or to pledge its credit or to 
render it liable for any purpose or for any amount. 

8.3 Stock Certificates and Notices; Uncertificated Stock; Partly Paid Shares 

The shares of the corporation may be certificated or uncertificated, as provided 
under Delaware law, and shall be entered in the books of the corporation and recorded as they 
are issued. Any or all of the signatures on any certificate may be a facsimile or electronic 
signature.  In case any officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile or 
electronic signature has been placed upon a certificate has ceased to be such officer, transfer 
agent or registrar before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the corporation with the 
same effect as if he or she were such officer, transfer agent or registrar at the date of issue. 

Within a reasonable time after the issuance or transfer of uncertificated stock and 
upon the request of a stockholder, the corporation shall send to the record owner thereof a 
written notice that shall set forth the name of the corporation, that the corporation is organized 
under the laws of Delaware, the name of the stockholder, the number and class (and the 
designation of the series, if any) of the shares, and any restrictions on the transfer or registration 
of such shares of stock imposed by the corporation’s certificate of incorporation, these bylaws, 
any agreement among stockholders or any agreement between stockholders and the corporation. 

The corporation may issue the whole or any part of its shares as partly paid and 
subject to call for the remainder of the consideration to be paid therefor.  Upon the face or back 
of each stock certificate (if any) issued to represent any such partly paid shares, or upon the 
books and records of the corporation in the case of uncertificated partly paid shares, the total 
amount of the consideration to be paid therefor and the amount paid thereon shall be stated.  
Upon the declaration of any dividend on fully paid shares, the corporation shall declare a 
dividend upon partly paid shares of the same class, but only upon the basis of the percentage of 
the consideration actually paid thereon. 
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8.4 Special Designation On Certificates and Notices of Issuance 

If the corporation is authorized to issue more than one class of stock or more than 
one series of any class, then the powers, the designations, the preferences, and the relative, 
participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the 
qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences and/or rights shall be set forth in full 
or summarized on the face or back of the certificate that the corporation shall issue to represent 
such class or series of stock or the notice of issuance to the record owner of uncertificated stock; 
provided, however, that, except as otherwise provided in Section 202 of the Delaware General 
Corporation Law, in lieu of the foregoing requirements there may be set forth on the face or back 
of the certificate that the corporation shall issue to represent such class or series of stock or the 
notice of issuance to the record owner of uncertificated stock, or the purchase agreement for such 
stock a statement that the corporation will furnish without charge to each stockholder who so 
requests the powers, the designations, the preferences, and the relative, participating, optional or 
other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or 
restrictions of such preferences and/or rights. 

8.5 Lost Certificates 

Except as provided in this Section 8.5, no new certificates for shares shall be 
issued to replace a previously issued certificate unless the latter is surrendered to the corporation 
and cancelled at the same time.  The corporation may issue a new certificate of stock or notice of 
uncertificated stock in the place of any certificate previously issued by it, alleged to have been 
lost, stolen or destroyed, and the corporation may require the owner of the lost, stolen or 
destroyed certificate, or the owner’s legal representative, to give the corporation a bond 
sufficient to indemnify it against any claim that may be made against it on account of the alleged 
loss, theft or destruction of any such certificate or the issuance of such new certificate or 
uncertificated shares. 

8.6 Construction; Definitions 

Unless the context requires otherwise, the general provisions, rules of 
construction, and definitions in the Delaware General Corporation Law shall govern the 
construction of these bylaws.  Without limiting the generality of this provision, the singular 
number includes the plural, the plural number includes the singular, and the term “person” 
includes both a corporation and a natural person. 

8.7 Dividends 

The directors of the corporation, subject to any restrictions contained in (a) the 
Delaware General Corporation Law or (b) the certificate of incorporation, may declare and pay 
dividends upon the shares of its capital stock.  Dividends may be paid in cash, in property, or in 
shares of the corporation’s capital stock. 

The directors of the corporation may set apart out of any of the funds of the 
corporation available for dividends a reserve or reserves for any proper purpose and may abolish 
any such reserve.  Such purposes shall include but not be limited to equalizing dividends, 
repairing or maintaining any property of the corporation, and meeting contingencies. 
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8.8 Fiscal Year 

The fiscal year of the corporation shall be fixed by resolution of the Board of 
Directors and may be changed by the Board of Directors. 

8.9 Transfer Of Stock 

Upon receipt by the corporation or the transfer agent of the corporation of proper 
transfer instructions from the record holder of uncertificated shares or upon surrender to the 
corporation or the transfer agent of the corporation of a certificate for shares duly endorsed or 
accompanied by proper evidence of succession, assignation or authority to transfer, it shall be the 
duty of the corporation to issue a new certificate or, in the case of uncertificated securities and 
upon request, a notice of issuance of shares, to the person entitled thereto, cancel the old 
certificate (if any) and record the transaction in its books. 

8.10 Stock Transfer Agreements 

The corporation shall have power to enter into and perform any agreement with 
any number of stockholders of any one or more classes of stock of the corporation to restrict the 
transfer of shares of stock of the corporation of any one or more classes owned by such 
stockholders in any manner not prohibited by the Delaware General Corporation Law. 

8.11 Stockholders of Record 

The corporation shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person 
recorded on its books as the owner of shares to receive dividends and to vote as such owner, 
shall be entitled to hold liable for calls and assessments the person recorded on its books as the 
owner of shares, and shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in 
such share or shares on the part of another person, whether or not it shall have express or other 
notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by the laws of Delaware. 

8.12 Facsimile or Electronic Signature 

In addition to the provisions for use of facsimile or electronic signatures 
elsewhere specifically authorized in these bylaws, facsimile or electronic signatures of any 
stockholder, director or officer of the corporation may be used whenever and as authorized by 
the Board of Directors or a committee thereof. 

ARTICLE IX 

AMENDMENTS 

The Bylaws of the corporation may be adopted, amended or repealed by the 
stockholders entitled to vote; provided, however, that the corporation may, in its certificate of 
incorporation, confer the power to adopt, amend or repeal Bylaws upon the directors. The fact 
that such power has been so conferred upon the directors shall not divest the stockholders of the 
power, nor limit their power to adopt, amend or repeal Bylaws.  
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Long-Term Stock Exchange, Inc. 
Date of filing: April 3, 2019 
Date as of which the information is accurate: April 3, 2019 

Exhibit D 

For each subsidiary or affiliate of the exchange, provide unconsolidated financial
statements for the latest fiscal year. Such financial statements shall consist, at a 
minimum, of a balance sheet and an income statement with such footnotes and 
other disclosures as are necessary to avoid rendering the financial statements 
misleading. If any affiliate or subsidiary is required by another Commission rule to 
submit annual financial statements, a statement to that effect, with a citation to 
the other Commission rule, may be provided in lieu of the financial statements 
required here. 

LTSE Group, Inc., an affiliate of the applicant, was not formed until February 2019. 
Accordingly, interim financial statements will be provided following its first month of 
operations.  

Audited Financial Statements of LTSE Holdings, Inc. for the fiscal year ending 
12/31/18………………………………………………………………………………………..D-1 
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. > arman1no 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Board of Directors of 
L TSE Holdings, Inc. 
San Francisco, California 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of LTSE Holdings, Inc. (a Delaware corporation), which 
comprise the balance sheets as of December 31 , 2018 and 2017, and the related statements of operations, 
stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2018 and the related notes to the financial 
statements. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fmancial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fmancial statements are 
free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fmancial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the fmancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the fmancial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fmancial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the fmancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the fmancial position 
of L TSE Holdings, Inc. as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

ArmaninoLLP 
San Francisco, California 

March 21, 2019 

All htdf~ndu,r film os.1odarfif wlrl't 
Mo.or,r.SrtJl'/IMtl11r-rr11ol'HIY!o.lUmJred 

MOORE STEPHENS 



Current assets 
Cash 
Related party notes receivable 
Related party interest receivable 
Prepaid expenses 

Total current assets 

Other assets 
Intercompany receivables 
Investments in subsidiaries 
Other assets 

Total other assets 

Total assets 

L TSE Holdings, Inc. 
Balance Sheets 

December 31, 2018 and 2017 

ASSETS 

2018 

$ 6,654,089 $ 
152,023 

16,500 

6,822,612 

449,980 
20 

74 523 
524,523 

$ 7,347,135 $ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
2 

2017 

11,882,270 
120,000 

9,469 
12 787 

12,024,526 

624,980 
20 

41923 
666,923 

12,691,449 
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L TSE Holdings, Inc. 
Balance Sheets 

December 31, 2018 and 2017 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Current liabilities 
Accounts payable $ 
Accrued expenses 

Total current liabilities 

Stockholders' equity 
Common stock; $0.001 par value; 70,635,029 shares authorized: 

Class A common stock; $0.0001 par value; 14,937,500 shares designated, 
and 11,337,500 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2018 
and 2017 

Class B common stock; $0.0001 par value; 55,697,529 shares designated, 
and 893,571 shares issued and outstanding at December 31 , 2018 and 
2017 

Preferred stock; $0.001 par value; 28,583,611 shares authorized: 
Founders convertible preferred stock; $0.0001 par value; 3,600,000 

shares designated, issued, and outstanding at December 31 , 2018 and 
2017 

Series A-1 convertible preferred stock; $0.0001 par value; 1,292,445 
shares designated, issued, and outstanding at December 31 , 2018 and 
2017 

Series A-2 convertible preferred stock; $0.0001 par value; 1,317,564 
shares designated, issued, and outstanding at December 31 , 2018 and 
2017 

Series A-3 convertible preferred stock; $0.0001 par value; 3,003,032 
shares designated, issued, and outstanding at December 31 , 2018 and 
2017 

Series A-4 convertible preferred stock; $0.0001 par value; 575,902 shares 
designated, issued, and outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017 

Series A-5 convertible preferred stock; $0.0001 par value; 273,666 shares 
designated, issued, and outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017 

Series A-6 convertible preferred stock; $0.0001 par value; 3,638,729 
shares designated, issued, and outstanding at December 31 , 2018 and 
2017 

Series A-7 convertible preferred stock; $0.0001 par value; 55,697,529 
shares designated at December 31 , 2018 and 2017; 14,882,273 and 
15,008,856 shares issued and outstanding at December 31 , 2018 and 
2017, respectively 

Additional paid-in capital 
Accumulated deficit 

Total stockholders' equity 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 

2018 

360,422 $ 
103 557 
463 979 

1,134 

90 

360 

129 

132 

300 

58 

27 

364 

1,489 
19,520,356 

(1226412283) 
62883J56 

72347J35 $ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
3 

2017 

237,532 
2822706 
5202238 

1,134 

90 

360 

129 

132 

300 

58 

27 

364 

1,501 
19,429,257 
(722622141) 
12J7t211 

1226912449 



L TSE Holdings, Inc. 
Statement of Operations 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

Revenue $ 

Operating expenses 
General and administrative 
Legal and regulatory 
Sales and marketing 
Research and development 

Total operating expenses 

Loss from operations 

Other income (expense) 
Interest income 
Other expenses 

Total other income (expense), net 

Loss before provision for income taxes 

Income taxes 

Net loss $ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
4 

10,900 

2,304,753 
1,358,583 

323,001 
1,548,961 
5,535,298 

(5,524,398) 

151,672 
{5,500) 

146,172 

(5,378,226) 

916 

{5,379,142) 
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Balance, January 1, 2017 

Sale of Series A-7 Convertible Preferred 
Stock less issuance costs of $17,647 

Class B Common Stock issued on exercise 
of options 

Repurchase liability for early-exercised 
options 

Issuance of Series A-7 Convertible 
Preferred Stock for contract 
considerations 

Stock-based compensation expense 

Net loss 

Balance, December 31, 2017 

L TSE Holdings, Inc. 
Statements of Stockholders' Equity 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

Founders Convertible Series A Convertible 
Class A Common Stock Class B Common Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock 
Shares 

11,337,500 

11,337,500 

Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount 

$ 1,134 196,571 $ 20 3,600,000 $ 360 24,441,837 $ 2,444 

541,744 54 

697,000 70 

126,583 13 

$ 1134 893 571 $ 90 3,600,000 $ 360 25,110,164 $ 2,511 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these fmancial statements. 
5 

Retained 
Earnings 

Additional (Accwnulated 
Paid-In C!![!ital Deficitl Total 

$ 18,698,369 $ (2,261,351) $ 16,440,976 

517,301 517,355 

146,300 146,370 

(147,153) (147,153) 

124,988 125,001 

89,452 89,452 

(5,000,790) (5,000,790) 

$ 19,429,257 $ (7,262,141) $ 12,171,211 
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Balance, December 31, 2017 

Additional issuance costs for Series A-7 
Convertible Preferred Stock recorded 

Issuance of Series A-7 Convertible 
Preferred Stock for contract 
consideration 

Cancellation of shares of Series A-7 
Convertible Preferred Stock in 
conjunction with settlement agreement 

Issuance of warrants for Class B Common 
Stock 

Vesting of early-exercised options 

Simple agreements for equity issued 

Stock-based compensation expense 

Net loss 

Balance, December 31 , 2018 

L TSE Holdings, Inc. 
Statements of Stockholders' Equity 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 

Founders Convertible Series A Convertible 
Class A Common Stock Class B Common Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock 
Shares 

11,337,500 

11 337 500 

Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount 

$ 1,134 893,571 $ 90 3,600,000 $ 360 25,110,164 $ 2,511 

126,583 13 

(253,166) (25) 

$ I 134 893 571 $ 90 3 600 000 $ 360 24 983 581 $ 2499 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
6 

Retained 
Earnings 

Additional (Accumulated 
Paid-In C!![!ital Deficit) Total 

$ 19,429,257 $ (7,262,141) $ 12,171,211 

(5,973) (5,973) 

124,988 125,001 

(249,976) (250,001) 

5,500 5,500 

44,542 44,542 

100,000 100,000 

72,018 72,018 

(5,379,142) (5,379,142) 

$ 19 520 356 $ (12 641 283) $ 6 883 156 
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L TSE Holdings, Inc. 
Statement of Cash Flows 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Net loss 

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities 
Stock-based compensation 
Warrant expense 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 

Notes receivable 
Interest receivable 
Prepaid expenses 
Intercompany receivables 
Other assets 
Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 

Net cash used in operating activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Additional issuance costs for Series A-7 Convertible Preferred Stock 
Simple agreements for equity issued 

Net cash provided by financing activities 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information 

Cash paid during the year for taxes 

$ 

$ 

$ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
7 

(5,379,142) 

72,018 
5,500 

(32,023) 
(7,031) 
12,787 
50,000 

(32,600) 
167,432 

(179,149) 
(5322,208) 

(5,973) 
100,000 
94 027 

(5,228,181) 

11,882,270 

6,654,089 

800 
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L TSE Holdings, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2018 and 2017 

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

LTSE Holdings, Inc. (the "Company") was incorporated in Delaware in 2012. The Company 
represents a coalition of other companies and like-minded investors who are committed to 
restoring trust and prioritizing value creation in the capital markets. The Company's innovative 
governance model aims to establish new rules of engagement to enable the building of lasting 
businesses, and the Company's software tools facilitate alignment and partnership to and through 
the initial public offering. The Company has submitted an application with the SEC to become a 
national securities exchange and currently serves over twenty thousand companies with its 
software. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had two wholly-owned subsidiaries: 
LTSE Listings, Inc. ("LTSE Listings") and Long-Term Stock Exchange, Inc. ("LTSE"). 

The Company's financial statements are not consolidated with either LTSE Listings or LTSE. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Going concern 

The Company has incurred operating losses and negative cash flows from operations since its 
inception. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had an accumulated deficit of 
approximately $12,382,000 and $7,003,000, respectively. Such conditions raise substantial doubt 
about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. 

To date, the Company has primarily financed its operations through private placement of equity 
securities. As of December 31, 2018, the Company has submitted an application with the SEC to 
become a national securities exchange, and beginning in 2019, the Company's management 
projects the Company will begin its operation as a national securities exchange. Once 
operational, the Company also projects the resulting revenue plus cash on-hand as of December 
31, 2018 to be sufficient to fund operations through at least twelve months subsequent to the 
issuance of these financial statements. Thereafter, the Company's projections indicate the 
Company's operations are expected to be cash-flow positive. 

Failure to execute on management's plans described above, manage discretionary expenditures 
or, if necessary, raise additional financing, will adversely impact the Company's ability to 
achieve its intended business objectives and continue as a going concern. The financial 
statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. 

Use of estimates 

The preparation of the Company's financial statements in conformity accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure 
of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported 
amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates are based on 
information available as of the date of the financial statements; therefore, actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

8 
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L TSE Holdings, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2018 and 2017 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES ( continued) 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The Company considers all highly liquid financial instruments purchased with original maturities 
of three months or less to be cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash deposited with banks. 

Concentration of credit risk 

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk 
consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. The Company maintains its cash and cash 
equivalents with one financial institution and such amounts exceed federally insured limits. At 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had a cash balance of $6,654,089 and $11,882,270, 
respectively, with the financial institution. The Company has not experienced any losses on its 
cash and cash equivalents. 

The Company is subject to risks common to companies in the software development industry 
including, but not limited to, new technological innovations, dependence on key personnel, 
protection of proprietary technology, and product liability. There can be no assurance that the 
Company's products or services will be accepted in the marketplace. Nor can there be any 
assurance that any future products or services can be developed or deployed at an acceptable cost 
and with appropriate performance characteristics, or that such products or services will be 
successfully marketed, if at all. These factors could have a materially adverse effect on the 
Company's future financial results, financial position and cash flows. 

Notes receivable 

Periodically, the Company will issue notes receivable to selected employees to either meet 
personal financial need or to assist with the exercise of equity options in the Company. All notes 
receivable issued bear a reasonable fixed rate of interest which compounds annually, as 
determined by the Company's Board of Directors, and all principal plus accrued but unpaid 
interest is due either three or four years after issuance and there is no early payment penalty. In 
accordance with U.S. GAAP, when a note receivable is issued for the exercise of the Company's 
equity, the Company records neither the note receivable nor the associated equity. However, 
upon repayment of any notes receivable issued for the exercise of the Company's equity, the 
issuance of the equity will be recorded by the Company. 

Revenue recognition 

As of December 31, 2018 all of the Company's commercial products are freeware and the only 
revenue recognized is from the Company's agreement with a third-party. Under the agreement, 
the Company invoices the third-party for each 409A valuation performed by the third-party 
which was originated from one of the Company's freeware products. Because the Company has 
no other performance obligations, revenue is recognized upon invoicing. 

As of December 31, 2018 all invoices from the Company to the third-party have been paid. 

9 
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L TSE Holdings, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2018 and 2017 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Research and development 

Research and development costs are charged to operations as incurred. Research and 
development costs include, but are not limited to, payroll and personnel expenses, and consulting 
costs. 

Stock-based compensation 

The Company estimates the fair value of each employee stock option on the date of grant using 
the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model which is recorded as stock-based compensation 
over the requisite service period. The model requires management to make a number of 
assumptions including expected volatility, expected life, risk-free interest rate, and expected 
dividends. 

Given the Company's limited history, the Company used comparable companies' calculated 
historical volatility to estimate the Company's expected volatility. 

The expected life of the options is based on the average period the stock options are expected to 
remain outstanding based on the options' vesting terms and contractual terms. 

The risk-free interest rate assumption is based on published interest rates for United States 
Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term approximately equal to the expected life 
assumed at the date of grant appropriate for the terms of the Company's stock options granted. 

The dividend yield assumption is based on the Company's history and expectation of no dividend 
payouts. 

The Company accounts for forfeitures of granted stock options when they actually occur. 

Income taxes 

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method, whereby, deferred 
tax asset and liability account balances are determined based on temporary differences between 
the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for 
the year in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. A valuation allowance is 
established when management estimates that it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets 
will not be realized. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future pretax earnings, 
the reversal of temporary differences between book and tax income, and the expected tax rates in 
future periods. 

10 
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L TSE Holdings, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2018 and 2017 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Income taxes ( continued) 

The Company is required to evaluate the tax positions taken in the course of preparing its tax 
returns to determine whether tax positions are more-likely-than-not to be sustained by the 
applicable tax authority. Tax benefits of positions not deemed to meet the more-likely-than-not 
threshold would be recorded as a tax expense in the current year. The amount recognized is 
subject to estimate and management judgment with respect to the likely outcome of each 
uncertain tax position. The amount that is ultimately sustained for an individual uncertain tax 
position or for all uncertain tax positions in the aggregate could differ from the amount that is 
initially recognized. 

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the "Act") was signed into law 
making significant changes to the Internal Revenue Code. Changes include, but are not limited 
to, a corporate tax rate decrease from 3 5% to 21 % effective for tax years beginning after 
December 31, 2017, the transition of federal international taxation from a world-wide tax system 
to a territorial system, and a one-time transition tax on the mandatory deemed repatriation of 
cumulative foreign earnings as of December 31, 2017. The Company has calculated the impact of 
the Act in its year end income tax provision in accordance with its understanding of the Act and 
guidance available as of the date of this filing. 

In December 2017, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, Income Tax 
Accounting Implications of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("SAB 118") which allows the Company 
to record provisional amounts during a measurement period not to extend beyond one year of the 
enactment date. Since the Act was passed late in the fourth quarter of 2017, and ongoing 
guidance and accounting interpretation are expected over the next 12 months, the Company both 
considers the accounting of the transition tax and deferred tax re-measurements to be incomplete 
due to the forthcoming guidance and the Company's ongoing analysis of final year-end data and 
tax positions and believes the Financial Accounting Standards Board will also support this use of 
SAB 118 relative to the Act. The Company expects to complete their analysis within the 
measurement period in accordance with SAB 118. 

3. NOTES RECEIVABLE 

In May 2016, the Company issued total notes receivable of $384,640 to three employees to 
purchase 4,808,000 shares of Class B Common Stock. All the notes bear an annual interest rate 
of 1.43%, compounding annually, and are due in May 2020. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
no principal has been repaid and total accrued interest on the notes was $14,585 and $8,956, 
respectively. 

11 
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L TSE Holdings, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2018 and 2017 

3. NOTES RECEIVABLE ( continued) 

In August 2016, the Company issued a note receivable to an employee for $60,000. The note 
receivable is due in August 2019 and bears an annual interest rate of 0.61 %, compounding 
annually. In 2018, the Company forgave $38,325 of principal and recorded the forgiveness as a 
bonus to the employee and paid all taxes associated with the bonus. In turn, the Company 
recorded a receivable of $10,348 for the employee's portion of the taxes on the bonus which was 
outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and was paid by the employee in February 2019. As of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, no remaining principal has been repaid and total accrued interest 
on the notes was $865 and $496, respectively. 

In December 2017, the Company issued a note receivable to an employee for $60,000. The note 
receivable is due in December 2020 and bears an annual interest rate of 0.61 %, compounding 
annually. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, no principal has been repaid and total accrued 
interest on the note was $3 83 and $17, respectively. 

In July 2018, the Company issued a note receivable to an employee for $60,000. The note 
receivable is due in July 2021 and bears an annual interest rate of2.34%, compounding annually. 
As of December 31, 2018, no principal has been repaid and total accrued interest on the note was 
$667. 

4. INTERCOMP ANY RECEIVABLES AND INVESTMENTS 

Intercompany receivables consisted of the following: 

L TSE Listings, Inc. $ 
Long-Term Stock Exchange, Inc. 

$ 

2018 

449,990 $ 
(10) 

2017 

624,990 
(10) 

449,980 =$ =====62=4=,9=8=0 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had recorded its investment in LTSE Listings 
and LTSE of $10 and $10, respectively. 

5. ACCRUED EXPENSES 

Accrued expenses consisted of the following: 

2018 2017 

Bank account overdraft $ - $ 135,553 
Accrued credit card 946 
Repurchase liability 102,611 147 153 

$ 103,557 $ 282,706 

12 
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L TSE Holdings, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2018 and 2017 

6. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

As of December 31, 2018, the Company has three operating leases which expire at various times 
during 2019. Lease payments due under noncancelable lease agreements in 2019 total $251,447. 

7. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Common stock 

The Company has reserved shares of Class B Common Stock for issuance for the following 
purposes at December 31, 2018: 

Class A Common Stock* 
Founders Convertible Preferred Stock* 
Series A-1 Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series A-1 ") 
Series A-2 Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series A-2") 
Series A-3 Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series A-3 ") 
Series A-4 Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series A-4') 
Series A-5 Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series A-5") 
Series A-6 Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series A-6") 
Series A-7 Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series A-7") 
Warrants 

* See conversion rights below for more detail 

Convertible preferred stock 

11,337,500 
3,600,000 
1,292,445 
1,317,564 
3,003,032 

575,902 
273,666 

3,638,729 
14,882,273 

1,009,646 

40,930,757 

A summary of the preferred stock shares designated, issued, and outstanding as of December 31, 
2018 is as follows: 

Shares Issued Liquidation 
Shares and Original Preference 

Designated Outstanding Issuance Price Value 

Founders Convertible 
Preferred Stock 3,600,000 3,600,000 $ 0.0001 $ 

Series A-1 1,292,445 1,292,445 $ 0.1973 254,999 
Series A-2 1,317,564 1,317,564 $ 0.2960 389,999 
Series A-3 3,003,032 3,003,032 $ 0.3946 1,184,996 
Series A-4 575,902 575,902 $ 0.4341 249,999 
Series A-5 273,666 273,666 $ 0.4933 134,999 
Series A-6 3,638,729 3,638,729 $ 0.5919 2,153,764 
Series A-7 20,253,165 14,882,273 $ 0.9875 14,696,245 

33,954,503 28,583,611 $ 19,065,001 
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7. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (continued) 

Convertible preferred stock ( continued) 

Class A and B Common Stock, Series A-1 thru A-7 (collectively "Series A"), and Founders 
Convertible Preferred Stock rights, preferences, and privileges are as follows: 

• Liquidation preference - In the event of liquidation, the holders of outstanding shares of 
Series A shall be entitled to receive, prior and in preference to any distribution of any of the 
assets of the Company to the holders of Founders Convertible Preferred Stock and common 
stock, an amount per share equal to their respective original issuance price per share, plus any 
declared and unpaid dividends thereon. Any remaining assets of the Company shall be 
distributed to the holders of outstanding shares of Founders Convertible Preferred Stock ( on 
an as-converted basis) and common stock on a pro rata basis. If, however, the assets to be 
distributed are insufficient to permit the required payment to the holders of outstanding shares 
of Series A, then the entire assets of the Company shall be distributed amongst the holders of 
Series A in proportion to the preferential amount each such holder is otherwise entitled to 
receive. Liquidation is deemed to occur if the Company shall (i) sell, convey, exclusively 
license or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets, property, or business, (ii) 
merge with or into or consolidate with any other entity, or (iii) effect a liquidation, dissolution 
or winding up of the Company pursuant to the applicable laws of the state of incorporation. 

• Conversion rights - Each share of outstanding Series A shall be convertible at the option of 
the holder thereof into shares of Class B Common Stock as is determined by dividing the 
applicable original issuance price (as adjusted for any stock splits, stock dividends, or the 
like) for each respective series of Series A. Each outstanding share of Series A shall be 
automatically converted into shares of Class B Common Stock as described above in the 
event of (i) the Company's sale in a firm commitment underwritten public offering where the 
price per share is not less than $4.9375 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, 
or the like) and aggregate proceeds are not less than $25,000,000, net of underwriting 
discounts and commissions, or (ii) the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of 
Series A vote on an as-converted basis to do so. 

Each share of outstanding Founders Convertible Preferred Stock shall be convertible at the 
option of the holder thereof into shares of Class A Common Stock as is determined by 
dividing $0.0001 (as adjusted for any stock splits, stock dividends, or the like) by the original 
issuance price. Any transfer of shares of Founders Convertible Preferred Stock that is neither 
(i) made in connection with an equity financing, nor (ii) approved by a majority of the 
Company's Board of Directors shall be deemed to convert into shares of Class B Common 
Stock as is determined by dividing $0.0001 (as adjusted for any stock splits, stock dividends, 
or the like) by the original issuance price. Each outstanding share of Founders Convertible 
Preferred Stock shall be automatically converted into shares of Class A Common Stock as 
described above in the event of (i) the Company's sale in a firm commitment underwritten 
public offering as described above, or (ii) the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares 
of Founders Convertible Preferred Stock vote to do so. 
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7. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (continued) 

Convertible preferred stock ( continued) 

Each share of outstanding Class A Common Stock shall be convertible at the option of the 
holder thereof into Class B Common Stock. Each share of Class A Common Stock shall be 
automatically converted into Class B Common Stock upon the transfer of such shares, except 
in certain circumstances detailed in the Company's Articles of Incorporation. 

• Dividends - The holders of outstanding shares of Series A shall be entitled to receive 
dividends, when, as and if declared by the Company's Board of Directors, in preference and 
priority to any declaration or payment of any dividend on either Founders Convertible 
Preferred Stock or common stock at a rate of 8% of the respective original issuance price per 
share per annum. After the payment of such dividends, any additional dividends shall be 
distributed amongst the holders of Series A, Founders Convertible Preferred Stock, and 
common stock pro rata based on the number of shares of common stock then held on an as­
converted basis. 

Furthermore, any dividends declared on outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock shall 
also be paid on outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock while any dividends declared on 
outstanding shares of Class B Common Stock are not required to be paid on outstanding 
Shares of Class A Common Stock. 

Dividends are not cumulative. 

• Redemption - Neither Series A nor Founders Convertible Preferred Stock is redeemable. 

• Voting rights - Each share of outstanding Series A shall be entitled to the number of votes 
equal to the number of shares of Class B Common Stock into which shares of Series A may 
be converted. 

Each share of outstanding Founders Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to the same 
number of votes as the holders of common stock into which such shares could then be directly 
converted. 

Each share of Class A and B Common Stock shall be entitled to ten and one vote, 
respectively, and in all cases, fractional votes are not permitted and any fractional shares shall 
be rounded down to the nearest whole number. 
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7. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (continued) 

Convertible preferred stock ( continued) 

• Protective provisions - If the Company issues, or is deemed to issue, common stock for a 
price less than the applicable original issuance price for the respective Series A in effect 
immediately prior to the issuance of such common stock (adjusted for any stock splits, stock 
dividends, or the like), the conversion price for such series in effect immediately prior to each 
issuance shall automatically be adjusted, except for: (a) common stock issued for the 
conversion of Founders Convertible Preferred Stock, Series A, (b) securities issued primarily 
for the purpose of a (i) joint venture, technology licensing, or development activates, (ii) 
distribution, supply or manufacture of the Company's products or services, or (iii) any other 
arrangements involving corporate partners that are primarily for purposes other than raising 
capital, or ( c) securities for whom the anti-dilution provisions have been waived by a vote of a 
majority of both the holders of Series A on a as-converted basis and, specifically, the holders 
of Series A-7. 

Warrants 

In December 2016, the Company issued warrants to a third-party for the purchase of 917,175 
shares of Class B Common Stock at $0.01 per share. The warrants expire in December 2026 and 
have been classified by the Company as equity. When the warrant was issued, the Company 
valued the warrant at $192,607 and recorded the warrant to additional paid-in capital and other 
expense. 

In December 2016, the Company issued warrants to a third-party for the purchase of 67,471 
shares of Series A-1 at $0.9875 per share. The warrants expire in December 2026 and have been 
classified by the Company as equity. When the warrant was issued, the Company valued the 
warrant at $66,628 and recorded the warrant to additional paid-in capital and other expense. 

In August 2018, the Company issued warrants to a third-party for the purchase of 25,000 shares 
of Class B Common Stock at $0.22 per share. The warrants expire in December 2028 and have 
been classified by the Company as equity. During 2018 the Company calculated the value of the 
warrant at $5,500 and recorded the warrant to additional paid-in capital and other expense. 

Simple agreement for equity issuance 

During the issuance of Series A-1 thru A-6, the Company raised approximately $4,400,000 of 
total proceeds via simple agreements for equity ("SAFE"). Although the SAFEs were issued in 
advance of each respective round of financing, none accrued interest. However, each SAFE 
agreement included provisions which allowed the respective holder to convert into additional 
shares of the respective round of Series A based on the Company's total capitalization as defined 
in the respective agreement. Because no additional issuances were made to the holders of Series 
A SAFEs, no beneficial conversion feature was recorded by the Company. 
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7. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ( continued) 

Simple agreement for equity issuance ( continued) 

During the year ended December 31, 2018 the Company issued SAFEs totaling $100,000 to two 
investors which will convert into the Company's next round of convertible preferred stock 
financing, and based capitalization requirements set forth in the respective agreements, each 
holder will have the right to convert into additional shares of the Company's next round of 
convertible preferred stock financing if certain capitalization thresholds set forth in the 
respective agreements are met. 

8. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 

In 2016, the Company established the 2016 Stock Plan, which provides for the grant of incentive 
stock options, non-statutory stock options, and restrictive stock. The Company's Board of 
Directors has the authority to approve the employees and non-employees to whom options are 
granted and determine the terms of each option, including (i) the number of shares of common 
stock subject to the option; (ii) when the option becomes exercisable; (iii) the option exercise 
price (which shall not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the common stock as of the 
date of the grant for incentive and non-statutory stock options or less than 110% of the fair value 
for stockholders owning greater than 10% of all classes of stock). Options are exercisable over 
periods not to exceed ten years (five years for incentive stock options granted to holders of 10% 
or more of all classes of stock) from the date of grant. Generally, options vest over a four year 
period. 

Option activity 

Activity of shares outstanding under the stock option plan are as follows for the year ended 
December 31, 2017: 

Weighted 
Weighted average 

Shares average remaining 
available for Outstanding exercise contractual 

grant stock awards price life (years) 

Balance, January 1, 2017 3,562,320 1,920,206 $ 0.10 9.65 

Granted (2,675,403) 2,675,403 $ 0.21 
Exercised (697,000) $ 0.21 
Forfeited 586,180 (586,180) $ 0.22 

Balance, December 31, 2017 1,473,097 3,312,429 $ 0.15 8.99 
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8. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (continued) 

Option activity ( continued) 

Activity of shares outstanding under the stock option plan are as follows for the year ended 
December 31, 2018: 

Weighted 
Weighted average 

Shares average remaining 
available for Outstanding exercise contractual 

grant stock awards price life (years) 

Balance, January 1, 2018 1,473,097 3,312,429 $ 0.15 8.99 

Authorized 2,584,551 - $ 
Granted (4,014,959) 4,014,959 $ 0.22 
Forfeited 389,585 (389,585) $ 0.22 

Balance, December 31, 2018 432,274 6,937,803 $ 0.19 8.97 

Exercisable, December 31, 2018 1,897,949 $ 0.14 8.03 

Exercisable and expected to vest, 
December 31, 2018 6,454,623 $ 0.18 8.94 

The intrinsic value of options exercised for the year ended December 31, 2017 amounted to 
$6,970. There were no options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2018. Total stock­
based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $72,018, and as of 
December 31, 2018, unamortized stock-based compensation totaled $359,098 with a weighted­
average remaining life of 4.86 years. 

The total fair value of stock options vested during the year ended December 31, 2018 was 
$40,223 and the weighted average fair value of stock options granted during 2018 was $0.06 per 
share. 

Share-based compensation expense is as follows for the year ended December 31, 2018: 

General and administrative $ 32,106 
Legal and regulatory 12,338 
Sales and marketing 6,767 
Research and development 20,807 

$ 72,018 

18 



620

L TSE Holdings, Inc. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2018 and 2017 

8. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (continued) 

Option activity ( continued) 

During the year ended December 31, 2017, certain option holders early exercised and were 
issued 612,000 shares of the Company's Class B Common Stock. The Company recorded the 
issuance of the Class B Common Stock to equity and corresponding entries to both a contra­
equity account and repurchase liabilities, and as the early-exercised options vest, the Company 
will reduce the repurchase liability and the contra-equity accounts, respectively. As of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, the repurchase liability balance was $102,611 and $147,153, 
respectively. 

The assumptions used under the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model and the weighted 
average calculated value of the options are as follows for the year ended December 31, 2018: 

Dividend yield 
Expected volatility 
Expected term (in years) 
Risk-free interest rate 

9. INCOME TAX 

0% 
20% 
6.23 
2.8% 

The provision for income tax for the year ended December 31, 2018 consisted of the following: 

Current 
State $ 

Significant components of the Company's deferred income tax assets are as follows: 

2018 

Accruals and reserves $ 38,510 $ 
Intangibles 1,654,789 
Net operating losses and credit carryovers 128242252 

Total current 3,517,551 
Valuation allowance (3517551) 

Total net deferred tax asset $ - $ 
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2017 

27,365 
1,772,887 

2042426 
2,004,678 

(220042678) 
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At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had net operating loss carry-forwards for federal 
and state income tax purposes of approximately $6,168,000 and $6,188,000, and $522,000 and 
$524,000, respectively, available to reduce future income subject to income taxes. The federal 
and state net operating loss carry-forwards will begin to expire in 2036. At December 31, 2018 
and 2017, the Company also has research credit carry-forwards for federal and California tax 
purposes of approximately $14,000 and $95,000, and $14,000 and $55,000, respectively, 
available to reduce future income subject to income taxes. The federal research credit carry­
forwards will begin to expire in 2036 and the California research credits carry forward 
indefinitely. 

The Company believes that, based on a number of factors, it is more likely than not, that all or 
some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized; and, accordingly, for the years ended 
December 31, 2018, the Company has provided a valuation allowance against the its net deferred 
tax assets. The net change in the valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 
2017 was an increase of approximately $1,513,000 and $1,183,000, respectively. 

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, imposes restrictions on the utilization of net 
operating losses in the event of an "ownership change" of a corporation. Accordingly, a 
company's ability to use net operating losses may be limited as prescribed under Internal 
Revenue Code Section 382 ("IRC Section 382"). Events which may cause limitations in the 
amount of the net operating losses that the Company may use in any one year include, but are not 
limited to, a cumulative ownership change of more than 50% over a three-year period. Utilization 
of the federal and state net operating losses may be subject to substantial annual limitation due to 
the ownership change limitations provided by the IRC Section 382 and similar state provisions. 

The Company files federal and state income tax returns with varying statutes of limitations. Due 
to the Company's net carryover of unused operating losses, all years from 2016 forward remain 
subject to future examination by tax authorities. 

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through March 21, 2019, which is the date the 
financial statements were available to be issued. No events have occurred subsequent to 
December 31, 2018. 
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